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Glossary

Abbreviations
$ Australian dollars
2D two-dimensional
2P proved and probable
3D three-dimensional
APPEA  Australian Petroleum Production and 

Exploration-Association
APR  means the New Zealand Accounting Profits 

Royalty
ASIC Australian Securities & Investments Commission
ASX Australian Securities Exchange
bbl barrel
bcf billion cubic feet
bcfg billion cubic feet of gas
boe barrels of oil equivalent
boepd barrels of oil equivalent per day
bopd barrels of oil per day
cps cents per share
EBIT earnings before interest and tax
EBITDA earnings before interest, tax and 
 depreciation/amortisation
E & P Exploration and Production
EUR Estimated Ultimate Recovery
FEED Front End Engineering and Design
FID Final Investment Decision
FPSO  Floating Production Storage and Offloading 

vessel
GST Goods and Services Tax
HS & E Health, Safety and Environment
IPO Initial Public Offering
km kilometre
KPI Key Performance Indicator
ktonnes thousand tonnes
LBEC Las Bases Exploitation Concession
LPG liquefied petroleum gas
mmb million barrels
mmboe million barrels of oil equivalent
mmcfgd million cubic feet of gas per day
NZOP New Zealand Overseas Petroleum Limited
OIP oil in place
PESA Petroleum Exploration Society of Australia
PJ petajoule
PSC Production Sharing Contract
probable  means reserves additional to proved reserves 
reserves  which can be estimated with a degree of certainty 

(greater than 50% probability) sufficient to indicate 
they are more likely to be recovered than not

proved means reserves which can be estimated with
reserves  reasonable certainty (greater than 90% probability) to 

be recoverable under current economic conditions

PRRT  means the petroleum resource rent tax imposed 
with respect to petroleum products pursuant 
to the Petroleum Resource Rent Tax Act 1987 
(Cth) and the Petroleum Resource Rent Tax 
Assessment Act 1987 (Cth)

reserves  means the volume of economically recoverable 
oil or gas contained in a geological formation 
from a given date forward

reservoir  means a rock that is both porous and permeable
scf standard cubic feet
SPE Society of Petroleum Engineers
sq km square kilometres
tcf trillion cubic feet
TJ terajoule
TSR total shareholder returns
WTI West Texas Intermediate

Conversion Table

Volume
1 cubic metre = 1 kilolitre = 35.3 cubic feet = 6.29 barrels
1 megalitre = 1,000 cubic metres

Energy Value
1,000 standard cubic feet of sales gas yields about 
1.1 gigajoules of heat
1 petajoule (PJ) = 1,000,000 gigajoules (GJ)
1 gigajoule = 947,817 British Thermal Units (BTU)

Barrel of Oil Equivalents (BOE)
Sales Gas – 6,000 standard cubic feet is approx. = 1 BOE
LPG – 1 tonne of LPG is approx. = 11.6 BOE
Condensate – 1 barrel of condensate = 1 BOE
Oil – 1 barrel of oil = 1 BOE

Decimal Number Prefixes
kilo = thousand = 103

mega = million = 106

giga = 1,000 million = 109

tera = million million = 1012

peta = 1,000 million million = 1015

Reserves
The estimates of reserves in AWE’s tenements is based on 
information compiled by AWE’s Manager, Australian and International 
Development and Production, Mr Rick Frith, and AWE’s Manager, 
Australian and International Exploration, Mr Leigh Brooks, and 
accurately reflects the information compiled by Mr Frith and Mr 
Brooks. As required by ASX Listing Rule 5.11, Mr Frith is engaged in 
the practice of petroleum engineering, holds a Bachelor Degree in 
Engineering, and has had more than five years (32 years) experience 
in the practice of petroleum engineering. Mr Brooks is a petroleum 
geologist, holds a Bachelor Degree in Science, and has had more 
than five years (33 years) experience as a petroleum geologist. Both 
Mr Frith and Mr Brooks consent to the inclusion in this report of 
reserves information in the form and content which it appears. 
The reserves in this report are estimated according to the SPE/
WPC/AAPG/SPEE Petroleum Resources Management System of 
March 2007.
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2007-2008 
Highlights
■  Record oil and gas production of 

9.9 million boe, driven primarily by the 
strong initial contribution from Tui. 

■  Oil and gas sales revenue reached 
$821 million, up 476% on the previous record. 

■  Henry gas project sanctioned and progressing 
towards fi rst gas sales in early 2009.

■  New gas discoveries made at Lengo (Indonesia) 
and post year end, Netherby (Otway basin). 

■  Balance sheet strengthened, with strong cash 
position and zero debt at year end. 

■  Strong forward drilling programme, with high 
potential exploration activity planned in most 
of the key cornerstone asset areas.

■  Completed the merger with ARC Energy post 
year end. The merger will provide enhanced 
cash fl ow and added exploration opportunities.

“ AWE remains a strong, growth 
focused company with substantial 
production, a strong balance sheet 
and a number of growth options”
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to sustaining its impressive performance and 
actively pursuing growth opportunities through 
exploration and selective corporate activity. The 
recently completed merger with ARC Energy will 
also add production and cash fl ow from combined 
increased equity in BassGas and Cliff Head as well 
as contributions from the onshore Perth basin.

Although the commercial results of the exploration 
drilling programme during the last twelve 
months did not match the company’s historical 
performance, two potentially signifi cant gas 
discoveries have been made at Lengo-1 in 
Indonesia and most recently, Netherby-1 in the 
Otway basin and shows were encountered in 
several other wells, which augurs well for follow-up 
prospects. To complement its existing portfolio, 
the company is actively pursuing the consolidation 
of its acreage position in the East Java basin 
in Indonesia and the ARC merger offers added 
exposure to interesting possibilities in Yemen as 
well as near fi eld activity in the onshore Perth 
basin. Increased focus on accessing and reviewing 
opportunities in Australasia and internationally has 
resulted in experienced geoscience and business 
development resources being added to the 
AWE team. 

I am pleased to report that once again Australian 
Worldwide Exploration Ltd (AWE) has delivered 
outstanding operating and fi nancial results. 
While the company has clearly benefi ted from 
unprecedented high international oil prices, 
such performance cannot be achieved without 
excellent people and commitment to technical and 
commercial discipline.

Throughout its 11-year history, AWE has 
concentrated on the commercialisation of assets 
which provide long-term profi table outcomes 
for the company and its shareholders. The four 
cornerstone oil and gas projects which have been 
developed and brought into production over the last 
three years are now all operating at design capacity 
and at or above reservoir expectations. The Tui oil 
fi elds in New Zealand have made an exceptional 
contribution in the last year with reserves increased 
from 28 million to 50 million barrels and production 
in the fi rst year signifi cantly exceeding forecast. 
BassGas is now operating at full liquids recovery 
capacity and meeting contractual gas obligations; 
Casino continues to perform consistently and 
effi ciently while Cliff Head oil production has been 
in line with budget. It is encouraging that good 
additional potential exists adjacent to most of 
these developments and AWE remains committed 

Chairman’s 
Review

Umuroa operations
in offshore 

Taranaki basin
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Financially it has been a great year: above forecast 
net production which totalled almost ten million oil 
equivalent barrels and high oil prices generated 
record revenues of $821 million, profi t before tax 
of $504 million and bottom line earnings after tax 
of $264 million, equating to 58 cents per share, all 
signifi cantly above previous years. From a balance 
sheet and cash perspective, AWE is in excellent 
shape – after fully repaying debt and completing 
the ARC merger with cash, the company remains 
well positioned to pursue continuing exploration 
programmes as well as consider suitable 
acquisition opportunities to deliver increasing 
shareholder value. During the year, the AWE share 
price reached another record high of $4.71 and by 
year-end, the annual compound shareholder return 
over the last three years had averaged 27%.

AWE is also pleased to report for the fi rst time on 
our pursuit of sustainable business practices and 
our role in society by managing environmental 
and social impacts while remaining economically 
viable. The success of AWE depends on us 
conducting business in an ethically sound manner, 
engaging with external stakeholders and monitoring 
and managing our ecological footprint. We are 
committed to communicating with our stakeholders 
on this growing issue and this year’s annual 

“ Financially it has 
been a great year”

report includes a more detailed Sustainability 
Report. In subsequent years, we will strive to 
continually be transparent in this reporting whilst 
we improve our performance and meet appropriate 
sustainability targets.

The AWE Board continues to work diligently in 
the best interests of shareholders with a strong 
focus on performance as well as governance and 
I thank my fellow directors for their contribution. I 
also congratulate Bruce Wood on his fi rst year as 
Managing Director – it has been a very successful 
year and the transition from Bruce Phillips has 
been managed smoothly. With the four cornerstone 
assets now in continuous production mode, the 
challenge to build the company to even greater 
heights is being addressed by the Board, the 
leadership team and the AWE staff, all of whom 
have demonstrated their capability to achieve 
such objectives. 

Bruce G. McKay
Chairman

Locals assisting 
in rehabilitation of 
coastal areas
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The Tui oil project began commercial production 
on July 30, 2007. During the year the fi eld exceeded 
expectations, producing a total of 14.2 million barrels. 
Proven and Probable (2P) oil reserves were increased 
to 50.1 million barrels as a result of the strong fi eld 
performance and the extension of the FPSO term. 
The next phase of drilling in the Taranaki basin, 
incorporating development, appraisal and exploration 
targets, is currently planned to start in 2009. 

The Casino gas project again generated strong gas 
output in the year with the fi eld reaching a cumulative 
production milestone of 100 PJ during the June 
quarter. The project achieved gross gas sales of 40 PJ 
during the year, marginally above the contracted rate. 
The adjacent Henry gas project was sanctioned for 
development utilising the existing infrastructure in the 
region. First gas production is currently planned from 
the fi eld in the fi rst half of 2009. 

Overview of Projects

Casino 
gas project
(AWE 25%)
Offshore Otway basin, Australia

Tui fi elds 
( AWE 42.5% 
and Operator)

Offshore Taranaki basin, New Zealand

FPSO Umuroa operations



5

The Cliff Head oil project averaged 8,236 bopd 
for the year, marginally down on the previous 
corresponding period. The fall was due to natural 
fi eld decline which was partially offset by a pump 
replacement programme. Stronger oil prices 
improved the project return, despite the slight 
reduction in oil sales. Following implementation of 
the merger with ARC, AWE’s share of the Cliff Head 
oil project will rise from 27.5% to 57.5%.

The BassGas project continued commercial 
production with gross gas output of 18.4 PJ in the 
year, marginally below contract and budgeted 
rates. Associated liquid recovery rates have 
improved during the year, with the onshore plant 
reaching design capacity, with full liquid recovery 
achieved at the end of the fi nancial year. Following 
implementation of the merger with ARC, AWE’s share 
of the BassGas project will rise from 30% to 42.5%.

BassGas 
project
(AWE 30%; increased to 
42.5% after the ARC merger)
Offshore Bass basin, Australia

Cliff Head 
oil project
(AWE 27.5%; increased to 
57.5% after the ARC merger)
Offshore Perth basin, Australia

From front left to right: Edward Smith, Bruce McKay (Chairman) and Colin Green.
From back left to right: Bruce Wood, Andy Hogendijk and David McEvoy.

AWE Board of Directors
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The 2008 fi nancial year was a watershed for 
AWE, marking the company’s transition to one of 
Australia’s major oil and gas companies. Higher than 
expected production and strong global oil prices 
produced record revenue of $821 million, profi t 
before tax of $504 million and bottom line earnings 
after tax of $264 million, equating to 58 cents per 
share, all signifi cantly above previous years. 

The highlight of the year was the successful 
commissioning of the Tui oil fi elds and the 
stronger than anticipated reservoir and production 
performance which resulted in a substantial 
increase in oil reserves.

The higher commodity prices also gave the 
Australian operations a major boost with Cliff Head, 
in particular benefi ting while also achieving a solid 
production result for the year. The BassGas project 
also reached planned production rates and liquid 
recoveries by the end of the year. 

Exploration efforts were rewarded with two 
gas discoveries, at Lengo-1 in Indonesia and 
Netherby-1 in the offshore Otway basin, although 
earlier exploration wells did not produce the 
anticipated results.

On the corporate front, AWE completed the merger 
with ARC Energy in late August 2008. The ARC 
assets will strengthen AWE’s production base and 
will provide several exploration opportunities which 
will be pursued vigorously. 

The following operational review highlights 
AWE’s recent activities and provides a number 
of plans for the continued long term growth in 
shareholder returns. 

Review of Operations
Australia
Bass basin, offshore Tasmania

AWE holds a 30% interest in the BassGas project 
(increasing to 42.5% following the ARC merger) 
which will provide a strong cash fl ow base for 
the business over the life of the project. Near 
fi eld exploration and appraisal activity within the 
adjacent permits offers upside for AWE, with 
two high potential wells planned in the coming 
fi nancial year.

The BassGas project achieved a signifi cant 
step during the year, with gas throughput and 
associated condensate and LPG recoveries 

Bass basin, 
Tasmania

Managing 
Director’s 
Review Bruce J. Wood

Managing Director
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“ earnings after tax of 
$264 million, equating 
to 58 cents per share”

achieving design throughput rates. Total gross gas 
sales of 18.4 PJ were achieved, a rise of 7% on the 
previous corresponding period. Importantly, liquid 
production and sales also improved while revenues 
were buoyed by the increase in prices. 

In the adjacent areas, AWE is now focusing on the 
development of the next phase of gas projects. 
A substantial 3D seismic survey has highlighted 
a number of drilling prospects in the area to the 
west of the Yolla fi eld, with drilling now anticipated 
for the March quarter of 2009 on the Rockhopper 
prospect. This activity is expected to be followed by 
the appraisal of the Trefoil gas fi eld. 

This second phase of potential development 
activity in the Bass basin is attractive as some of 
the existing infrastructure may be utilised, thereby 
reducing development costs.

In addition, the growing use of natural gas as a 
fuel of choice for power generation will improve the 
prospects for new gas contracts being executed 
at higher prices, commensurate with the growth 
in demand. The initial stage of this trend towards 
higher real gas prices, which will benefi t new 
and existing gas projects in the region, is already 
being seen. 

Otway basin, offshore Victoria

AWE holds a 25% interest in the Casino joint 
venture, where a solid production performance 
was again achieved during the year. Gas sales are 
made under contract to TRUenergy, where to date 
in excess of 100 PJ of gas has been delivered and 
sold since the project startup in January, 2006. 
Furthermore, exploration activity continues to yield 
positive results for the joint venture.

Gross gas sales from the Casino gas fi eld 
reached 40 PJ during the year, down slightly on 
the previous period. In the prior year, gas sales 
above contracted rates were undertaken as market 
opportunities emerged. Condensate production 
remained at modest rates, as expected. 

The joint venture approved the development of 
the Henry gas fi eld (AWE 25%) during the year 
and this new development has progressed on 
schedule. Henry, located only 12 kilometres 
north west of Casino, is being developed utilising 
the infrastructure and pipeline network associated 
with the Casino gas fi eld. Development drilling at 
Henry-2 has commenced with production planned 
to start in the fi rst half of 2009. 

Yolla platform 
at sunset
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Managing 
Director’s 
Review
 continued

Exploration activity recommenced in the eastern 
portion of the permit, with the drilling of the Pecten 
East-1 and Netherby-1 wells. Although the results 
from Pecten East were disappointing, potential 
remains in the area up-dip from the initial well. 
Subsequent to the end of the year, the Netherby- 1 
well fl owed gas at 51 million cubic feet per day, 
confi rming the commerciality of the discovery. Initial 
estimates of the gross 2P recoverable gas reserves 
at Netherby are in the order of 110 PJ. 

Initial exploration work has been conducted in the 
western portion of the permit, with a substantial 
3D seismic survey completed during the year. 
Drilling candidates will be considered following the 
interpretation of the data, particularly in light of the 
improving trend of gas prices through the region.

Otway basin, 
offshore Victoria
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Perth basin, offshore Western Australia

The fi eld performance at Cliff Head achieved 
budget expectations in the year. Natural fi eld decline 
was offset by improved reliability of the offshore 
equipment and the improved oil prices ensured that 
project returns remained at strong levels, providing 
further encouragement for additional exploration 
in the region. Total production for the year was 
3.0 million barrels, an average of 8,236 bopd. 

To the north of Cliff Head, AWE and its partners had 
previously made the discoveries at Frankland and 
Dunsborough. The original discoveries provided 
encouragement that the area could hold more than 
one economic hydrocarbon accumulation. However 
the initial appraisal of these two discoveries 
was disappointing, with Frankland-2 displaying 
poor reservoir development and Dunsborough-2 
encountering a large, residual oil column. A 3D 
seismic survey has been undertaken in the northern 
portion of the permit, interpretation of which may 
lead to further drilling. 

Following the ARC merger, AWE’s equity in the 
Cliff Head permit has risen from 27.5% to 57.5%. 
The merger also expands AWE’s footprint into the 
onshore Perth basin, where exploration trends 
overlap in some areas. AWE plans to develop further 
exploration opportunities in this area, utilising the 
strong geological knowledge base from both the 
offshore and onshore operations. 

New Zealand
Taranaki basin, offshore North Island

Exploration and development activity in the offshore 
Taranaki basin has provided a substantial portion 
of AWE’s recent success. The Tui oil fi elds, AWE’s 
most valuable asset, was borne from an exploration 

idea and a commitment to lateral thinking following 
a modest oil discovery at Tui-1 in early 2003. 
Over the past year, these assets generated gross 
revenues of approximately $1.5 billion for the joint 
venture – a real success story!

The Tui oil fi elds development phase was 
completed in mid-2007 and fi rst oil production was 
delivered into the FPSO Umuroa on July 30, 2007. 
The development process, managed by AWE in 
New Zealand, progressed successfully and the 
fi rst oil delivery saw only minor delays from the 
ambitious development and installation schedules. 

Production performance from the four horizontal 
wells has exceeded expectations and further fi eld 
studies have subsequently resulted in a substantial 
rise in oil reserves for the three fi elds; Tui, Amokura 
and Pateke. Ultimate recoverable 2P oil reserves 
have increased from 26.8 million barrels at project 
sanction to 50.1 million barrels at the latest upgrade 
in June 2008. 

In the fi rst 11 months of operations, the Tui oil 
fi elds produced 14.2 million barrels of crude oil. Tui 
crude oil sales of 13.8 million barrels were made 
in the year to customers in Australia, Singapore, 
Malaysia, South Korea and Hawaii. The oil has 
been benchmarked against the regional “Tapis” 
crude, with recent transactions trending towards a 
premium against this strong crude. 

The offshore operations have run smoothly, a credit 
to the professional skills of the FPSO Umuroa 
operator, Prosafe Production. A minor oil spill 
incident was recorded in October 2007, where 
some water contaminated with oil was accidentally 
discharged overboard during routine operations. 
Further commentary on this issue is covered in 

Perth basin, 
Offshore 
Western Australia
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the ‘Sustainability Report’, including a summary 
of the offshore operating changes that have been 
implemented since this incident. 

Following the oil discharge in October 2007, AWE 
and its major contractor Prosafe Production, 
accepted the prosecution charges as laid by the 
regulator, Maritime New Zealand.

AWE takes its health, safety, environmental and 
regulatory responsibilities very seriously and 
deeply regrets this operational incident. The 
local management has worked closely with local 
authorities and community groups towards the 
restoration of the foreshore area affected by the spill. 

A high level of exploration activity was completed 
in the Taranaki basin during the year. While strong 

oil shows were encountered in Tieke-1 and 
Taranui-1, as well as in Kopuwai-1, which has 
extended the area of known oil generation and 
migration in the region, the overall results were 
disappointing with several high profi le exploration 
targets being plugged and abandoned. 

Despite the lack of success in the 2007 exploration 
campaign, further exploration activity is planned in 
the current year, in conjunction with development 
and appraisal work around the Tui fi eld. This 
programme may comprise up to seven wells, with 
planning advanced for the drilling of the Kahu 
prospect and the other Tui satellites, as well as a test 
on the large Hoki oil prospect defi ned by seismic 
recorded in mid 2007. The programme timing 
remains subject to signing of a suitable rig contract. 

Managing 
Director’s 
Review
 continued

Taranaki basin, 
offshore 

North Island 
New Zealand
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Further acreage was also acquired in the D’Urville 
basin, a southerly extension of the Taranaki basin. 
Additional seismic will be acquired in early 2009 
over a prospect in this area as well as over several 
other prospects in our Taranaki permits. If the results 
of this work are encouraging, the drilling programme 
may be extended to include these new targets.

Indonesia
East Java basin, offshore Indonesia

Indonesia represents AWE’s initial foray outside the 
company’s heartland of Australia and New Zealand. 
AWE has had an exploration scouting offi ce in 
Jakarta for over two years and the exploration 
acreage holding is growing. AWE has elected to 
concentrate its exploration efforts in the prolifi c East 
Java basin, where a number of oil and gas fi elds 
have been discovered in recent years. 

The Bulu production sharing contract was AWE’s 
initial investment in Indonesia. Two exploration wells 
were drilled in the contract area during the year, with 
both encountering signs of hydrocarbons. Lisah-1 
encountered encouraging oil shows, while Lengo-1 
tested gas and confi rmed a small gas discovery. The 
commerciality of this discovery is being assessed.

The results from these wells have provided enough 
encouragement to undertake two 3D seismic 
surveys in the Bulu contract area to defi ne potential 
follow-on targets. This next phase of drilling is 
currently scheduled for late 2009.

Merger with ARC Energy Limited
The merger with ARC Energy was implemented in 
late August 2008, following months of intensive work 
by both companies. The merger has united two like-
minded companies, which will provide benefi ts to 
both sets of shareholders.

The merger has increased AWE’s interests in the 
BassGas and Cliff Head projects, where AWE is 
already a major participant and will expand the 
exploration and development options for the company. 
The transaction has also added immediately to the 
cash generation for the combined business. 

The immediate focus of the implementation team 
will be to access the additional opportunities in the 
merged group and ensure that the enlarged group 
maintains the strong technical and fi nancial culture, 
dedicated to delivering strong shareholder returns. 

Initially, the focus will be on expanding the 
opportunity generation potential of the core technical 
groups, the appraisal of the prospects near BassGas 
and Cliff Head and the high-grading of the onshore 
Perth basin exploration portfolio and the prospective 
licences in Yemen.

Further, the transaction has provided interests in 
two listed oil and gas companies, Buru Energy 
Limited (AWE 15%) and Adelphi Energy Limited 
(AWE 34%). AWE has already shown its support for 
these exploration-focused companies, particularly 
demonstrated by the recent contribution to the 
Adelphi capital raising.

East Java basin, 
offshore 
Indonesia
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Managing 
Director’s 
Review
 continued

Oil and Gas 
Reserves
 Year to June

Total remaining oil and gas reserves fell slightly 
in 2008, following the signifi cant increase in 
production. The reserve upgrades at Tui offset some 
of the reserve decline, but the lack of exploration 
success during the year contributed to the reduction. 
At year end total reserves were 53.2 million BOE. 

Post June 30, the commercial discovery at Netherby 
will add to gas reserves in the Otway basin, while the 
ARC merger will also contribute, via the increased 
equities in BassGas and Cliff Head and the initial 
contributions from the onshore Perth Basin 
interests. Post the ARC merger, the AWE group 
reserves rose to 68.7 million BOE. 
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Oil and Gas 
Production
Year to June

Sales 
Revenue 
Year to June

Net Field 
Contribution
Year to June

Net Field Contribution to profi t, represented by sales 
revenue less fi eld operating costs, rose by 551% 
to $739 million. The strong result was driven by 
the high oil price and the production performance, 
particularly from the New Zealand operations.
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AWE’s oil and gas sales increased substantially 
again during the year. The boost was mostly derived 
from the inaugural oil sales from New Zealand, 
although Australian revenues also improved during 
the year, as a result of higher energy prices. 

Sales revenue rose 476% to $821 million. The 
implementation of the ARC merger will see 
continued strength in oil and gas revenues in the 
current year, subject to the maintenance of recent oil 
price levels. 
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Oil and gas production climbed to a new record level 
in 2008, following the exceptional performance of 
the Tui oil fi elds and the consistent production rates 
from the three Australian projects. 

Total production for the year reached 9.9 million 
BOE, up 152% on the previous record level. The ARC 
merger is expected to minimise the rate of expected 
decline in the current year, with initial production 
targets of approximately 9.5 million BOE for the 
merged group. The merger assets will contribute to 
production and revenue from late August 2008. 
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Year End 
Cash and Debt
 June Year End

The AWE balance sheet improved dramatically 
during the year. The remaining debt was repaid 
during the year and accumulated cash reached 
$339 million at the end of the year. 

Capital expenditure on exploration and production 
assets fell to $116 million, following the completion of 
the development spend on the four initial cornerstone 
assets. Exploration spending in the current fi nancial 
year could be up to $100 million, while capital 
expenditure on new developments is accelerating 
with the operations at Henry. 

AWE retains access to its unsecured corporate 
loan facility. This facility, with redraw limits of up to 
$135 million, remains currently undrawn. 
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Sustainability
At AWE our responsibility to shareholders begins 
with the most important role of our business: 
to provide the oil and gas that powers our 
communities. However, we understand that our 
responsibilities extend to the manner in which we 
conduct our operations, to adherence to the highest 
legal and ethical standards, to our environmental, 
health and safety performance, to our relationship 
with our own employees and to responsible 
practices in the communities in which we operate. 

For 2008, AWE has incorporated an overview of 
our sustainability performance into our annual 
report. To us, sustainability involves managing the 
economic, social and environmental dimensions 
of our business, meeting stakeholder expectations 
and delivering superior business outcomes. Our 
belief is that sustainability is not a separate issue 
but a way of doing our core business. This means 
that our operations and joint ventures should cause 
no harm or injury to people and cause the least 
impact on the environment.

In the communities in which we work, our aim 
is to leave them in “better shape” than when we 
arrived. In the Taranaki region of New Zealand 
around New Plymouth from where AWE operates 
the Tui oil fi elds, we have committed a minimum 
of NZ$250,000 towards local community activities 
including the Big Brothers and Big Sisters 
Youth Mentoring programme and a signifi cant 
contribution to purchasing fl oats for the regional 
Taranaki Rescue helicopter. We have teamed 

with the local community to plant native plants to 
prevent foreshore erosion, and assisted the local 
Okato high school on other environmental projects. 
We have also sponsored several other local 
community projects.

A major disappointment in 2007 was an oil spill off 
the Taranaki coast of New Zealand from the FPSO 
Umuroa on the Tui oil fi eld. AWE and the owners 
of the Umuroa, Prosafe acted immediately by 
launching a major review of all Umuroa operations, 
which produced a range of management changes. 
We recruited 25 local people to assist in the 
post-spill cleanup process. The beaches are now 
virtually free of any traces of oil, and in the process 
we also removed several tonnes of waste plastic, 
car tyres and general waste from the affected 
beaches. We have an ongoing commitment 
to improving our operational procedures, to 
monitoring the impact of our operations on the 
local environment and to maintaining strong 
stakeholder relations with the local authorities and 
the community.

Moving forward, our objective is to continuously 
improve our health, safety and environmental 
performance at all of our operations and joint 
ventures and we consciously strive to reduce 
the impact of our operations and joint ventures 
on the environment and the communities in 
which we operate. And we will communicate 
with stakeholders by providing an overview of 
sustainability issues and performance against our 
commitments that relate to our core business within 
our annual report each year.

AWE support 
for Big Brothers 
and Big Sisters 

of Taranaki
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Sustainability Policy 
Commitments
AWE’s corporate policy on health, safety and 
environment clearly states our commitment to 
protecting the health and safety of all of our 
employees and ensuring that our activities do not 
harm the environment and the community. 

The company’s social responsibility guidelines 
acknowledge the commitment to employees, 
contractors, customers, joint venturers and the 
greater community. Our goal is to leave any 
community in a better shape during and after our 
operations have ended.

Our equal employment opportunity practices 
seek to provide a workplace in which there is no 
discrimination on grounds of sex, race, marital 
status, political or religious belief, age, physical or 
intellectual impairment or sexual preference.

Our Code of Conduct clearly describes how AWE’s 
business is underpinned by the core values of 
honesty, integrity, common sense and respect for 
people. AWE’s desire is to remain a good corporate 
citizen and to appropriately balance, protect and 
preserve all stakeholders’ interests. A commitment 
to achieving excellence of performance in health 
and safety and in protecting the environment is 
part of the Code. All employees and contractors 
have the ability to report fraudulent activity to the 
Managing Director or a Board member.

These policies and related documents can be 
viewed on the AWE website.

Board and Senior Management 
Responsibility
The Board has assigned accountability to senior 
management for integrating sustainability into 
our core business practice. This is reinforced by 
linking sustainable practice measures into our 
remuneration and goal setting structures. The 
Managing Director’s performance scorecard 
includes goals relating to team development and 
health, safety and environmental performance.

Over the next few years, AWE will be developing 
a sustainability measurement and reporting 
framework. We will establish a data collection 
methodology, and a set of measures and 

performance indicators covering the environmental 
(such as effi ciency and waste reduction) and 
social (such as health and safety, staff retention 
and development, and community) performance 
coupled with the company’s economic 
performance. It is the intention that these KPI’s will 
be included in the annual report.

Engagement with Stakeholders
AWE believes that two-way dialogue and 
communication with stakeholders is essential 
for successful business operations. We strive to 
encourage solid community input to our decision 
making processes. This is evident through the 
extensive and ongoing stakeholder engagement 
processes that have occurred since the Tui oil 
spill incident.

Our Environmental 
Management Approach 
Protecting the Environment
Oil and gas exploration activities take place in 
diverse and sensitive environments and present a 
potential risk to the quality of the land, water, and air 
in which we operate. We continually strive to reduce 
our environmental impact and conserve biodiversity 
by implementing leading practice environmental 
management systems and technological 
improvements and innovation, which can also make 
us more competitive. 

AWE is committed to measuring and reporting 
greenhouse gas emissions, the energy and 
fresh water consumed and the amount of waste 
generated by our operations with a view to reducing 
our total environmental footprint. We are reviewing 
measurement procedures for our greenhouse gas 
emissions, energy, waste and water consumption 
data across our operations. With this knowledge 
we can explore ways of improving our operational 
energy effi ciency and reducing our greenhouse gas 
footprint. We have a commitment to disclosing the 
greenhouse gas emissions from our operations and 
joint ventures under the Carbon Disclosure Project 
(CDP) in future reports.

AWE‘s Code of Conduct shows our clear 
commitment to complying with all applicable 
rules and regulations within and outside Australia 
with regard to the impact of our operations 
on the environment. We will maintain an open 
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and transparent disclosure with the investment 
community and regulatory authorities. We aim 
to be open with our stakeholders in the event of 
non-compliance with environmental laws and 
regulations.

Climate Change
AWE recognises that climate change is an 
international and community concern. In Australia, 
together with our joint ventures we will be required 
to report under the National Greenhouse and 
Energy Reporting System (NGERS) and our 
operations will be affected by the forthcoming 
Australian Carbon Pollution Reduction Scheme 
(CPRS). Our operations in New Zealand may be 
affected by the future introduction of the New 
Zealand Emissions Trading Scheme (NZETS). 

Case Study – Tui Oil Spill 
Incident
During October 2007 our performance fell below 
our standards when an accidental discharge of oil 
occurred in the Tui fi elds, off the Taranaki coast of 
New Zealand. This incident occurred as a result of 
operational errors on board the FPSO Umuroa, with 
approximately 23,000 litres of oil being discharged. 

The spill resulted in 15 kms of the south Taranaki 
coastline becoming partially contaminated with 
oil. Following this incident, AWE and Prosafe, who 
own and operate the Umuroa, have worked closely 
together to rehabilitate affected coastal areas, 
and to initiate internal measures to prevent a 
similar incident.

An investigation of the incident found defi ciencies 
in some of the facility management procedures, 
and defi ciencies in the skills of some operators 
and supervisors on the Umuroa. Subsequent 
improvements included organisational changes 
and restructuring of processes on the Umuroa. 
An additional layer of supervision and supervisory 
management was installed and new operating 
procedures now prevent operators performing 
simultaneous work tasks. Pre-work planning and 
lines of communication between AWE and Prosafe 
have signifi cantly improved to ensure tasks are 
planned and carried out safely. The maintenance 
regimes of shipping and monitoring equipment 
have been upgraded. An independent audit 
instigated by Maritime NZ strongly endorsed the 
Umuroa’s updated management procedures and 
water discharge management plan.

AWE started the rehabilitation process by 
commissioning the Cawthron Institute to provide 
an environmental impact assessment of the oil 
spill. The assessment found that while the sandy 
beaches were most impacted by the spill, these 
habitats were the least sensitive and that clean-up 
efforts would have a negligible effect on the regions 
fl ora and fauna. AWE consulted extensively with 
key stakeholders including landowners, farmers, 
community groups, and representatives of the 
local Iwi.

The clean-up of the Tui oil spill required AWE 
and Prosafe to join forces in recruiting 25 local 
people to remove the oil from affected beaches 
and rocky coastal areas. In addition we removed 
approximately 63 tonnes of contaminated sand, 
several tonnes of waste plastic, car tyres and other 
rubbish from the beach and nearby waterways. In a 
further initiative, AWE has purchased 3,000 native 
plants and a team of more than 20 people (including 
a large contingent of AWE staff) spent a day 
planting the native fl ora, with further work planned. 
The planting programme has been in place since 
1992, but has been hampered by limited funding.

Active 
rehabilitation 

work
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Since the oil spill incident, AWE has initiated 
continuous monitoring for any new contamination 
events along the coastline from the remobilisation 
of any uncollected oil from the original spill. In 
April 2008, Maritime NZ and the Taranaki Regional 
Council declared that the monitoring programme 
was no longer necessary as the risk of further 
contamination was minimal. However, AWE 
continues to monitor the area and clean up any 
traces of oil detected.

AWE regards any uncontained oil spill as 
unacceptable, and we are concerned about the 
environmental and community impact of such 
incidents. We are continuing to develop and 
implement management procedures to prevent 
such incidents in the future. 

Environmental Commitments 
and Targets 
AWE’s priorities for 2008-09 will be to improve 
all areas of the company’s environmental 
performance and to understand our areas of 
greatest environmental impact. We are committed 
to developing environmental performance targets 
for future reporting, that will include targets in the 
following key areas: 

• Energy efficiency measures and energy 
consumption.

• Greenhouse gas emissions.
• Flaring of hydrocarbon gases.
• Fresh water consumption.
• Hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Performance regarding these environmental impact 
areas will be disclosed in annual reports, as part 
our Carbon Disclosure Project submissions and 
other regulatory requirements.

Our Social Responsibility 
Approach
Investing in Our People and the 
Community
We aim to treat everyone with respect and to 
improve the quality of life of our workforce and 
their families, and create a positive impact on the 
local communities in which we operate. Open 
dialogue with our stakeholders is an important 
part of the way in which we operate. AWE will 
provide a work environment where all hazards 
are identifi ed and eliminated. We believe that 
all injuries and incidents can be prevented. This 
means continually improving our Health and Safety 
management systems. 

Health and Safety Performance
Our policy on health and safety, as well as our 
belief, is that all accidents are preventable, and our 
objective is to be injury free. We are disappointed 
that in the 2007-08 fi nancial year, our lost time 
injury frequency rate (LTIFR) was 2.5 injuries per 
million work hours while our total recordable case 
frequency rate (TRCFR) was 6.8 incidents per 
million work hours. Although the injuries were 
relatively minor with an ankle injury, a steam burn 
and a slip injury being reported, we maintain that, 
regardless of the severity of the injury our safety 
performance can be improved as we consider all 
injuries to be preventable. The majority of these 
safety incidents involved contractors and we are 
continuing to work with contracting companies to 
reverse the trend in injury rates. 

We recognise that we operate in an industry that 
has historically had major safety accidents and 
fatalities have occurred in some operations within 
other oil and gas companies. We remain absolutely 

Rehabilitation of 
coastal areas
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determined to be vigilant at all times to ensure that 
we protect the lives of all our staff and contractors. 

Acknowledging Human Capital
Human capital encompasses our investment in our 
workplace including learning and development, 
staff diversity, innovative ability, leadership and 
senior management quality. In the 11 years that 
AWE has been in business, all professional staff 
departures have been through retirement. This is a 
refl ection of our strong employee commitment and 
workplace culture of honesty, integrity, common 
sense and respect for people.

Teaming with Our Community 
AWE’s philosophy is to leave any local community 
in better shape after we have conducted our 
exploration, development and/or production 
operations. This is the key principle that supports 
our allocation of funds for community sponsorship. 
In developing our sponsorship programme, we 
consult with the local community to identify their 
needs, and we consider the social, economic and 
environmental impacts of the programme and 
whether the sponsorship can deliver long term 
benefi ts and support itself once AWE’s participation 
has ceased.

In August 2007, AWE’s Chairman, Bruce McKay, 
announced the commitment of funding to the 
Taranaki community to be allocated amongst 
a number of community groups. The most 

signifi cant community sponsorship projects are 
summarised on page 19:

Future Social Responsibility Commitments  
and Targets

We are committed to establishing socially 
responsible performance targets in the areas of 
health and safety, human capital and community for 
future reporting, a summary of these commitments 
and goals for the current fi nancial year include: 

• AWE’s safety target is zero injuries. We are 
committed to improving safe operating 
procedures at our operations and joint 
ventures for all employees and contractors. 

• We will continue to work with contractors to 
improve our management and safety training 
programmes and aim to reduce our injury 
rates to employees and contractors to zero.

• AWE has an ongoing commitment to provide 
training and development programmes for 
employees and contractors working in all 
facets of our business. 

• We will continue to support communities where 
we operate including ongoing monitoring 
the Taranaki coastal areas adjacent to our 
operations. It is the intention of the AWE Board 
to contribute to local projects at similar levels in 
2008-09, in consultation with the community. 

AWE staff and 
locals improving 

the Taranaki 
coastline
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Organisation Proposal Category Comment

New Plymouth 
Police

Big Brothers Big Sisters 
of Taranaki

Youth BBBS Taranaki offi cially started up in July 2007 
as a result of the sponsorship. 34 young people 
have been matched with mentors.

Taranaki 
Rescue 
Helicopter 
Trust

Helicopter Floats – Improves 
helicopter stability during rescues, 
available to support any rescues
 in Taranaki (mountain or sea)

Safety The fl oats were purchased and installed in 
December, 2007.

Taranaki Arts 
Festival Trust

YouthFest provides a week of 
(art, music and cultural 
workshops) for young people

Arts & Culture The sponsorship enabled the dance and music 
workshop series to be held at four different 
venues around Taranaki (Opunake, Eltham, 
Waitara and New Plymouth).

Okato Fire 
Brigade

Purchase of a defi brillator 
and contribution towards the 
completion of building extensions 
for a new training facility

Community As a result of community discussions a 
contribution to the Okato volunteer fi re brigade 
enabled the completion of training rooms.

Rocky Point 
Development

Purchase of native trees and 
materials to continue the Paora 
Rd riparian planting initiative. 

Environmental After a request by the Okato community, 
an offer was made to assist with the purchase 
and planting of native plants in an exposed 
area of the Taranaki coast.

Taranaki 
Chamber of 
Commerce

Americana Festival; an annual 
car rally event which coincides 
with a week of activities in 
New Plymouth

Community Our sponsorship assisted with the event 
and 100 family passes were distributed to 
local schools.

New Plymouth 
Rangers 
Soccer Club

Youth Summer League; purchase 
of specifi cally sized goals for 
the 10 fi elds that host over 400 
children playing 
junior soccer.

Sport Over 400 children from the Taranaki region 
aged from aged 5 to 12 play summer soccer.

Local School Three-day Educational School trip 
around Taranaki, funding enabled 
40 local children to learn more 
about the region

Education While the school teachers planned the trip the 
sponsorship provided some funds to allow the 
trip to proceed.

Govett 
Brewster Art 
Gallery

Kura Kaupapa Schools Art & Culture Provision of transport to enable school children 
from rural schools to travel to New Plymouth’s 
Art Gallery.

Mellowpuff 
Charitable 
Trust

Mellowpuff Charitable Trust Health Assistance for local children/families with 
cancer.

Education 
Taranaki

Lion Foundation Young Enterprise 
Scheme AWE assists with 
sponsorship of the fi nancial 
performance award.

Education Three AWE staff also work with a local high 
school and act as business mentors for the 
teams over a six month period.
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Corporate Review
Finance
Reported profi t after tax was $264 million, a 
substantial lift on the previous corresponding 
period. The profi t growth was directly attributed to 
the rise in oil and gas production and the sustained 
high oil prices over the period. 

Production costs rose to $82.5 million following the 
commissioning of the operations in New Zealand 
and the increased production levels. Similarly, 
amortisation rose to $134 million, in line with 
the stronger production levels. Exploration and 
evaluation expenses also jumped, following the 
disappointing exploration results and the write-
down of some previously capitalised exploration 
expenditures in the offshore Perth basin. 

Tax expense was high at $240 million, with an 
effective tax rate of 47%. This high rate is worthy 
of further comment as it includes income tax 
provisions but also provisions in New Zealand and 
Australia for secondary taxes (APR in New Zealand 
and RRT in Australia). During the year income tax of 
$128 million was paid. 

The balance sheet remains very strong, with zero 
debt and approximately $339 million in cash at year 
end. The ARC merger implementation, completed 
in late August 2008 has consumed some of this 
cash surplus, with approximately $160 million 
being paid as the partial cash consideration for 
the transaction. Furthermore, the repayment of the 
ARC debt and the unwinding of the ARC oil hedge 
position are expected to account for a further 
$110 million. 

Directors have determined that no dividend is to be 
paid in respect of the 2008 fi nancial year. The future 
payment of dividends will only be considered if it 
can be reasonably sustained over a longer period 
in a tax effective manner.

Changes to Directors
Mr Bruce Phillips, the founding Managing Director 
of AWE, retired as a director in August 2007. Bruce’s 
leadership and guidance was instrumental in the 
position of the business today and the ongoing 
success of the company is a testament to his vision. 
Following the retirement of Bruce Phillips, Bruce 
Wood assumed the role of Managing Director. 

Mr Andy Hogendijk also joined the board of 
Directors in October 2007. Andy has had an 
extensive career in fi nancial management with 
Suncorp Metway, the Commonwealth Bank and 
John Fairfax. 

Future Outlook
The past fi nancial year has been a watershed 
year for AWE. The four cornerstone projects that 
shareholders have been following for many years 
are now developed and producing strongly. Led by 
the performance from the Tui fi elds in New Zealand, 
AWE’s production rose strongly to almost 10 million 
barrels of oil equivalent and revenue, cash fl ow and 
after tax profi t were all at record levels.
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The record after tax cash fl ow in the year has 
allowed AWE to not only fund its entire exploration 
and development expenditure and repay all its debt 
but to also build cash reserves of $339 million at 
the year end. 

It was against this record performance that AWE 
decided to merge with ARC to expand not only 
AWE’s production assets but also to provide 
opportunities for future growth. After acquiring ARC, 
a transaction fi nalised after the end of the year in 
August, AWE still had cash reserves at the end of 
August of more than $200 million. In addition the 
2008-09 fi nancial year should see another year of 
strong profi ts and cash fl ow for the enlarged AWE.

AWE is in a very strong position to grow. For the 
fi rst arm of that growth the company will rely upon 
its traditional area of growth: exploration. Over 11 
years since its inception AWE has had an enviable 
20% plus commercial success rate in its exploration 
programme and AWE plans to continue that record. 
Over the next two years AWE will not only undertake 
extensive exploration around all its key production 
areas but also continue its search for success in 
new areas.

Over the next two years in its core areas in the 
Taranaki, Bass, Otway and offshore Perth basins, 
AWE plans to  participate in up to nine exploration 
wells. In addition plans are already underway to 
expand exploration drilling in the onshore Perth 
basin areas acquired in the ARC merger.

AWE will be active in both Indonesia and in the 
Yemen permits acquired with ARC. Both of these 
areas offer signifi cant upside for shareholders. AWE 
is also actively seeking exploration opportunities in 
other areas in which it can apply its core exploration 
competencies.

AWE’s exploration philosophy is dual focussed. 
Firstly the majority of the company’s exploration 
capital should be spent on lower risk prospects 
targeted to provide an ongoing chain of 
development projects. Secondly however, 
shareholders should also be regularly exposed to 
the upside potential of a smaller number of higher 
risk but high potential prospects; prospects that, if 
successful, are big enough to change the size of 
the company. There are some upcoming projects 
in this latter category being planned for drilling over 
the next two years.

In addition to exploration AWE is also seeking 
corporate and other opportunities to expand, 
subject of course to ensuring that any opportunity 
selected can be demonstrated to add value to 
shareholders. In the current fi nancial climate AWE’s 
strong cash position and strong cash generation 
will be a clear advantage. 

Bruce J. Wood
Managing Director

Oil fl owlines on 
FPSO Umuroa
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Joint Venture 
Interests 
and Reserves
Joint Venture Interests at 30 June 2008

Area
Joint

Venture
Interest

(%) Area
Joint

Venture
Interest

(%)

Production Exploration
Australia Australia
Bass Basin T/L 1 and T/RL 1 30.00 Otway Basin VIC/P 44 25.00
Perth Basin WA-31-L 27.50 Perth Basin WA 286 P 27.50
Otway Basin VIC/L 24 25.00 TP/15 25.00

Bass Basin T/18 P 30.00

New Zealand New Zealand
Taranaki Basin1 PMP 38158 42.50 Taranaki Basin HSSB 42.50

PEP 38401 50.00
PEP 38481 40.00
PEP 38482 50.00
PEP 38483 44.32

Argentina PEP 38499 42.50
Neuquen Basin LBEC 15.00 PEP 381202 100.00

PEP 38524 80.00
Canterbury Basin PEP 38259 25.00

Indonesia
East Java Basin Bulu PSC 42.50

Notes:  
1. Subject to a Net Cash Interest payable to the previous owners of a subsidiary of the Company (AWE Taranaki Limited, previously 

New Zealand Overseas Petroleum Limited), if returns from the Tui Area oil project in PMP 38158 exceed certain benchmark levels. 
2. The Company is also entitled to a Net Profits Royalty at rates varying from 7.5% to 8.3% from the Tintaburra field in ATP 299P. 

This royalty will be received when gross revenues from the permit exceed the sum of total expenditures from the permit.
3. The table above does not include any Joint Venture Interests acquired as a consequence of the ARC merger. 

Proved plus Probable Reserves at 30 June 2008 (AWE Share)

Area
Sales Gas

(PJ)
LPG

(ktonnes)

Condensate
(million
barrels)

Oil
(million
barrels)

Total
mmboe Notes

Australia
Bass Basin 1
Yolla (T/L 1) 91.6 281.5 3.5 0.3 22.3 2

Otway Basin
Casino (VIC/L 24) 40.3 – – – 6.7
Henry (VIC/P 44) 38.4 – 0.1 – 6.5 3

78.7 – 0.1 – 13.2

Perth Basin
Cliff Head (WA-31-L) – – – 2.5 2.5

New Zealand
Taranaki Basin

Tui Area (PMP 38158) – – – 15.2 15.2
Total 170.3 281.5 3.6 18.0 53.2 4,5

Notes:  
1. The White Ibis, Aroo and Trefoil fields (T/18 P) have not been classified with proven or probable reserves pending future appraisal/commercialisation. 
2. Oil reserves in Yolla (T/L1) only include recovery from initial gas development wells. 
3. The Henry field has been classified with proved and probable reserves following FID.
4. Conversion factors used are as follows: Gas 6 PJ = 1 mmboe; LPG 1 tonne = 11.6 boe; Oil 1 barrel = 1 boe; Condensate 1 barrel = 1 boe
5. The reserves reported above do not include reserves acquired as a consequence of the ARC merger.
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Directors’
Report

The directors present their report together with the financial report of Australian Worldwide Exploration Limited 
(the “Company”) and of the consolidated entity (“AWE”), being the Company and its controlled entities, for the year ended 
30 June 2008 and the auditor’s report thereon.

Directors
The directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the financial year are:

Bruce G. McKay, Independent Non-executive Chairman, BSc (Hons) Geol, FIEAust, FAICD

Bruce McKay is a geologist with almost 40 years experience in professional, management and executive roles in the upstream 
oil and gas industry.

Bruce is an Honorary Life Member of APPEA, a member of PESA and the American Association of Petroleum Geologists, 
a Fellow of the Institution of Engineers Australia and a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. He is the 
non-executive Chairman of Epic Energy Holdings Pty Ltd and is also an executive coach with the Stephenson Mansell Group. 
He was formerly a director of Sydney Gas Company Ltd.

Bruce was appointed Chairman of the Board of AWE on 19 March 1997. He is Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and 
a member of the Operations Risk Committee.

Bruce J. W. Wood, Managing Director, BE (Hons) Mining

Bruce Wood is a petroleum engineer with over 30 years of technical, commercial and management experience in the 
upstream oil and gas industry. In addition to extensive experience in Australia, he has also lived and worked in Holland, 
France, the United States of America and Central America.

Prior to joining AWE, Bruce was the General Manager and a director of Delhi Petroleum Pty Ltd.

Bruce was appointed executive director of AWE on 11 April 2007.

Colin C. Green, Independent Non-executive Director, FCA

Colin Green is a chartered accountant with 47 years experience in the corporate finance and business sector. Formerly a 
partner of KMG Hungerford, Hancock and Offner, Colin also previously held the position of Executive Director Corporate at 
TNT Australia.

Colin was appointed a non-executive director of AWE at its incorporation on 17 March 1997. He is Chairman of the Audit 
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee.

David I. McEvoy, Independent Non-executive Director, BSc (Physics), Grad Dip (Geophysics)

David McEvoy has a petroleum geoscience background with almost 40 years experience in international exploration and 
development. He has held several senior executive positions in affiliates of ExxonMobil, most recently Vice President, 
Business Development in ExxonMobil Exploration Company from 1997 to 2002.

David is currently a non-executive director of Woodside Petroleum Ltd, Po Valley Energy Ltd and Innamincka Petroleum Ltd.

David was appointed a non-executive director of AWE on 22 June 2006. He is a member of the Audit Committee and the 
Operations Risk Committee.

Edward S. Smith, Independent Non-executive Director

Edward Smith is a businessman with investments in exploration, mining and petroleum companies. He is currently a 
non-executive Chairman of Impress Ventures Ltd, an oil exploration company. He was formerly a director of Jupiter Energy 
Limited and Carpathian Resources Limited and non-executive Chairman of Jupiter Biofuels Limited.

Edward was formerly Chairman of Omega Oil NL and was appointed a non-executive director of AWE on 14 January 2000. 
He is Chairman of the Operations Risk Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee.

Andy J. Hogendijk, Independent Non-executive Director, AAUQ, FCPA, FAICD

Andy Hogendijk has had an extensive senior financial management career with Suncorp Metway, Commonwealth Bank and 
the John Fairfax Group and roles with Shell Company of Australia and Australian Paper Manufacturers.

Andy is a fellow of CPA Australia and is currently Chairman of Gloucester Coal Limited and a non-executive director of 
Magellan Flagship Fund Limited. He was formerly a non-executive director of Aditya Birla Minerals Limited. He was appointed 
as a non-executive director of AWE on 4 October 2007 and is a member of the Audit Committee.

Directors of the Company who retired during the financial year are listed below:
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Bruce J. Phillips, Managing Director, BSc (Hons) Geol

Bruce Phillips is a petroleum explorationist with over 30 years of technical, financial and managerial experience in the 
upstream sector of the oil and gas industry. He has broad domestic and international exploration and production experience 
throughout Australia, South East Asia, Africa and South America.

Bruce is an active member of PESA and the Australian Society of Exploration Geophysicists. He was appointed as a 
non-executive director of AGL Energy Limited on 22 August 2007.

Bruce was appointed Managing Director of AWE on 19 March 1997 and retired as a director on 31 August 2007.

Company Secretary
Neville Kelly – Chief Financial Offi cer and Company Secretary, BCom (Merit), CPA

Neville Kelly is an accountant with 26 years commercial experience including over 20 years in the upstream sector of the 
Australian oil and gas industry, including 12 years experience with Bridge Oil Limited. Neville is the Chief Financial Officer of 
AWE and joined the Company on its public listing in 1997. He is responsible for all aspects of AWE’s financial, accounting and 
secretarial operations.

Neville was appointed to the position of Company Secretary in October 1999.

Directors’ Meetings
The number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of directors) and the number of meetings attended by 
each of the directors of the Company during the financial year were:

    Operations
  Audit Remuneration Risk
 Directors’ Committee Committee Committee
 Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings

Director   A B A B A B A B

B. G. McKay  10 10 2 2 1 1 4 4

B. J. W. Wood 10 10 – – – – – –

B. J. Phillips  1 1 – – – – – –

C. C. Green  10 10 5 5 1 1 – –

E. S. Smith  10 10 – – 1 1 4 4

D. I. McEvoy  9 10 5 5 – – 4 4

A. Hogendijk  8 9 3 3 – – – –

A – Number of meetings attended.
B – The number of meetings held during the time that the director held office during the financial year.

Remuneration Report
The Remuneration Report is set out on pages 37 to 47 and forms part of the Directors’ Report for the financial year ended 
30 June 2008.

Corporate Governance Statement
Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are included in the Corporate Governance Statement that is set out 
on pages 48 to 55 and forms part of the Directors’ Report for the financial year ended 30 June 2008.

Principal Activities
The principal activities of the consolidated entity during the course of the financial year included:

exploration for oil and gas;

appraisal and development of oil and gas properties; and

production and sale of oil, gas and condensate.

•

•

•
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Operating and Financial Review
Overview of the Consolidated Entity

Year to June    2008 2007 % Change

Gas production (PJ)   15.6 16.1 –3%

LPG production (tonnes)   13,197 11,582 +14%

Condensate production (bbls)   239,000 247,561 –3%

Oil production (bbls)   6,876,000 862,652 +697%

Total production (‘000 BOE)   9,875 3,926 +152%

Sales revenue ($’000)   821,230 142,690 +476%

Net field contribution ($’000)*   738,749 113,594 +551%

Pre-tax Profit ($’000)   503,971 35,533 +1,318%

Net profit after tax ($’000)   264,355 35,382 +647%

*  Sales revenue less Production costs.

Shareholder Returns

    2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Year end share price ($) 4.16 3.64 3.42 2.02 1.52 0.82

Change in share price ($) 0.52 0.22 1.40 0.50 0.70 0.05

Total shareholder return (%) 14% 6% 69% 33% 85% 6%

Relative to ASX 200 Energy Index (21%) (12%) 38% (31%) 45% 10%

Relative to ASX 200 Index 31% (17%) 50% 12% 69% 12%

Summary of Financial Performance

AWE’s sales revenues increased significantly again during the financial year, following the commissioning and exceptional 
initial performance of the Tui oil fields in New Zealand. Revenue growth was also supported by continued strong performance 
from the Casino and Cliff Head projects, which achieved or exceeded budgeted production. Increasing international oil prices 
also contributed to the growth in revenues.

Net Field Contribution to profit rose by 551% to $739 million for the year. This increase was driven by the sharp lift in oil 
production volumes and the stronger product prices.

A pre-tax profit of $504 million was reported for the year, after the write-off of $81 million in exploration, evaluation and 
development expenditures. After tax AWE reported a profit of $264 million, a substantial lift on the 2007 results. This 
represents earnings per share of 58.8 cents.

Taxation

Taxation expense for the year amounted to $240 million, which represents an effective tax rate of 47.5%. The high effective tax 
rate has been caused by the application of tax effect accounting to the consolidated entity’s Petroleum Resource Rent Tax 
(“PRRT”) and Accounting Profits Tax (“APR”) projects. Excluding the tax effect of PRRT and APR the effective tax rate for the 
year would be reduced to 32.1%.

The taxation expense for the consolidated entity can be summarised as follows:

        Consolidated
        2008
        $’000

Income tax expense – Australia     8,551

Income tax expense – New Zealand     131,262

Royalty related taxation – current New Zealand APR expense**    73,862

Deferred PRRT and royalty related tax expense     25,941

        239,616

**  Accounting profits royalty is deductible for income tax purposes in New Zealand.
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As a producer of oil and gas in Australian and New Zealand offshore waters, the consolidated entity is subject to, in addition to 
income tax, additional government imposts in the form of PRRT in Australia and APR in New Zealand.

PRRT is levied on Australian offshore oil and gas production operations at a rate of 40% of project profits after allowing for the 
recoupment of past deductible project costs and after appropriate compounding of these past costs. Further, subject to the 
satisfaction of certain tests, offshore exploration costs incurred by the consolidated entity can be transferred to PRRT profit 
projects thereby having the effect of reducing or deferring the actual liability to pay PRRT. Accordingly, as a consequence of 
the ability to recoup past costs, the consolidated entity has not incurred, on a cash accrual basis, a liability to pay PRRT in 
the year.

Similarly, APR is levied on our Tui production operations in New Zealand at a rate of 20% of project profits after allowing for the 
recoupment of past deductible project costs. However, these past project costs are not compounded and exploration costs 
incurred outside of the Tui project cannot be transferred to the Tui project. The consolidated entity has incurred an APR liability 
of approximately $71 million in the current financial year due to commencement of Tui production operations in July 2007.

As required by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (“AASB”), AWE changed its accounting policy in June 2007 to 
apply tax effect accounting to both PRRT and to APR. Previously, the consolidated entity had applied accrual accounting to 
both PRRT and APR whereby an expense would have been recognised as an operating cost at the time that a liability actually 
became payable.

Applying tax effect accounting principles to both PRRT and APR causes the tax effect of the difference between the PRRT/
APR tax base and the accounting base of these assets to be recognised as a deferred tax liability on the balance sheet and 
an income tax expense in the income statement.

The PRRT/APR tax base represents remaining deductible project costs of the project which will reduce to zero once all past 
deductible costs are recouped. The accounting base represents the written down balance sheet value of the profit project 
which is amortised over the life of reserves. Accordingly, the application of tax effect accounting to PRRT and APR to the 
consolidated entity may impact reported after tax profit before a liability to pay PRRT or APR has accrued. The tax effected 
PRRT/APR expense recognised in the year which does not represent an amount paid or presently payable is $26 million. 
The major reason for the recognition of this expense in the year is the start-up of the Tui operations. The accounting base of 
the project has reduced in line with amortisation whereas the APR tax base has reduced significantly due to the high level of 
assessable APR receipts caused by high oil prices and better than expected production levels.

Summary of Financial Position

The strong revenue and cash flow has resulted in a substantial improvement of AWE’s financial position. The increased cash 
flow allowed the company to repay the remaining tranches of the corporate debt facility in December 2007 and January 2008. 
At the end of the year, cash reserves had grown to $339 million.

Development and exploration expenditure fell during the past year, following the completion of the development phases 
on the cornerstone projects. Exploration activity remained at a high level and is expected to continue at these levels in the 
foreseeable future. Capital spending on the Henry gas project is expected to see development and exploration expenditure 
rise in the 2008-09 financial year.

AWE retains access to the unsecured corporate loan facility. This facility, with redraw limits of up to $135 million, remains 
undrawn at the end of June 2008.

Production and Revenue Results

Record production of 9.9 million barrels of oil equivalent (“BOE”) was achieved during the year, following the successful 
commissioning of the Tui oil fields. The production rate represented a rise of 152% over the previous corresponding 
period. The Tui project produced 14.2 million barrels of oil (100% basis) during the first 11 months of production which was 
substantially in excess of joint venture expectations.

Progress on Cornerstone Assets

In New Zealand, the Tui Area oil project (PMP 38158, offshore Taranaki basin, New Zealand, AWE share 42.5%) began 
commercial production on July 30, 2007. During the year, gross oil production reached 14.2 million barrels of oil, in excess of 
expectations. The expected project life was extended to the end of 2022 following the extension of the FPSO contract. Proved 
and probable oil reserves were increased to 50.1 million barrels of oil following the strong reserve performance and the term 
extension. If high oil prices remain and production performs in line with expectations it is possible that the Net Cash Interest 
referred to in Note 29(d) of the Annual Financial Report will become payable in the 2008-09 financial year in respect of AWE 
Taranaki Limited’s 22.5% participating interest in the block.
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The BassGas project (T/L1, Bass basin, offshore southern Australia, AWE share 30%, following implementation of the merger 
with ARC Energy, AWE’s share of the BassGas project will rise from 30.0% to 42.5%) continued commercial production 
during the year. Gross gas production of 18.4 Petajoules (“PJ”) was achieved during the year, marginally below contract and 
budgeted rates. Associated liquid recoveries rates have improved during the year, with the onshore plant achieving design 
capacity, with full liquid recovery at the end of the financial year.

The Casino gas project (VIC/L 24, Otway basin, offshore southern Australia, AWE share 25%) managed strong gas production 
again this year and reached a milestone of 100 PJ of production during the June quarter. The project achieved gross gas sales 
of 40 PJ during the year, marginally above the long term contracted rate.

The Cliff Head oil project (WA 31 L, Perth basin, offshore Western Australia, AWE share 27.5%, following implementation of the 
merger with ARC Energy, AWE’s share of the Cliff Head oil project will rise from 27.5% to 57.5%) averaged 8,260 barrels of oil 
per day (“bopd”) for the year, marginally down on the previous corresponding period. The fall was due to natural field decline 
which was partially offset by the pump replacement programme. Stronger oil prices improved the project return, despite the 
slight reduction in oil sales.

The Henry gas project (VIC/P 44, Otway basin, offshore southern Australia, AWE share 25%) was sanctioned for development 
during the year utilising some of the existing infrastructure in the region. The development has progressed, with engineering, 
fabrication and procurement operations progressing on schedule at year end. The Henry-2 development well is scheduled for 
completion in the September 2008 quarter. First gas production is currently planned from the Henry gas field in the first half 
of 2009.  

Merger with Arc Energy Limited (“ARC”)

AWE and ARC announced a merger on April 24, 2008. The merger will be undertaken as a Scheme of Arrangement 
(“Scheme”) in ARC.

AWE will acquire ARC for a cash and scrip consideration, with existing ARC shareholders also receiving shares in Buru Energy 
Limited, an exploration entity with a focus on the Canning basin. Under the Scheme, ARC shareholders will receive $0.19 cash, 
0.3 new AWE shares and 0.425 new Buru shares for each existing ARC share. ARC shareholders have elected to take up the 
maximum cash alternative capped at $100 million in lieu of AWE shares.

The merger with ARC will increase AWE’s interests in the BassGas and Cliff Head projects, where AWE is already a major 
participant and will expand the exploration and development options for the company. The transaction will also add 
immediately to the cash generation for the combined business.

The transaction was approved by ARC shareholders and the Federal Court in early August, implementation of the merger is 
proceeding and is expected to be completed on August 25, 2008.

Drilling Activity

AWE completed a substantial exploration programme in the Taranaki basin of New Zealand in the period. The programme did 
not encounter any commercial oil accumulations, although two of the wells, Taranui-1 and Kopuwai-1 both intersected oil in 
tight reservoirs, thus proving oil generation and migration over a larger area of the basin.

In the East Java basin in Indonesia, AWE completed two wells in the prospective Bulu PSC, where encouragement was noted 
in both. Additional seismic has been acquired in the PSC to upgrade further drilling candidates.

In the Perth basin, an exploration and appraisal programme was undertaken with disappointing results.

2007-2008

Well Name Location AWE share Comments

Hector-1  Taranaki 44.3% Plugged and abandoned

Taranui-1 Taranaki 42.5% Plugged and abandoned with oil shows

West Cape-1 Taranaki 40.0% Plugged and abandoned

Kopuwai-1 Taranaki 50.0% Plugged and abandoned with oil shows

Lilac-1  Perth 27.5% Plugged and abandoned

Lisah-1  East Java 42.5% Plugged and abandoned with oil shows

Frankland-2 Perth 27.5% Plugged and abandoned

Lengo-1  East Java 42.5% Gas discovery

Dunsborough-2 Perth 27.5% Plugged and abandoned with oil shows
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Based on our current drilling schedule, the company expects to participate in the following wells during the 2009 financial year:

2008-2009

Well Name Location AWE share Timing/Comments

Pecten East-1 Otway 25.0% Plugged and abandoned with gas shows

Netherby-1 Otway 25.0% Commercial gas discovery

Netherby-1 ST1 Otway 25.0% September quarter 2008

Henry-2  Otway 25.0% September quarter 2008

Rockhopper-1 Bass 30.0-42.5%* March quarter 2009

Trefoil-2  Bass 30.0-42.5%* June quarter 2009

NZ drilling Taranaki 40.0-50.0%  Drilling programme of up to 7 wells starting 
in March quarter 2009, but contingent on 
signing of suitable drilling rig contract

*   AWE’s share in the Bass basin drilling programme will increase post the merger with Arc Energy. These wells are approved by the T/18 P joint venture, 
but remain subject to the availability of a suitable drilling rig.

Future Performance and Strategy

The full year operational, production and financial results achieved by AWE reflect an outstanding performance by the 
company and all its people. The increase in revenue and cash flow will provide a substantial funding platform for the next 
phase of growth for the company.

Following the merger with ARC, oil and gas production from the increased equity in the BassGas and Cliff Head projects and 
the new core area in the onshore Perth basin, will partially offset the expected decline in Tui oil output.

The AWE Board continues to review its strong cash position. The first priority of cash management is to repay financial 
obligations. The second priority is to fund ongoing exploration and new growth opportunities. The overriding objective is to 
provide strong total shareholder returns. The payment of dividends is regularly reviewed by the Board which has determined 
that dividends would only be paid to shareholders if continual payment of a dividend could be reasonably sustained over a 
longer period in a tax effective manner.

Signifi cant Changes in the State of Affairs
In the opinion of the directors there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity during the 
financial year under review.

Dividends
The directors recommend that no dividend be paid in respect of the 2008 financial year.

Events Subsequent to Balance Date
Merger with ARC Energy Limited

ARC Energy Limited and Australian Worldwide Exploration Limited announced in April 2008 that their respective Boards 
had unanimously agreed to merge the two companies. The proposed transaction between ARC and AWE comprises:

the Demerger – the transfer of ARC’s interests in the Canning Basin tenements and the exploration for oil and gas 
in respect of those tenements (together with related assets and liabilities) to a new company, Buru Energy, and the 
subsequent demerger of 85% of Buru Energy to ARC Shareholders; and

the Merger – the acquisition of ARC (following the Demerger) by AWE.

The transaction is proposed to be effected by way of a scheme of arrangement, which requires the approval of the Court 
and of ARC Shareholders. ARC shareholders approved on 5 August 2008 the proposed merger of ARC and AWE and the 
demerger of Buru Energy. On 8 August 2008 an order was made by the Federal Court approving the scheme of arrangement 
to implement the merger of ARC and AWE and the demerger of Buru Energy. The implementation of the merger and demerger 
and the transfer of consideration to ARC shareholders are expected to occur 25 August 2008.

•

•
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Vic/P 44, Otway Basin, Australia (AWE share 25.0%)

A two well exploration program started in the permit in June 2008. The Pecten East-1 well was drilled to a total measured 
depth of 1,993 metres subsequent to year end. Gas shows were reported in the two main reservoir targets, but were proven to 
be residual after the assessment of wireline logs and pressure tests.

The Netherby-1 well has been successfully drilled since the end of the year. Good quality gas bearing Waarre A Sandstones 
were intersected and the extent of the new field is interpreted to be in line with pre drill expectations. The production well 
Netherby-1 ST1, will now be completed as a future producer.

Other than as disclosed above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this 
report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, 
to affect significantly the operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
consolidated entity, in subsequent financial years.

Likely Developments
In the opinion of the directors, the provision of further information regarding likely developments in the operations of 
the consolidated entity in future financial years and the expected results of those operations would be likely to result in 
unreasonable prejudice to the consolidated entity and, accordingly, has not been included in this report.

Environmental Regulations
The consolidated entity is involved in an ongoing commitment to achieving high standards of environmental performance. 
The basis of these standards has been set through a combination of both government and industry efforts. In Australia, 
Commonwealth and State regulations govern the entity’s operations, and similar mechanisms govern international interests. 
The consolidated entity strives to comply not only with all government regulations, but also to maintain industry standards. 
This is in line with the current trend toward self-regulation in environmental monitoring.

To maintain these high standards, a sound environmental management system has been developed. As part of this system, 
the past year has seen the continuance of an ongoing environmental monitoring programme. Various enquiries have been 
made of all joint venture activities, both onshore and offshore, within Australia and internationally. This monitoring programme 
will continue to expand as new regulations are implemented and adopted.

In October 2007 as Operator of the Tui Area oil project (PMP 38158, offshore Taranaki Basin, New Zealand) the consolidated 
entity reported an accidental oil discharge from the FPSO Umuroa, which resulted in a small amount of weathered oil reaching 
the Taranaki coastline. The incident has been fully investigated by AWE and the owner of the vessel, and extensive measures 
have been taken to prevent any reoccurrence. AWE has cooperated fully with Maritime New Zealand and assisted local 
authorities in managing shoreline investigation and cleanup operations. An environmental impact assessment, initiated by 
AWE and conducted by independent consultants indicates negligible long-term impact.

Based upon the results of the monitoring programme this past year and other than this incident, directors are not aware of any 
other significant breaches during the period covered by this report.

Directors’ Interests
The relevant interest of each director in the share capital of the Company, as notified by the directors to the Australian Securities 
Exchange (“ASX”) in accordance with section 205G(1) of the Corporations Act 2001, at the date of this report is as follows:

    Fully paid Employee
    ordinary share Exercise Expiry
    shares options price date

B. G. McKay  223,805 – – –

B. J. W. Wood 138,050 500,000 $2.77 10 April 2012

     1,000,000 $3.18 30 August 2012

C. C. Green  43,293 – – –

E. S. Smith  11,857,838 – – –

D. I. McEvoy  30,000 – – –

A. Hogendijk  – – – –

Details of employee share options are set out under “Options”.
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Options
Under the Company’s Share Option Plan options to subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company are issued at the discretion 
of the directors and the exercise price and exercise period are determined on the basis of rewarding employees if the 
Company’s share price achieves significant long-term growth. Options are unlisted and are granted with exercise prices not 
less than the average market price of the Company’s shares for the five days prior to grant.

The Plan was approved by shareholders at the time of the float of the Company. The sum of the number of shares issued on 
the exercise of options in the previous five years and the number of unexercised options cannot exceed 5% of the total number 
of shares on issue at any time.

During or since the end of the financial year, the Company granted options for no consideration over unissued ordinary shares 
to the following officers:

      Exercise  Exercise period(3)

    Grant date (2) Number price Start date Expiry date

B. J. W. Wood (1) 26 November 2007 250,000 $2.77 31 July 2008 10 April 2012

    26 November 2007 250,000 $2.77 31 July 2009 10 April 2012

    26 November 2007 300,000 $3.18 31 July 2008 30 August 2012

    26 November 2007 300,000 $3.18 31 July 2009 30 August 2012

    26 November 2007 400,000 $3.18 31 July 2010 30 August 2012

R. D. Frith  13 July 2007 150,000 $3.56 31 July 2010 14 July 2012

    14 August 2008 100,000 $3.28 31 July 2011 14 August 2013

L. J. Brooks  13 July 2007 150,000 $3.56 31 July 2010 14 July 2012

    14 August 2008 100,000 $3.28 31 July 2011 14 August 2013

N. F. Kelly  13 July 2007 150,000 $3.56 31 July 2010 14 July 2012

    14 August 2008 100,000 $3.28 31 July 2011 14 August 2013

I. D. Palmer  13 July 2007 100,000 $3.56 31 July 2010 14 July 2012

    14 August 2008 100,000 $3.28 31 July 2011 14 August 2013

D. Washer  13 July 2007 50,000 $3.56 31 July 2008 14 July 2012

    13 July 2007 100,000 $3.56 31 July 2010 14 July 2012

    14 August 2008 100,000 $3.28 31 July 2011 14 August 2013

(1) Options awarded pursuant to shareholder approval at the 2007 Annual General Meeting of the Company.
(2) Options awarded on 13 July 2007 are in respect of performance in the previous financial year.
(3) The exercise of these options is subject to the satisfaction of KPIs (refer to the Remuneration Report on pages 37 to 47).

During or since the end of the financial year, the Company issued ordinary shares as a result of the exercise of options as 
follows (there were no amounts unpaid on the shares issued):

 Number Exercise price

 1,000,000 $1.91

 500,000 $0.92

 700,000 $1.85

 200,000 $1.60

 160,000 $2.10

 125,000 $0.81

 10,000 $2.59

 100,000 $2.46

 15,000 $3.10

 55,000 $2.68

 2,865,000 
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At the date of this report the details of options on issue under the Company’s Share Option Plan are as follows:

 Number Exercise price Expiry date

 100,000 $1.60 21 July 2009

 950,000 $1.85 21 December 2009

 700,000 $2.10 25 September 2010

 300,000 $2.10 24 November 2010

 300,000 $2.21 24 November 2010

 300,000 $2.31 24 November 2010

 300,000 $2.46 19 March 2011

 2,100,000 $2.59 19 March 2011

 2,960,000 $2.71 19 March 2011

 100,000 $2.66 11 April 2011

 275,000 $3.00 15 June 2011

 1,275,000 $3.27 19 July 2011

 65,000 $3.10 9 November 2011

 150,000 $2.86 14 January 2012

 555,000 $2.68 11 March 2012

 2,315,000 $3.56 14 July 2012

 45,000 $3.56 8 October 2012

 500,000 $2.77 10 April 2012

 1,000,000 $3.18 30 August 2012

 125,000 $3.65 6 April 2013

 275,000 $4.10 12 May 2013

 300,000 $4.08 11 June 2013

 1,566,000 $3.28 14 August 2013

 16,556,000  

Indemnifi cation and Insurance of Offi cers
Under the Company’s Constitution, and to the extent permitted by law, every person who is, or has been, a director or 
secretary is indemnified against:

(a)  a liability incurred by that person, in his or her capacity as a director or secretary, to another person (other than the 
Company or a related body corporate of the Company) provided that the liability does not arise out of conduct involving a 
lack of good faith; or

(b)  a liability for costs and expenses incurred by that person:

 (i)  in defending any proceedings in which judgement is given in that person’s favour, or in which that person is 
acquitted; or

 (ii)  in connection with an application in relation to any proceedings in which the Court grants relief to that person under 
the Corporations Act.

During the financial year the Company paid premiums based on normal commercial terms and conditions to insure all 
directors, officers and employees of the Company against the costs and expenses in defending claims brought against the 
individual while performing services for the consolidated entity. The premium paid has not been disclosed as it is subject to 
the confidentiality provisions of the insurance policy.

The Company has entered into Indemnity Deeds to indemnify directors and certain executives of the Company against all 
liabilities incurred in the course of or arising out of their employment with the Company and its controlled entities, except 
where the liability results wholly or in part from serious and wilful misconduct by the executive.
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Non-audit Services
During the year KPMG, the Company’s auditor, has performed certain other services in addition to its statutory duties.

The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor and in accordance with written 
advice provided by resolution of the Audit Committee, is satisfied that the provision of those non-audit services during the year 
by the auditor is compatible with, and did not compromise, the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001 for the following reasons:

all non-audit services were subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Company and have been 
reviewed by the Audit Committee to ensure they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and

the non-audit services provided do not undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in 
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as they did not involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own 
work, acting in a management or decision making capacity for the Company, acting as an advocate for the Company or 
jointly sharing risks and rewards.

Details of the amounts paid to the auditor of the Company, KPMG, and its related practices for audit and non-audit 
services provided during the year are set out below. In addition, amounts paid to other auditors for the statutory audit have 
been disclosed:

  Consolidated

       2008 2007
       $ $

Statutory audit:

Auditors of the Company

KPMG Australia

 – Audit and review of financial reports    168,895 174,952

Overseas KPMG firms

 – Audit and review of financial reports    6,477 4,641

       175,372 179,593

Other auditors

 – Audit and review of financial reports    2,547 3,583

       177,919 183,176

Services other than statutory audit:

KPMG Australia

 – Taxation compliance services    248,011 249,692

 – Taxation services (ARC Energy Limited Scheme of Arrangement)   313,575 –

Overseas KPMG firms

 – Taxation services    115,881 82,933

 – Other assurance services    10,526 15,287

       687,993 347,912

•

•
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Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001
The lead auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page 36 and forms part of the Directors’ Report for the year ended 
30 June 2008.

Rounding Off
The Company is of a kind referred to in Australian Securities and Investments Commission (“ASIC”) Class Order 98/100 dated 
10 July 1998 and in accordance with that Class Order amounts in the financial report and the Directors’ Report have been 
rounded off to the nearest one thousand dollars unless otherwise stated.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

B. G. McKAY
Chairman

B. J. W. WOOD
Managing Director

Dated: twenty second day of August 2008, Sydney
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Lead Auditor’s 
Independence 
Declaration
under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001

To the directors of Australian Worldwide Exploration Limited

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial year ended 30 June 2008 there 
have been:

no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the 
audit; and

no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

KPMG

David Rogers
Partner

Dated at Sydney this twenty second day of August 2008

•

•
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Remuneration 
Report

This report is prepared in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Where appropriate, information which is 
included in other parts of the Annual Financial Report is included in this report by reference.

AWE strives to achieve best practice in all aspects of corporate governance and as such, has adhered to Best Practice 
principles in the Remuneration Report as outlined herein. AWE has also obtained guidance from the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors (“AICD”), the ASX, the International Corporate Governance Network (“ICGN”), industry professionals 
and has relied on market comparative data in the creation of this document and subsequent implementation of 
remuneration policies.

In the June 2006 financial year the Company undertook an independent review of remuneration policies and practices with 
a view to providing greater transparency regarding the Company’s approach to remuneration. The June 2007 Remuneration 
Report detailed these policies and practices and the Remuneration Report was approved by shareholders at the 2007 Annual 
General Meeting (although this vote was advisory only).

The Company has continued to review these practices and during the current financial year undertook an independent review 
to ensure that remuneration packages and policies were competitive and appropriate in today’s environment of high demand 
for scarce human resources which is currently facing the oil and gas industry both in Australia and internationally. With the 
merger of AWE and ARC Energy, further review will be undertaken to establish a consistent approach to remuneration across 
the expanded Company. 

1. Remuneration Policies
1.1 Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on remuneration policies applicable 
to directors and employees.

The role of the Remuneration Committee is documented in a formal charter approved by the Board. A formal charter has been 
in place since 1997 and is reviewed periodically.

The responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to review and make recommendations to the Board on:

policies for employment and remuneration of all AWE staff;

arrangements for executive employment, remuneration and incentives;

the remuneration package of the Managing Director;

the remuneration package of senior executives in consultation with the Managing Director;

recruitment, retention and termination policies and procedures for senior executives;

performance schemes including bonuses and share options based upon measurable milestones;

superannuation arrangements;

the remuneration framework for non-executive directors, within the limit approved by shareholders; and

other matters as requested by the Board.

The Remuneration Committee is to be comprised of not less than two non-executive directors, the majority of whom shall be 
independent. The Remuneration Committee comprises Mr Bruce McKay (Chairman), Mr Colin Green and Mr Edward Smith. 
Meetings are to be held at least once a year. The number of Remuneration Committee meetings and the number of meetings 
attended by each of the members of the Remuneration Committee during the financial year and information regarding 
Committee member experience and responsibilities are set out in the Directors’ Report.

The remuneration policy of AWE is to establish remuneration practices that:

are consistent with the Company’s goals and objectives;

encourage directors and management to pursue the long-term growth and success of the Company within an appropriate 
control framework;

deliver a level and composition of remuneration that is sufficient and reasonable and compares favourably with other 
employers in the industry;

define the relationship of remuneration to corporate and individual performance; and

attract and retain talented and effective directors and employees so as to encourage enhanced performance of 
the Company.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
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Remuneration 
Report
continued

1.2 Remuneration Structures

The Company sets remuneration levels for directors and senior executives at competitive levels to attract, retain and motivate 
appropriately qualified and experienced directors and senior executives. The Remuneration Committee evaluates the 
appropriateness of remuneration packages, given trends in comparable companies, the need to drive a performance-based 
culture and the objectives of the Company’s remuneration strategy.

The Company acknowledges that in the current resources industry there is a scarcity of good quality oil and gas professionals 
available for recruitment and the ability to attract and retain a highly skilled work force is becoming increasingly challenging. 
The Company’s remuneration structures accordingly have responded to these challenges by offering meaningful yet 
responsible remuneration packages and policies. 

The remuneration structures explained below are designed to attract and retain suitably qualified candidates, reward 
the achievement of strategic objectives, and achieve the broader outcome of sufficiently motivating directors and senior 
executives to create value for shareholders. The remuneration structures take into account:

the capability and experience of directors and senior executives;

the ability of directors and senior executives to control the performance of their relevant area of responsibility;

the performance of the consolidated entity including:
the success of exploration and production activities;
compliance with regulatory regimes;
adherence to health, environment and safety policies;
the consolidated entity’s earnings;
the growth in share price and returns to shareholders; 

the level of performance benefits within each executive’s remuneration package; and

the relative value of each component of the remuneration package.

The Company has determined that for the purposes of this report the senior executives of the consolidated entity are:

Senior Executive Position

Mr L. J. Brooks Manager, Australia and International Exploration

Mr R. D. Frith Manager, Australia and International Development and Production

Mr N. F. Kelly Chief Financial Officer/Company Secretary

Mr I. D. Palmer New Zealand Development Manager (from 1 July 2007)

Mr D. Washer Country Manager, New Zealand (from 1 July 2007)

2. Managing Director and Senior Executives
2.1 Mix of Remuneration

Remuneration packages consist of fixed remuneration in the form of base salary and superannuation, short-term performance 
benefits in the form of cash bonuses and long-term performance benefits in the form of employee share options. 

Managing Director – fixed remuneration is to comprise 40-100% of the total remuneration package, short-term performance 
benefits up to 50% of the fixed remuneration and long-term performance benefits up to 50% of total remuneration.

Senior executives – fixed remuneration is to comprise 50-100% of the total remuneration package, short-term performance 
benefits up to 40% of the fixed remuneration and long-term performance benefits up to 50% of total remuneration. The relative 
weighting of each component in the package is dependent on the respective level of the senior executive in the Company, 
the impact the executive has on the outcomes of their areas of responsibility, as well as on the performance of the overall 
Company.

•

•

•
−
−
−
−
−

•

•
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Packages are tailored to individual employees in order to provide maximum encouragement to perform for the benefit of 
shareholders and are designed to reflect labour market demands. The aim of individual remuneration packages is to provide a 
balance between the immediate and the long-term goals of AWE.

Remuneration levels are reviewed at least annually by the Remuneration Committee through a process that considers 
independent externally provided remuneration data and overall performance of the consolidated entity to ensure that 
the remuneration of the Managing Director and senior executives is competitive in the market place. A senior executive’s 
remuneration is also reviewed on promotion.

2.2 Fixed Remuneration

Fixed remuneration consists of base remuneration (which is calculated on a total cost basis and includes any Fringe Benefits 
Tax charges related to employee benefits), as well as employer contributions to superannuation.

2.3 Variable Remuneration

Variable remuneration, which includes both short-term and long-term components, is designed to reward the Managing 
Director and senior executives for meeting or exceeding their respective financial, operational and individual objectives. Those 
benefits are an “at risk” bonus provided in the form of cash and/or employee share options.

Each year, the Board sets the Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) for the Managing Director and the Managing Director sets 
the KPIs for the senior executives. The KPIs take into consideration measures relating to the consolidated entity, the relevant 
part of the business and the individual, and include but are not limited to total shareholder returns, exploration and production 
activities, financial performance, and risk strategy measures. The measures are chosen to align the individual’s reward to the 
KPIs of the consolidated entity and to its strategy and performance.

2.3.1 Short-term Performance Benefi ts

Short-term performance benefits are awarded in the form of cash bonuses paid on an annual basis for performance 
during a given financial year. The award of short-term bonuses is based on a mixture of both consolidated entity and 
individual performance. 

Managing Director
A short-term performance benefit of up to 50% of fixed remuneration can be awarded subject to satisfaction of KPIs as 
approved by the Board. For the June 2008 financial year these KPIs were based on a balanced scorecard approach and 
included measures which reflected:

Safety and environmental performance;

Financial results;

Team leadership; and

Company growth.

Senior executives 
The criteria for the award of short-term performance benefits to senior executives are:

Consolidated Entity Performance – the performance of the consolidated entity against overall corporate KPIs which include 
whether the consolidated entity has substantially met it’s objectives and achieved normalised earnings targets (adjusted for oil 
and gas price movements).

Individual Performance – a combination of individual KPIs and departmental KPIs over which the individual senior executive 
has responsibility. 

KPIs are determined in advance each year and the Remuneration Committee and the Managing Director annually review and 
determine the performance of each senior executive against these KPIs.

There are two reward bands – target (meets performance objectives) and stretch (exceeds performance objectives). 
Achievement of target entitles the senior executive to a short-term performance benefit of 20% of fixed remuneration and 
achievement of stretch targets entitles the senior executive to a short-term performance benefit of up to an additional 20% of 
fixed remuneration. 

In the special circumstance of outstanding individual performance, the Board may award up to 100% of that individual’s short 
term performance benefit even though the above hurdles have not been achieved. This special circumstance is designed to 
retain outstanding employees in times where KPI targets have not been achieved due to circumstances beyond the control of 
the individual senior executive. 

•

•

•

•
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2.3.2 Long-term Performance Benefi ts

Long-term performance benefits are in the form of employee share options granted annually on a three-year rolling basis and 
the number granted is based on the relative level of the individual senior executive in the consolidated entity. 

Long-term performance benefits are granted to senior executives if the consolidated entity achieves an absolute total 
shareholder return (“TSR”) average of at least 10% per annum over the previous rolling three year period. These measures allow 
long-standing shareholders to receive reasonable investment returns before senior executives are granted any options and this 
also aligns the long-term interests of shareholders with the long term performance incentives of the senior executive.

The rolling three-year period causes a smoothing effect in the grant of options and encourages senior executives to adopt a 
longer-term view of consolidated entity performance. This also has a positive impact on employee retention during periods of 
slow growth, as share options would still be issued as a result of good performances in previous years.

In circumstances of superior performance the board may grant options to senior executives in excess of their relative level.

Further all options granted are subject to the satisfaction of conditions for vesting and exercise.

Relative performance criteria used to determine the ability of senior executives to exercise employee share options is 
measured by comparing the consolidated entity’s TSR over a rolling three-year period against a comparator group comprised 
of any combination of the ASX All Ordinaries, ASX 200, ASX Energy Index and comparable international energy companies 
and indices. Depending on the market circumstances, the Board may nominate any one of the above indices or a combination 
to apply as the benchmark in any given year (refer to Section 5.2 for the Relative Performance criteria applying to the June 
2008 financial year). 

Under the relative performance measure, the consolidated entity must outperform the nominated index or indices over the 
previous rolling three-year period for employee share options to vest. If this relative performance measure is not satisfied, then 
only a proportion of employee share options will vest. Further, retesting of this relative performance measure is allowed every 
six months until expiry of the employee share option (which is generally a period of two years). 

In a similar manner to the award of short-term performance benefits, in the special circumstance of outstanding individual 
performance, the board may allow employee share options to be exercised even though the relative performance criteria has 
not been achieved. Again, this is designed to retain outstanding employees in the special circumstance where these targets 
have not been achieved due to circumstances beyond the control of the individual senior executive. 

In addition, employee share options are granted to attract and provide incentive for suitably qualified new employees. 
The normal practice is that such options are also granted with an exercise condition that the relative performance criteria 
must be achieved over the vesting period.

Share options are generally granted with a three year vesting period and can only be exercised by senior executives at the 
end of that three year period on the satisfaction of the relative performance criteria. Accordingly, senior executives will only be 
rewarded in circumstances where both the Company’s share price achieves long-term growth and the relative performance 
criteria has been achieved.

Any options granted are issued under the Employee Share Option Plan (made in accordance with the plan approved by 
shareholders at the time of the float of the Company).

Key terms of the Employee Share Option Plan include:

The exercise price must not be less than the higher of the market price or the minimum price specified in the ASX Listing 
Rules. The market price is determined by the five-day volume weighted average price prior to grant.

The sum of the number of shares issued on the exercise of options in the previous five years and the number of 
unexercised options cannot exceed 5% of the total number of shares on issue at any time.

Options are issued for a term of not more than five years, may have various vesting periods and can only be exercised 
after the conditions of exercise are met.

Without approval from the Chairman, the Managing Director or the Remuneration Committee, senior executives are not 
permitted to enter into ‘hedge contracts’ or other forms of arrangements which may have the effect of fixing the value of, 
or return on, securities which form part of the incentive component of their remuneration or salary package (whether the 
securities are fully vested or not). As a general rule, approval is only likely to be given in exceptional circumstances (which will 
be determined at the discretion of the Chairman, Managing Director or Remuneration Committee as the case may be).

On implementation of the merger with ARC Energy, the Company intends to move towards the issue of Performance Rights 
rather than Employee Share Options as a means to deliver long-term incentive benefits.

•

•

•
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2.3.3 Rationale for Choice of Criteria for Determining Variable Remuneration

The TSR performance criterion was chosen as it is widely accepted as one of the best indicators of shareholder wealth 
creation, as it includes share price growth, dividends and other capital adjustments. The comparator group used to measure 
relative TSR performance is determined annually so that remuneration levels are not purely formula driven and a degree of 
flexibility is retained. This will allow the Remuneration Committee to take into account any abnormal factors that may affect the 
measure of relative TSR performance.

By considering individual, departmental and corporate KPIs the Company rewards the performance of individuals and their 
contribution to achieving the corporate objectives.

The Remuneration Committee considers that the current remuneration structure is generating the desired outcome. The 
evidence for this is that there has been considerable growth in the Company over the last five years and in addition, the 
Company has been successful in attracting and retaining a highly skilled and motivated workforce.

2.4 Other Benefi ts

The personal needs of directors and senior executives may be taken into account when determining the appropriate 
remuneration mix and the Company allows salary sacrifice arrangements to the extent that there is no net cost to the 
Company doing so.

2.5 Service Agreements

Managing Director

On 20 November 2006 the Company announced that Mr Bruce Phillips would not be renewing his employment contract 
as Managing Director but had agreed to stay as Managing Director until the second half of 2007 to oversee the start of 
commercial oil production from the Tui Area oil project.

Accordingly, Mr Phillips resigned as a director at the close of business on 31 August 2007. Other than accrued statutory 
long service and annual leave and rights in respect of participation in the Company’s Employee Share Option Plan no other 
outstanding entitlements have accrued to Mr Phillips under his service agreement dated 12 September 2001.

Mr Phillips was replaced as Managing Director by Mr Bruce Wood, effective 1 September 2007 and at the time of his formal 
appointment details of the service agreement entered into with Mr Wood was disclosed and a summary of these terms are 
as follows:

Term:

Commencement date of 1 September 2007 under a rolling twelve month contract with a minimum term of three years.

Remuneration:

Fixed base component of $600,000 per annum plus 9% superannuation reviewed annually on 1 July.

Short-term performance benefits as summarised in section 2.3.1 of this report.

Long-term performance benefits in the form of employee share options of up to 50% of total remuneration granted 
annually on a rolling three year basis. These options vest if the consolidated entity achieves relative and absolute targeted 
shareholder returns as described in section 5.2 and upon the satisfactory performance of individual KPIs as summarised 
in section 2.3.1.

Details of employee share options granted to Mr Wood pursuant to the approval of shareholders at the 2007 Annual General 
Meeting of the Company are described in section 6 of this report. 

Termination:

The service contract may be terminated under the following circumstances:

 –  Resignation by Mr Wood on twelve months notice;

 –  Termination on twelve months notice by the Company. However, if notice is given in the first three years of 
employment, the longer of the balance of the term or twelve months; or

 –  Termination without notice by the Company for cause.

•

•

•

•
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Senior Executives

It is the Company’s policy that service agreements for senior executives, excluding the Managing Director and four other 
managers, are unlimited in term but capable of termination on one month’s notice and that the Company retains the right to 
terminate the contract immediately, by making payment equal to one month’s pay in lieu of notice. The Company has entered 
into a service agreement with each senior executive, excluding the Managing Director and four other managers, that provides 
for the payment of benefits where the contract is terminated by the Company or the individual. The agreements stipulate that 
senior executives, excluding the Managing Director and four other managers, are entitled, where applicable, to receive long 
service leave after 10 years service and are also entitled to receive on termination of employment their statutory entitlements of 
accrued annual and long service leave, together with any superannuation benefits.

The service agreement outlines the components of remuneration paid to the senior executive but does not prescribe how 
remuneration levels are modified year to year. Remuneration levels are reviewed each year to take into account cost-of-living 
changes, any change in the scope of the role performed by the senior executive and any changes required to meet the 
principles of the remuneration policy.

The Company also has service agreements with four other managers that provide for contingency payments under certain 
circumstances amounting to one year’s remuneration for less than 10 years of service and two years’ remuneration for 
greater than ten years of service in addition to accrued statutory entitlements including long service leave, annual leave and 
superannuation benefits. These payments represented market practice at the time the terms were agreed. Each of the four 
managers has no entitlement to termination payment in the event of removal for misconduct.

On implementation of the merger with ARC Energy the Company will review all employment contracts with senior executives 
(excluding the Managing Director) with a view to aligning and updating terms and conditions across the expanded Company.

3. Non-Executive Directors
Total remuneration for all non-executive directors, last voted upon by shareholders at the 2006 Annual General Meeting of 
the Company, is not to exceed $700,000 per annum. Total remuneration paid to non-executive directors in the financial year 
amounted to $446,463. Fees are set based on review of externally provided remuneration data with reference to fees paid to 
other non-executive directors of comparable companies. Directors’ base fees for the 2008 financial year were as follows: 

     Audit Remuneration  Operations 
    Board Committee Committee Risk Committee

Chair   $115,000 $20,000 $7,500 $7,500

Member   $55,000 $7,500 $5,000 $5,000

In addition to the above an amount of 9% superannuation is paid. 

Non-executive directors do not receive incentive-based remuneration and do not receive any retirement benefits other than 
statutory entitlements.
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4. Directors’ and Executive Offi cers’ Remuneration
Details of the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration of each director of the Company and each of the 
named senior executives are as follows: 

Short-term

Post 
employ-

ment
Other 

long-term

Share-
based 

payments

Salary 
package 
and fees 

(a)

Cash 
bonus 

(b)

Non- 
monetary 

benefits Total

Super- 
annuation 

benefits 
(c) (d)

Value of 
options 

(e) Total

Perfor-
mance
related

Value of 
options

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ % %

Directors
Company and Consolidated entity

B. G. McKay 2008 149,375 – – 149,375 11,644 – – 161,019 – –

2007 117,023 – – 117,023 10,532 – – 127,555 – –
B. J. Phillips 2008 275,000 – 4,237 279,237 24,750 19,582 23,017 346,586 7% 7%

2007 550,000 200,000 8,003 758,003 49,500 4,270 106,566 918,339 33% 12%
B. J. W. Wood 2008 531,250 250,000 – 781,250 47,813 7,790 416,433 1,253,286 53% 33%

2007 93,750 – – 93,750 8,438 2,913 – 105,101 – –
C. C. Green 2008 80,000 – – 80,000 7,200 – – 87,200 – –

2007 73,015 – – 73,015 6,571 – – 79,586 – –
E. S. Smith 2008 67,500 – – 67,500 6,075 – – 73,575 – –

2007 61,793 – – 61,793 5,561 – – 67,354 – –
D. McEvoy 2008 67,500 – – 67,500 6,075 – – 73,575 – –

2007 58,966 – – 58,966 5,308 – – 64,274 – –
A. J. Hogendijk 2008 46,875 – – 46,875 4,219 – – 51,094 – –

2007 – – – – – – – – – –
R. Dumbrell 2008 – – – – – – – – – –

2007 27,798 – 24,772 52,570 – – – 52,570 – –
R. M. Griffin 2008 – – – – – – – – – –

2007 27,028 – 13,210 40,238 – – – 40,238 – –
Total* 2008 1,217,500 250,000 4,237 1,471,737 107,776 27,372 439,450 2,046,335 34% 21%

2007 1,009,373 200,000 45,985 1,255,358 85,910 7,183 106,566 1,455,017 21% 7%

* Mr R. Dumbrell and Mr R. M. Griffin AM retired as directors on 23 November 2006. 
 Mr B. J. W. Wood was appointed a director of the Company on 11 April 2007. 
 Mr B. J Phillips retired as a director of the Company on 31 August 2007 and remained as an employee until 31 December 2007. 
 Mr A. J. Hogendijk was appointed a director of the Company on 4 October 2007. 
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Short-term

Post 
employ-

ment
Other 

long-term

Share-
based 

payments

Salary 
package 
and fees 

(a)

Cash 
bonus 

(b)

Non- 
monetary 

benefits Total

Super- 
annuation 

benefits 
(c) (d)

Value of 
options 

(e) Total

Perfor-
mance
related

Value of 
options

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ % %

Executives
Consolidated entity
L. J. Brooks 2008 298,605 69,760 8,474 376,839 26,874 29,776 136,250 569,739 36% 24%

2007 230,000 40,000 8,003 278,003 20,700 10,714 155,038 464,455 42% 33%
R. D. Frith 2008 298,605 69,760 8,474 376,839 26,874 31,484 136,250 571,447 36% 24%

2007 230,000 50,000 8,003 288,003 20,700 10,714 155,038 474,455 43% 33%
N. F. Kelly 2008 254,373 106,820 8,474 369,667 22,894 32,070 132,830 557,461 43% 24%

2007 200,000 40,000 8,003 248,003 18,000 7,764 151,823 425,590 45% 36%
I. D. Palmer 2008 262,982 106,820 8,474 378,276 23,668 8,501 100,493 510,938 41% 20%

2007 – – – – – – – – – –
D. Washer 2008 309,367 132,316 – 441,683 – – 56,492 498,175 38% 11%

2007 – – – – – – – – – –
Total 2008 1,423,932 485,476 33,896 1,943,304 100,310 101,831 562,315 2,707,760 39% 21%

2007 660,000 130,000 24,009 814,009 59,400 29,192 461,899 1,364,500 43% 34%

Notes in relation to table of directors’ and executives’ remuneration:

a)  Salary package and fees includes amounts salary sacrificed and for Mr McKay includes per diem payments of $20,000 
paid in recognition of additional duties undertaken.

b)  The 2008 cash bonus is for performance during the 30 June 2008 financial year. The amount was finally determined and 
paid in July 2008 after performance reviews were completed and approved by the remuneration committee.

c)  Superannuation benefits include the amount required to be contributed by the consolidated entity by law and does not 
include amounts salary sacrificed.

d) Other long-term benefits comprise the amount of long service leave accrued in the period. 

e)  The fair value of the options is calculated at the grant date using a modified binomial option-pricing model and allocated 
to each reporting period evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date. The value disclosed is the portion of 
the fair value of the options allocated to this reporting period. In valuing the options, market conditions have been taken 
into account. 

  The fair value of options can only be converted to cash by the employee if on exercise of these options the Company’s 
share price exceeds the exercise price by the amount shown as “Fair value per option granted” in the table in Section 6 of 
the Remuneration Report and the employee sells the shares. Option-pricing models for valuing options are an accounting 
guideline only. The reported fair values do not reflect the taxable benefit to the executive.

  The following factors and assumptions were used in determining the fair value of options granted to the Managing 
Director and senior executives in the June 2008 financial year: 

    Weighted 
    average 
     share Exercise Expected Option Expected Risk-free 
Grant Date  price price volatility life dividends rate

11 April 2007* $2.77 $2.77 25.0% 5 years 0% to 3%  6.125%

13 July 2007  $3.56 $3.56 25.0% 5 years 0% to 3%  6.880%

26 November 2007 $3.18 $3.18 25.0% 5 years 0% to 3% 7.290%

*   Options granted to Mr Wood in the previous financial year on his appointment to the board of the Company but which were subject to the approval of 
shareholders at the 2007 Annual General Meeting.
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f)  Amounts disclosed for remuneration exclude insurance premiums paid by the consolidated entity in respect of directors’ 
and officers’ liability insurance contracts. The premium paid has not been allocated to the individuals covered by the 
insurance policy as, based on all available information; the directors believe that no reasonable basis for such allocation 
exists.

5. Analysis of Performance Benefi ts included in Remuneration
The value of options is allocated to each reporting period over the period from grant date to vesting date. Accordingly, 
amounts included as remuneration for the financial year represent that amount allocated to the financial year from the grant of 
options in previous financial years and the current financial year. 

5.1 Award of short-term performance benefi ts

Short term performance benefits in the form of cash bonuses are awarded to the Managing Director and senior executives on 
the achievement of consolidated entity and individual performance KPIs (refer to section 2.3.1 of this report).

The award of bonuses in July 2008 (as detailed in section 4 of this report) was in recognition of these achievements.

Details of the vesting profile of these short-term cash bonuses are as follows:

    Included in  % forfeited 
    remuneration ($) % vested in year
    (a) in year (b)

Directors   

B. J. W. Wood 250,000 76.4% 23.6%

Executives    

L. J. Brooks  69,760 50.0% 50.0%

R. D. Frith  69,760 50.0% 50.0%

N. F. Kelly  106,820 87.5% 12.5%

I. D. Palmer  106,820 87.5% 12.5%

D. Washer  132,316 100.0% 0.0%

(a)  Amounts included in remuneration for the financial year represents the amount that vested in the financial year based on satisfaction of specified 
criteria. No amounts vest in future financial years.

(b)  The amounts forfeited are due to the stretch performance criteria not being met in the financial year. 

5.2 Grant of long-term performance benefi ts

The consolidated entity has adopted a rolling three year TSR performance criteria in determining the ability of the consolidated 
entity to grant long-term performance benefits in the form of employee share options to senior executives (refer to section 
2.3.2 of this report). As the consolidated entity’s absolute TSR for the rolling three year period to 30 June 2008 of 27% was in 
excess of the minimum rate required of 10%, employee share options were granted in August 2008 to senior executives. These 
employee share options will vest, subject to the satisfaction of performance conditions, in July 2011.

Employee share options have been granted in previous financial years, the exercise of which is subject to the satisfaction 
of KPIs in the June 2008 financial year. Certain of these employee share options vest from 31 July 2008 subject to the 
satisfaction of these KPIs in the June 2008 financial year, as more fully described in section 2.3.2 of this report. 

As the consolidated entity’s absolute TSR for the rolling three year period to 30 June 2008 of 27% out-performed the ASX 200 
Index of 7% and was essentially in line with the ASX 200 Energy Index of 28% it was determined that employee share options 
vesting in July 2008 are now capable of exercise by the Managing Director and senior executives.

For details of these options refer to section 6.

No employee share options have been forfeited in the current financial year as a consequence of the performance criteria not 
being met.
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6. Analysis of Share-Based Payments granted as Remuneration
Details of vesting profiles of employee share options granted as remuneration to each director of the Company and each of 
the named senior executives are detailed below:

        Fair value 
       Financial per option 
      Vested years in which granted 
    Number(a) Grant date % options vest $(b)

Directors

B. J. W. Wood* 250,000 26 November 2007 100% 30 June 2009 0.51

    300,000 26 November 2007 100% 30 June 2009 0.62

    250,000 26 November 2007 – 30 June 2010 0.54

    300,000 26 November 2007 – 30 June 2010 0.66

    400,000 26 November 2007 – 30 June 2011 0.68

Executives

L. J. Brooks  450,000 20 March 2006 100% 30 June 2009 0.32

    150,000 21 July 2006 – 30 June 2010 0.65

    150,000 13 July 2007 – 30 June 2011 0.71

    100,000 14 August 2008 – 30 June 2012 0.59

R. D. Frith  450,000 20 March 2006 100% 30 June 2009 0.32

    150,000 21 July 2006 – 30 June 2010 0.65

    150,000 13 July 2007 – 30 June 2011 0.71

    100,000 14 August 2008  – 30 June 2012 0.59

N. F. Kelly  450,000 20 March 2006 100% 30 June 2009 0.32

    130,000 21 July 2006 – 30 June 2010 0.65

    150,000 13 July 2007 – 30 June 2011 0.71

    100,000 14 August 2008  – 30 June 2012 0.59

I. D. Palmer  350,000 20 March 2006 100% 30 June 2009 0.32

    100,000 21 July 2006 – 30 June 2010 0.65

    100,000 13 July 2007 – 30 June 2011 0.71

    100,000 14 August 2008  – 30 June 2012 0.59

D. Washer  50,000 13 July 2007 100% 30 June 2009 0.65

    50,000 21 July 2006 – 30 June 2010 0.65

    100,000 13 July 2007 – 30 June 2011 0.71

    100,000 14 August 2008  – 30 June 2012 0.59

* This grant of options was approved by shareholders at the 2007 Annual General Meeting of the Company. 
(a)  The number of options issued are a consequence of the implementation of a rolling three-year vesting period (refer Section 2.3.2) and the exercise of 

these options are conditional upon satisfaction of key performance indicators as determined by the Remuneration Committee for the financial year prior 
to the financial year in which the option vests.

(b)  The fair value per option granted represents the modified binomial option-pricing model valuation for options granted during the year, and calculated at 
grant date.

(c)  No terms of options granted as remuneration have been altered or modified during the reporting period or the prior period.
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7. Analysis of Movements in Options
The movement during the reporting period, by value, of options granted over ordinary shares in AWE held by each Company 
Director and each of the named senior executives is detailed below:

       Granted during 
       year ended 
       30 June 2008, 
       vesting post 
       30 June 2008
     Grant Date Number ($)

Directors

B. J. W. Wood  26 November 2007 1,500,000 797,040

Executives

L. J. Brooks   13 July 2007 150,000 85,080

R. D. Frith   13 July 2007 150,000 85,080

N. F. Kelly   13 July 2007 150,000 85,080

I. D. Palmer   13 July 2007 100,000 56,720

D. Washer   13 July 2007 150,000 89,320

Total     2,200,000 1,198,320

*   The minimum value of options yet to vest is $Nil as the performance criteria may not be met and consequently the option may not vest. The maximum 
value of options yet to vest is not determinable as it depends on the market price of shares of the Company on the Australian Stock Exchange at the date 
the option vests. 

The value of options granted in the year is the fair value of the options calculated at grant date using a modified binomial 
option-pricing model. The value of options issued is a consequence of the implementation of a rolling three-year vesting 
period (refer Section 2.3.2). This value does not represent the amount expensed as this amount is allocated over applicable 
financial periods to the date of vesting. No options lapsed or were forfeited during the year.

During the financial year, the following shares were issued on the exercise of options previously granted as remuneration:

      Average market 
    Number Amount paid value of shares 
    of shares per share at exercise date
    No. $/share $/share

Directors

B. J. Phillips  1,000,000 1.91 2.98

Executives

L. J. Brooks  – – –

R. D. Frith  500,000 0.92 2.98

    500,000 1.85 3.74

N. F. Kelly  100,000 1.85 3.35

I. D. Palmer  100,000 1.60 3.49
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Corporate 
Governance
Statement
The ASX Corporate Governance Council released its “Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice 
Recommendations” in 2003. Ten principles of corporate governance were developed, supported by best practice and 
implementation recommendations.

Further, in August 2007 the ASX Corporate Governance Council released the second edition of the Corporate Governance 
Principles and Recommendations (“Revised Principles”). Listed entities will be required to report against these Revised 
Principles in the first financial year commencing on or after 1 January 2008. In the case of the Company, disclosure is 
therefore initially required in relation to the 30 June 2009 financial year, however early adoption of the Revised Principles has 
been encouraged. AWE has therefore reviewed the Revised Principles and where applicable has amended its corporate 
governance practices during the financial year and has reported against these Revised Principles in this report. Accordingly, 
not all these recommendations have been complied with for the whole of the financial year.

The Council has recognised that these principles and recommendations do not contain a “one size fits all” solution and that it 
will be necessary for companies to adopt a “fit for purpose” solution in the adoption of these practices.

The ASX Listing Rules require listed entities to disclose the extent to which they have followed the best practice 
recommendations set by the ASX Corporate Governance Council during the reporting period. This corporate governance 
statement summarises the corporate governance practices that have been formally reviewed and adopted by the AWE 
Board with a view to ensuring continued investor confidence in the operations of the Company and endorsing the corporate 
governance principles relevant to a company of AWE’s nature and size. A table has been included at the end of this statement 
detailing the Company’s compliance with the recommendations. 

The Company’s website at www.awexp.com.au contains a corporate governance section that includes copies of the 
Company’s corporate governance policies mentioned in this statement.

Board of Directors
Role of the Board

The responsibilities of the Board are to:

set the strategic direction for the Company and monitor progress of those strategies;

establish policies appropriate for the Company;

monitor the performance of the Company, the Board and management;

approve the business plan and annual work programmes and budgets; 

authorise and monitor major investment and strategic commitments;

review and ratify systems for health, safety and environmental management; risk management and internal control; 
codes of conduct and regulatory compliance;

appoint and monitor performance of the Managing Director; 

report to shareholders, including but not limited to, the financial statements of the Company;

evaluate the performance of the Board and identify and appoint new directors to the Board; and

take responsibility for corporate governance.

Composition of the Board

The names of the directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement and information regarding directors’ 
experience and responsibilities are set out in the Directors’ Report.

The number of directors is specified in the Constitution of the Company as a minimum of three up to a maximum of 10. 
The Board has resolved that it will at all times have a majority of non-executive directors, with at least 50% of directors 
considered to be independent, including the Chairman, who shall be non-executive. 

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
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The preferred skills and experience for a director of AWE include:

exploration and development;

production operations;

finance;

business development; and

public company administration.

Chairman of the Board

The Chairman of the Board will be a non-executive director and the Chairman will be elected by the directors. The Board 
considers that the Chairman, Mr Bruce McKay, is independent.

Independent Directors 

The Board considers that a director is independent if that director complies with the following criteria:

apart from director’s fees and shareholdings, independent directors should not have any business dealings which could 
materially affect their independent judgement;

must not have been in an executive capacity in the Company in the last three years;

must not have been in an advisory capacity to the Company in the last three years;

must not be a significant customer or supplier for the Company;

must not be appointed through a special relationship with another Board member;

must not owe allegiance to a particular group of shareholders which gives rise to a potential conflict of interest;

must not hold conflicting cross directorships; and

must not be a substantial shareholder or a nominee of a substantial shareholder (as defined under section 9 of the 
Corporations Act).

The Board considers that, of a total of six current directors, five are considered to be independent (Mr Bruce McKay, 
Mr Colin Green, Mr Edward Smith, Mr David McEvoy and Mr Andy Hogendijk) and one is considered not to be 
independent (Mr Bruce Wood).

Retirement and Rotation of Directors

Retirement and rotation of directors are governed by the Corporations Act 2001 and the Constitution of the Company. 
Each year, one third of directors must retire and offer themselves for re-election. Any casual vacancy filled will be subject to 
shareholder vote at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Independent Professional Advice 

Each director has the right to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense after consultation with the 
Chairman. Once received, the advice is to be made immediately available to all Board members.

Access to Employees

Directors have the right of access to any employee. Any employee shall report any breach of corporate governance principles 
or Company policies to the Managing Director who shall remedy the breach. If the breach is not rectified to the satisfaction 
of the employee, they shall have the right to report any breach to an independent director without further reference to senior 
executives of the Company. 

Directors’ and Offi cers’ Liability Insurance

Directors’ and officers’ insurance for directors will be arranged by the Company at Company expense.

Share Ownership

Directors are encouraged to own Company shares.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
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Board Meetings

The following points identify the frequency of Board meetings and the extent of reporting from management at the meetings:

a minimum of six meetings are to be held per year;

other meetings will be held as required, meetings can be held by telephone link; and 

information provided to the Board includes all material information on: operations, budgets, cash flows, funding 
requirements, shareholder movements, broker activity in the Company’s securities, assets and liabilities, disposals, 
financial accounts, external audits, internal controls, risk assessments, new venture proposals, and health, safety and 
environmental reports.

The number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of directors) and the number of meetings attended by 
each of the directors of the Company during the financial year are set out in the Directors’ Report.

Board Performance Review 

A review of the Board’s own performance and effectiveness is conducted annually. The review is prepared by the Chairman 
and evaluated by the Board. Each director completes a questionnaire and the collective responses are discussed by the 
Board to identify strengths and areas for improvement. 

The Audit Committee undertakes an annual self-assessment and the Audit Committee charter stipulates that a comprehensive 
review of the Audit Committee is to be undertaken every three years by the Board of Directors. This comprehensive review 
was undertaken in the June 2007 financial year. There is no separate review undertaken for the Remuneration Committee or 
the Operations Risk Committee as it is considered that the Company’s manner of operation does not warrant this individual 
review. No performance evaluation is undertaken for individual directors, while the performance evaluation of management 
and staff is undertaken annually.

Other Areas for Board Review

Reporting to shareholders and the market to ensure trade in the Company’s securities takes place in an efficient, 
competitive and informed market;

succession planning for senior executives and the Board;

insurance, both corporate and joint venture related insurances; and

approval of external directorships for the Managing Director and senior executives and disclosure of external directorships 
by other directors.

Board Committees

Audit Committee 

The role of the Audit Committee is documented in a formal charter approved by the Board. A formal charter has been in place 
since 1997 and the charter is reviewed on an annual basis. 

The Audit Committee’s primary corporate governance role is to assist the Board of Directors in discharging its responsibilities 
in respect of the financial affairs and related matters of the Company and to advise and make appropriate recommendations 
to the Board in respect of such financial responsibilities.

The objectives of the Audit Committee are to:

assist the Board in discharging its responsibility to exercise due care, diligence and skill in relation to the Company’s:

 –  reporting of financial information to users of financial reports;

 –  application of accounting policies;

 –  financial management;

 –  internal control system;

 –  risk management system;

 –  business policies and practices;

 –  protection of the entity’s assets; and

 –  compliance with applicable laws, regulations, standards and best practice guidelines.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
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improve the credibility and objectivity of the accountability process (including financial reporting), especially where the 
role of the Audit Committee and its membership by independent non-executive directors is disclosed to shareholders and 
the public;

provide a forum for communication between the Board and senior financial management;

improve the efficiency of the Board by delegating tasks to the committee and thus allowing more time for issues to be 
discussed in sufficient depth;

improve the effectiveness of the external audit functions and to be a forum for improving communication between the 
Board and the external auditor;

satisfy itself as to the independence of the external auditor (each reporting period the external auditor provides an 
independence declaration in relation to the audit or review); and

improve the quality of internal and external reporting of financial information.

Under its charter, the Audit Committee must be comprised of at least three independent non-executive Board members 
appointed by the Board. Any director who is not a member of the Audit Committee, may attend Audit Committee meetings but 
will have no voting powers at such meetings. Members will have the appropriate skills (including financial literacy) and time 
to fill their role on the Audit Committee. The majority of members will have significant experience with financial and business 
matters. The Managing Director should not be a member of the Audit Committee. The Chairperson of the Board of Directors 
should not be the Chairperson of the Audit Committee.

At the discretion of the Audit Committee, the external auditor and the Managing Director and other executives are invited to 
attend meetings. At least once a year, the Audit Committee meets with the external auditor without executives present. Further, 
at least once a year the Audit Committee meets with the Company’s tax advisers.

The Audit Committee comprises Mr Colin Green (Chairman), Mr David McEvoy and Mr Andy Hogendijk. During the financial 
year, Mr Andy Hogenijk replaced Mr Bruce McKay as a member of the Audit Committee. The charter stipulates that meetings 
are to be held at least twice a year. The number of Audit Committee meetings and number of meetings attended by each of 
the members of the Audit Committee during the financial year and information regarding committee member experience and 
responsibilities are set out in the Directors’ Report.

The Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer declared in writing to the Board that the Company and consolidated 
entity’s financial reports for the year ended 30 June 2008 present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the Company 
and consolidated entity’s financial condition and operational results and are in accordance with relevant accounting 
standards. This representation is made by the Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer prior to the directors’ approval 
of the release of the annual and six monthly accounts. This representation is made after enquiry of, and representation by, 
appropriate levels of management.

Remuneration Committee

The role, responsibilities and objectives of the Remuneration Committee are included in the Remuneration Report. For details 
in relation to the Company’s Share Option Plan, refer to note 21 to the financial statements and to the Remuneration Report. 
For details of remuneration paid to directors and officers for the financial year and the process for evaluating the performance 
of senior executives, please refer to the Remuneration Report. The Remuneration Report is included in the Directors’ Report 
on pages 37 to 47. 

Operations Risk Committee 

The role of the Operations Risk Committee is documented in a formal set of guidelines approved by the Board.

The Operations Risk Committee’s primary corporate governance role is to advise and assist the Board of Directors 
in assessing risk factors associated with the execution of projects in which the consolidated entity has equity or 
participatory interests.

The responsibilities of the Operations Risk Committee are:

to evaluate with senior executives the probability of achieving the objectives of the consolidated entity’s 
participatory projects;

to identify the greatest risk factors of the projects, and to review any planned actions to mitigate such risks; and

to develop an understanding with management whereby the Operations Risk Committee is notified promptly if any 
adverse changes to project risks occur.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
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The Operations Risk Committee will be comprised of not less than three non-executive directors, and whenever possible, 
the majority of members will have significant experience in oil and gas projects. The members of the Operations Risk 
Committee are Mr Edward Smith (Chairman), Mr Bruce McKay and Mr David McEvoy. Meetings are to be scheduled prior to 
the commencement of each calendar year. The number of Operations Risk Committee meetings and the number of meetings 
attended by each of the members of the Operations Risk committee during the financial year and information regarding 
Committee member experience and responsibilities are set out in the Directors’ Report.

Risk Management
The risks involved in an oil and gas exploration, development and production company and the specific uncertainties for the 
Company continue to be regularly monitored and the full Board of the Company meets on an annual basis to formally review 
such risks. Additionally, and as a consequence of the increasing size and complexity of the Company’s operations, during the 
June 2008 financial year the Company conducted a thorough review of the material business risks facing both the Company 
and the industry and is now implementing a detailed structure around ongoing risk management and reporting. The results of 
this review are now being incorporated into the Company’s business practices and policies.

Further, all investment proposals reviewed by the Board include a conscious consideration of the issues and risks of the 
proposal. In addition, the Board of the Company has established an Operations Risk Committee.

The potential exposures with running the Company have been managed by the appointment of senior staff who have 
significant broad-ranging industry experience, work together as a team and regularly share information on current activities.

Additionally, it is the responsibility of the Audit Committee to assess the adequacy of the Company’s internal control systems 
and to ensure that its financial affairs comply with applicable laws and regulations and professional practices. The Managing 
Director and the Chief Financial Officer have declared in writing to the Board that the financial reporting risk management 
and associated compliance and controls have been assessed and found to be operating effectively. This representation is 
made by the Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer prior to the directors’ approval of the release of the annual and six 
monthly accounts. This representation is made after enquiry of, and representation by, appropriate levels of management.

Promotion of Ethical and Responsible Decision-Making
Code of Conduct 

The goal of establishing AWE as a significant Australian-based petroleum exploration and production company is 
underpinned by its core values of honesty, integrity, common sense and respect for people. AWE desires to remain a good 
corporate citizen and appropriately balance, protect and preserve all stakeholders’ interests.

The Board has adopted a Code of Conduct for directors and employees of the Company. The Company’s goal of achieving 
above average wealth creation for our shareholders should be enhanced by complying with this Code of Conduct, which 
provides principles with which directors, key executives and employees should be familiar and with which they are expected to 
adhere and advocate. 

Further, due to the Company’s expanding international operations a separate Code of Conduct – Foreign Jurisdictions Policy 
was adopted in the June 2008 financial year.

It is the responsibility of the Board to monitor the Company’s performance under these Codes and for their regular review.

Trading in Company Securities by Directors, Offi cers and Employees

Trading of AWE’s shares is covered by, amongst other things, the Corporations Act and the ASX Listing Rules. The Board has 
established a Securities Trading Policy that establishes strict guidelines as to when a director, officer or an employee can deal 
in Company shares. The policy prohibits trading in the Company’s securities during designated blackout periods and whilst 
the director, officer or employee is in the possession of price-sensitive information. The policy also describes the Company’s 
policy in respect of equity based remuneration “hedge contracts”.

This policy was reviewed and updated in the June 2008 financial year.

For details of shares held by directors and officers, please refer to the Directors’ Report and note 33 to the financial statements.
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Shareholder Communications
The Board aims to ensure that shareholders and investors have equal access to the Company’s information.

The Company has policies and procedures that are designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure 
requirements and to ensure accountability at a senior executive level for that compliance. This disclosure policy includes 
processes for the identification of matters that may have a material effect on the price of the Company’s securities, notifying 
them to the ASX and posting them on the Company’s website.

The Company also has a strategy to promote effective communication with shareholders and encourage effective 
participation at general meetings through a policy of open disclosure to shareholders, regulatory authorities and the broader 
community of all material information with respect to the Company’s affairs including, but not limited to:

conflicts of interest and related party transactions;

executive remuneration;

grant of options and details of Share Option Plans;

external directorships; 

process for performance evaluation of the Board, its committees, individual directors and key executives;

the link between remuneration paid to directors and key executives and corporate performance; and

shorter, more comprehensible notices of meetings.

The following information is communicated to shareholders:

the Annual Report and notices of meetings of shareholders;

for those shareholders electing not to be mailed a copy of the Annual Report, a copy can be viewed on the 
Company’s website;

quarterly reports reviewing the operations, activities and financial position of the Company;

all documents that are released to the ASX are made available on the Company’s website and via the website, 
shareholders may elect to receive notification of all ASX releases; 

all other information on the Company’s website is updated on a quarterly basis; and

it is the intention of the Company to commence webcasting key events such as profit results and Annual General Meetings.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
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ASX Best Practice Recommendations
The table below identifies the ASX Best Practice Recommendations (Revised Principles) and whether or not the Company has 
complied with the recommendations during the reporting period:

Complied Note

1.1 Establish the functions reserved to the board and those delegated to senior management and 
disclose those functions

✔

1.2 Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of senior executives ✔

1.3 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 1 ✔

2.1 A majority of the board should be independent directors ✔

2.2 The chair should be an independent director ✔

2.3 The roles of chair and chief executive officer should not be exercised by the same individual ✔

2.4 The board should establish a nomination committee 1

2.5 Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of the board, its committees and individual 
directors

2

2.6 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 2 1

3.1 Establish a code of conduct and disclose the code or a summary of the code as to: : ✔

the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the company’s integrity•

the practices necessary to take into account their legal obligations and the reasonable 
expectations of their stakeholders

•

the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating reports of 
unethical practices

•

3.2 Disclose the policy concerning trading in company securities by directors, senior executives and 
employees, and disclose the policy or a summary of that policy 

✔

3.3 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 3 ✔

4.1 The board should establish an audit committee ✔

4.2 Structure the audit committee so that it consists of: ✔

only non-executive directors•

a majority of independent directors•

an independent chair, who is not chair of the board•

at least three members•

4.3 The audit committee should have a formal charter ✔

4.4 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 4 ✔

5.1 Establish written policies designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure 
requirements and to ensure accountability at a senior executive level for that compliance and 
disclose those policies or a summary of those policies

✔

5.2 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 5 ✔

6.1 Design a communications policy for promoting effective communication with shareholders and 
encouraging their participation at general meetings and disclose their policy or a summary of 
that policy

✔

6.2 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 6 ✔
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Complied Note

7.1 Companies should establish policies for the oversight and management of material business 
risks and disclose a summary of those policies

3

7.2 The board should require management to design and implement the risk management and 
internal control system to manage the company’s material business risks and report to it on 
whether those risks are being managed effectively. The board should disclose that management 
has reported to it as to the effectiveness of the company’s management of its material business 
risks 

✔

7.3 The board should disclose whether it has received assurance from the chief executive officer 
(or equivalent) and the chief financial officer (or equivalent) that the declaration provided in 
accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act is founded on a sound system of risk 
management and internal control and that the system is operating effectively in relation to 
financial reporting risks

✔

7.4 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 7 ✔

8.1 The board should establish a remuneration committee ✔

8.2 Clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive directors’ remuneration from that of executive 
directors and senior executives

✔

8.3 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 8 ✔

Note 1 

The Board of Directors of the Company does not have a nomination committee. The Board is of the opinion that due to the 
nature of the Company, the functions performed by a nomination committee can be adequately handled by the full Board. 

Note 2 

The Corporate Governance Statement summarises the process the Board undertakes in reviewing its performance. The Audit 
Committee undertakes an annual self-assessment and the Audit Committee charter stipulates that a comprehensive review of 
the Audit Committee is to be undertaken every three years by the Board of Directors. There is no separate review undertaken 
for the Remuneration Committee or the Operations Risk Committee, as it is considered that due to the nature of the Company 
this individual review is not warranted. No performance evaluation is undertaken for individual directors, while the performance 
evaluation of management and staff is undertaken annually.

Note 3

As a consequence of the increasing size and complexity of the Company’s operations, during the June 2008 financial year the 
Company conducted a thorough review of the material business risks facing both the Company and the industry and is now 
implementing a detailed structure around ongoing risk management and reporting. The results of this review are now being 
incorporated into the Company’s business practices and policies.
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Income 
Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2008

 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
    Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue   2 821,473 144,204 – –

Cost of sales  3 (212,635) (74,386) – –

Gross profit   608,838 69,818 – –

Other income 4 – 6,026 55,750 21,675

Exploration and evaluation expenses  (80,474) (22,923) – –

Development and other capitalised 
expenses written off  (665) (5,954) – –

Administration expenses  (7,076) (4,930) (1,780) (1,628)

Other expenses 5 (17,068) (1,529) (2,136) (1,668)

Results from operating activities  503,555 40,508 51,834 18,379

Financial income  8,220 6,274 513 378

Financial expenses  (7,804) (11,249) – –

Net financing income/(expenses)  6 416 (4,975) 513 378

Profit before taxation  503,971 35,533 52,347 18,757

Taxation (expense)/benefit  7 (239,616) (151) 8,361 5,004

Profit for the year  264,355 35,382 60,708 23,761

Profit for the year attributable to 
equity holders of the parent  264,355 35,382 60,708 23,761

Basic earnings per ordinary share (cents) 8 58.78 7.92

Diluted earnings per ordinary share (cents) 8 56.82 7.68

The income statements are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 60 to 92.
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Balance 
Sheets
As at 30 June 2008

 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
    Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 11 339,190 65,650 18,097 5,394

Trade and other receivables 12 112,277 22,427 71,035 16,141

Inventory  13 3,302 – – –

Total current assets  454,769 88,077 89,132 21,535

Non-current assets

Investments  14 – – 487,028 474,834

Exploration and evaluation assets 15 22,363 22,315 3,146 –

Oil and gas assets 16 489,659 586,469 – –

Other property, plant and equipment 17 461 434 – –

Intangible assets 18 963 98 – –

Deferred tax assets 24 – 17,356 13,981 18,823

Total non-current assets  513,446 626,672 504,155 493,657

Total assets   968,215 714,749 593,287 515,192

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 19 42,418 34,579 2,651 594

Employee benefits 21 666 591 – –

Taxation payable 23 84,015 4,663 8,551 –

Cash flow hedge liabilities 25 – 7,137 – –

Total current liabilities  127,099 46,970 11,202 594

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities 20 – 110,085 – –

Employee benefits 21 349 276 – –

Provisions  22 31,740 16,051 – –

Deferred tax liabilities 24 19,322 6,618 – –

Total non-current liabilities  51,411 133,030 – –

Total liabilities  178,510 180,000 11,202 594

Net assets   789,705 534,749 582,085 514,598

Equity

Issued capital 26 533,386 528,526 533,386 528,526

Reserves   (20,177) (5,918) 4,774 2,855

Retained earnings/(accumulated losses)  276,496 12,141 43,925 (16,783)

Total equity   789,705 534,749 582,085 514,598

The balance sheets are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 60 to 92.
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 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
    Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts in the course of operations  752,403 153,074 – –

Cash payments in the course of operations  (107,892) (47,446) (1,398) (2,533)

Interest received  7,862 6,491 501 398

Borrowing costs paid  (5,211) (10,816) – –

Settlement of condensate forward contracts  (9,381) (13,316) – –

Income taxes paid  (128,302) (26) – –

Dividend received – related parties  – – 31,075 –

Contribution received from controlled entities 
under a tax funding agreement  – – 21,753 9,481

Net cash provided by operating activities 31 509,479 87,961 51,931 7,346

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds on disposal of joint venture interests 
(net of cash balance disposed)  – 4,813 – –

Payments for:     

 Exploration, evaluation and development  (115,870) (173,811) (3,146) –

 Other plant and equipment and intangibles  (432) (418) – –

Net cash used in investing activities  (116,302) (169,416) (3,146) –

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of share capital  4,888 2,260 4,888 2,260

Payments for costs of equity raising  (28) (14) (28) (14)

Proceeds from borrowings  – 113, 647 – –

Repayment of borrowings  (110,209) (119,647) – –

Advances to controlled entities  – – (40,834) (14,135)

Net cash used in financing activities  (105,349) (3,754) (35,974) (11,889)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held  287,828 (85,209) 12,811 (4,543)

Cash at the beginning of the financial year  65,650 156,424 5,394 10,076

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on the balances 
of cash held in foreign currencies  (14,288) (5,565) (108) (139)

Cash at the end of the financial year  11 339,190 65,650 18,097 5,394

The statements of cash flows are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 60 to 92.

Statements 
of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2008
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Statements of 
Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2008

      Equity
     Compen
    Share –sation Translation Hedging Retained
    Capital Reserve Reserve Reserve Earnings  Total
Consolidated $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 30 June 2006 526,280 1,372 787 (7,420) (23,241) 497,778

Shares issued 2,260 – – – – 2,260

Transaction costs arising from the 
issue of shares (14) – – – – (14)

Foreign exchange translation differences – – (9,560) – – (9,560)

Cash flow hedge fair value movement – – – 7,420 – 7,420

Share option plan – 1,483 – – – 1,483

Profit for the year – – – – 35,382 35,382

Balance at 30 June 2007 528,526 2,855 (8,773) – 12,141 534,749

Shares issued 4,888 – – – – 4,888

Transaction costs arising from the 
issue of shares (28) – – – – (28)

Foreign exchange translation differences – – (16,178) – – (16,178)

Share option plan – 1,919 – – – 1,919

Profit for the year – – – – 264,355 264,355

Balance at 30 June 2008 533,386 4,774 (24,951) – 276,496 789,705

      Equity
     Compen
    Share –sation Translation Hedging Retained
    Capital Reserve Reserve Reserve Earnings  Total
The Company $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 30 June 2006 526,280 1,372 – – (40,544) 487,108

Shares issued 2,260 – – – – 2,260

Transaction costs arising from the 
issue of shares (14) – – – – (14)

Share option plan – 1,483 – – – 1,483

Profit for the year – – – – 23,761 23,761

Balance at 30 June 2007 528,526 2,855 – – (16,783) 514,598

Shares issued 4,888 – – – – 4,888

Transaction costs arising from the 
issue of shares (28) – – – – (28)

Share option plan – 1,919 – – – 1,919

Profit for the year – – – – 60,708 60,708

Balance at 30 June 2008 533,386 4,774 – – 43,925 582,085

The statements of changes in equity are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 60 to 92.
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1. Statement of signifi cant accounting policies
Australian Worldwide Exploration Limited (the “Company”) is a company domiciled in Australia. The consolidated financial 
report of the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2008 comprises the Company and its controlled entities (together 
referred to as the “consolidated entity”).

The consolidated financial report was authorised for issue by the directors on 22 August 2008.

(a) Statement of compliance

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards (“AASBs”) (including Australian Interpretations) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (“AASB”) 
and the Corporations Act 2001. The consolidated financial report of the consolidated entity also complies with IFRSs and 
interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

(b) Basis of preparation

The financial report is presented in Australian Dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency and the functional currency 
of the majority of controlled entities within the consolidated entity.

At the date of authorisation of this financial report a number of Accounting Standards and Interpretations had been issued but 
were not yet effective. The consolidated entity anticipates that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future 
reporting periods is not expected to have a material effect, however, they may have disclosure impact.

The financial report is prepared on the historical cost basis except that derivative financial instruments are stated at their fair 
value.

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with that Class Order, 
amounts in the financial report and Directors’ Report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise 
stated.

The preparation of a financial report in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 
income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about 
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. These accounting policies have been consistently applied by each entity in the consolidated entity.

The most significant estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year relate to estimates of recoverable quantities of economically 
recoverable reserves, the provision for restoration and the method of accounting for Petroleum Resource Rent Tax and other 
government royalties. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of 
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in this consolidated 
financial report.

(c) Basis of consolidation

(i) Controlled entities

Controlled entities are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has the power, directly or 
indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing 
control, potential voting rights that presently are exercisable or convertible are taken into account. The financial statements of 
controlled entities are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date 
that control ceases.

(ii) Jointly controlled operations and assets

The interests of the Company and of the consolidated entity in unincorporated joint ventures and jointly controlled assets are 
brought to account by recognising in the financial statements the proportionate share of the assets they control, the liabilities and 
expenses they incur, and their share of the income that they earn from the sale of goods or services by the joint venture.

(iii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Notes to the 
Financial Statements
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(d) Foreign currency

(i) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated at the foreign exchange rate 
ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income statement. Non-monetary 
assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate 
at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair 
value are translated at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.

(ii) Financial statements of foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, are 
translated to Australian dollars at foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The revenues and expenses of 
foreign operations, excluding foreign operations in hyperinflationary economies, are translated to Australian dollars at rates 
approximating to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. The revenues, expenses, assets and 
liabilities of foreign operations in hyperinflationary economies are translated to Australian dollars at the foreign exchange rates 
ruling at the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange differences arising on retranslation are recognised directly in a separate 
component of equity.

(e) Derivative fi nancial instruments 

The consolidated entity uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange, commodity price 
and interest rate risks arising from operational, financing and investment activities. In accordance with its treasury policy, the 
consolidated entity does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. However, derivatives that do 
not qualify for hedge accounting are accounted for as trading instruments.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivative financial 
instruments are stated at fair value. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
However, where derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of 
the item being hedged (see accounting policy f).

The fair value of interest rate swaps is the estimated amount that the consolidated entity would receive or pay to terminate 
the swap at the balance sheet date, taking into account current interest rates and the current creditworthiness of the swap 
counterparties. The fair value of commodity price contracts is their quoted market price at the balance sheet date, being the 
present value of the quoted forward price.

(f) Hedging

Cash fl ow hedges

Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset or 
liability, or a highly probable forecasted transaction, the effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial instrument 
is recognised directly in equity. When the forecasted transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial 
asset or non-financial liability, or the forecast transaction for a non-financial asset or non-financial liability becomes a firm 
commitment for which fair value hedge accounting is applied, the associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity 
and included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability. If a hedge of a forecasted 
transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability, the associated gains and losses 
that were recognised directly in equity are reclassified into profit or loss in the same period or periods during which the asset 
acquired or liability assumed affects profit or loss (i.e. when interest income or expense is recognised). For cash flow hedges, 
other than those covered by the preceding two policy statements, the associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from 
equity and recognised in the income statement in the same period or periods during which the hedged forecast transaction 
affects profit or loss. The ineffective part of any gain or loss is recognised immediately in the income statement.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the entity revokes designation of the hedge 
relationship, but the hedged forecast transaction is still expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss at that point remains 
in equity and is recognised in accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no 
longer expected to take place, the cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is recognised immediately in the 
income statement.
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Notes to the 
Financial Statements
  continued 

1. Statement of signifi cant accounting policies continued
(g) Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Company’s and the consolidated entity’s assets, other than inventories (refer note 1(j)) and 
deferred tax assets (refer note 1(s)(i)), are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable 
amount.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less cost to sell and value in use. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely 
independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Reversals of impairment

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and 
form an integral part of the consolidated entity’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents 
for the purpose of the statement of cash flows. 

(i) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are stated at their cost less impairment losses.

(j) Inventory

Oil inventory is recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on an average basis and includes 
production costs and amortisation of producing oil and gas assets. 

(k) Property, plant and equipment

(i) Oil and gas assets

The cost of oil and gas producing assets and capitalised expenditure on oil and gas assets under development are accounted 
for separately and are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Costs include expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of the item as well as past exploration and evaluation costs. In addition, 
costs include, (i) the initial estimate at the time of installation and during the period of use, when relevant, of the costs of 
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and (ii) changes in the measurement of 
existing liabilities recognised for these costs resulting from changes in the timing or outflow of resources required to settle the 
obligation or from changes in the discount rate. 

When an oil and gas asset commences production, costs carried forward will be amortised on a units of production basis over 
the life of the economically recoverable reserves. Changes in factors such as estimates of economically recoverable reserves that 
affect amortisation calculations do not give rise to prior financial period adjustments and are dealt with on a prospective basis.

(ii) Other plant and equipment

The cost of other plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Costs include, (i) 
the initial estimate at the time of installation and during the period of use, when relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing 
the items, and (ii) changes in the measurement of existing liabilities recognised for these costs resulting from changes in the 
timing or outflow of resources required to settle the obligation or from changes in the discount rate. 

Other plant and equipment is depreciated using the straight line method over its estimated useful life. The depreciation rates 
used for other plant and equipment are in the range 7.5% to 27% (2007: 7.5% to 27%). 

(iii) Leased assets

Leases of plant and equipment, under which the consolidated entity assumes all the risks and benefits of ownership, are 
classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised and depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Operating leases are not capitalised.



63

(l) Exploration and evaluation

Exploration and evaluation costs are accumulated in respect of each separate area of interest and are accounted for using the 
successful efforts method of accounting. An area of interest is usually represented by an individual oil or gas field.

The cost of acquisition of joint venture interests, successful drilling costs and costs incurred in relation to feasibility studies and 
the technical evaluation of a potential development are carried forward where right to tenure of the area of interest is current 
and they are expected to be recouped through sale or successful development and exploitation of the area of interest, or 
where the assessment to determine the existence of economically recoverable reserves for a potential development in an area 
of interest are not yet complete. 

All other exploration and evaluation costs are expensed as incurred.

(m) Capitalised borrowing costs

Borrowing costs relating to oil and gas assets under development up to the date of commencement of operations, are 
capitalised as a cost of the development. Where funds are borrowed specifically for qualifying projects the actual borrowing 
costs incurred are capitalised. Where the projects are funded through general borrowings the borrowing costs are capitalised 
based on the weighted average borrowing rate.

(n) Intangible assets

The costs of computer software and loan establishment fees are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses.

(o) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated at cost.

(p) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption value 
being recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

(q) Employee benefi ts

(i) Wages, salaries and annual leave

The provisions for employee entitlements to wages, salaries and annual leave represents the amount which the consolidated 
entity has a present obligation to pay resulting from employees’ services provided up to the reporting date. The provisions 
have been calculated at undiscounted amounts based on wage and salary rates that the consolidated entity expects to pay 
and include related on-costs.

(ii) Long-term service benefi ts

Long service leave represents the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made resulting from employees’ 
services provided to reporting date. The provision is calculated using estimated future increases in wage and salary 
rates including related on-costs and expected settlement dates based on turnover history and is discounted using the 
rates attaching to national government securities at balance date which most closely match the terms of maturity of the 
related liabilities.

(iii) Share-based payment transactions

The Company has granted options to certain employees under an employee share plan. The fair value of options granted is 
recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and 
expensed over the period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. The fair value of the 
options granted is measured using a modified binomial option pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions 
upon which the options were granted. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share 
options that vest except where forfeiture is only due to share prices not achieving the threshold for vesting

(iv) Superannuation plans

Obligations for contributions to accumulation type superannuation plans are recognised as an expense in the income 
statement as incurred. 
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Notes to the 
Financial Statements
  continued 

1. Statement of signifi cant accounting policies continued
(r) Provisions

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the consolidated entity has a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If 
the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Site restoration

Provisions made for environmental rehabilitation are recognised where there is a present obligation as a result of exploration, 
development or production activities having been undertaken, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation. The estimated future obligations include the costs of removing facilities, abandoning wells 
and restoring the affected areas. The provision for future restoration costs is the best estimate of the present value of the 
expenditure required to settle the obligation at the reporting date, based on current legal requirements and technology. Future 
restoration costs are reviewed annually and any changes are reflected in the present value of the restoration provision at the 
end of the reporting period. The amount of the provision for future restoration costs relating to exploration and development 
activities is capitalised as a cost of those activities. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money, and where 
appropriate the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of discounting on the provision is recognised as a finance cost.

(s) Revenue recognition

(i) Sales revenue

Revenue from the sale of oil and gas is recognised in the income statement when the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership have been transferred to the buyer. Revenue received during the commissioning phase of oil and gas assets is 
recorded, together with the related costs of production, against the capitalised carrying value of the asset.

(ii) Interest and royalty revenue

Interest and royalties are recognised on an accruals basis. 

(t) Taxation

(i) Income tax

Income tax on the income statement comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at 
the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following 
temporary differences are not provided for: goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or 
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in controlled entities to 
the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on 
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit 
will be realised.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised at the same time as the liability to pay the 
related dividend.

(ii) Petroleum Resource Rent Tax (“PRRT”) and other government royalties

Resource rent taxes and government royalties are treated as taxation arrangements when they are imposed under 
Government authority and when the calculation of the amount payable falls within the definition of “taxable profit” for the 
purposes of AASB 112. Current and deferred tax is then provided on the same basis as described in (i) above. Royalty 
arrangements that do not meet the criteria for treatment as a tax are recognised on an accruals basis.
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(iii) Tax consolidation

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities have formed a tax consolidated group with effect from 
1 July 2003 and are therefore taxed as a single entity from that date. The head entity within the tax consolidated group is 
Australian Worldwide Exploration Limited.

Current tax expense/income, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences of the 
members of the tax-consolidated group are recognised in the separate financial statements of the members of the 
tax-consolidated group using a modified stand alone tax allocation methodology.

Any current tax liabilities (or assets) and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses of the controlled entities are 
assumed by the head entity in the tax-consolidated group and are recognised as amounts payable (receivable) to (from) other 
entities in the tax-consolidated group in conjunction with any tax funding arrangements.

The Company recognises deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses of the tax-consolidated group to the extent that 
it is probable that future taxable profits of the tax-consolidated group will be available against which the asset can be utilised. 
Any subsequent period adjustments to deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses as a result of revised assessments 
of the probability of recoverability is recognised by the head company only.

(iv) Nature of tax funding and tax sharing arrangements

The head entity, in conjunction with other members of the tax-consolidated group, has entered into a tax funding arrangement 
which sets out the funding obligations of members of the tax-consolidated group in respect of tax amounts. The tax funding 
arrangements require payments to/from the head entity equal to the current tax liability (asset) assumed by the head entity 
and any tax-loss deferred tax asset assumed by the head entity, resulting in the head entity recognising an inter-entity 
receivable (payable) equal in amount to the tax liability (asset) assumed. The inter-entity receivable (payable) is at call.

(u) Goods and services tax

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (“GST”), except where the 
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part 
of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, 
or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office (“ATO”) is included as a current asset or liability in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.

(v) Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the consolidated entity that is engaged either in providing products or services 
(business segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical segment), 
which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.

 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2. Revenue
Sales revenue – oil and gas  821,230 142,690 – –

Other revenue

Overriding royalties  – 1,266 – –

Equipment rentals  121 88 – –

Other    122 160 – –

     243 1,514 – –

     821,473 144,204 – –
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 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

3. Cost of sales
Production costs  82,481 29,096 – –

Amortisation   133,556 45,290 – –

Movement in inventory  (3,402) – – –

     212,635 74,386 – –

4. Other income
Foreign exchange gain  – 151 – –

Net gain on sale of joint venture interests  – 4,937 – –

Hedge ineffectiveness gain  – 938 – –

Dividend income – related parties  – – 31,075 –

Impairment reversal of loss on investment in controlled entities – – 12,194 21,190

Impairment reversal of receivables due from controlled entities – – 12,481 485

     – 6,026 55,750 21,675

5. Other expenses
Hedge ineffectiveness loss  2,243 – – –

Share option plan  2,029 1,529 2,029 1,529

Foreign exchange loss  12,796 – 107 139

     17,068 1,529 2,136 1,668

6. Net fi nancing income/(expenses)
Interest income:

 Other parties  8,220 6,274 513 378

Financial income  8,220 6,274 513 378

Interest expense  (4,048) (8,272) – –

Other borrowing costs   (1,418) (4,493) – –

Unwinding of discount – restoration provisions  (2,338) (932) – –

     (7,804) (13,697) – –

Less: Borrowing costs capitalised  – 2,448 – –

Financial expenses  (7,804) (11,249) – –

Net financing income/(expenses)  416 (4,975) 513 378



67

 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

7. Taxation (expense)/benefi t
Recognised in income statement

Current tax (expense)/ benefit:

Current year   (210,057) 3,884 (8,551) –

Contribution from controlled entities under 
a tax funding agreement  – – 23,233 9,481

Adjustments for prior years  501 – (1,480) –

     (209,556) 3,884 13,202 9,481

Deferred tax expense:

Origination and reversal of temporary differences  21,862 (16,801) (44) 273

Net effect of tax losses recognised  (25,981) 14,847 (4,797) (3,960)

Adjustments for prior years  – (790) – (790)

     (4,119) (2,744) (4,841) (4,477)

Deferred PRRT and royalty related tax expense  (25,941) (1,291) – –

Total tax (expense)/benefit  (239,616) (151) 8,361 5,004

Numerical reconciliation between tax (expense)/benefit 

and pre-tax net result:

Profit before income tax  503,971 35,533 52,347 18,757

Prima facie taxation expense at 30% (2007: 30%)  (151,191) (10,660) (15,704) (5,627)

(Increase)/decrease in income tax expense due to:

Non-deductible expenses   (6,741) (3,553) (609) (459)

Recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses  9,141 14,847 9,141 5,521

Effect of tax rates of foreign jurisdictions  (12,400) 676 – –

Foreign exchange and other translation adjustments  (492) 1,787 – –

Royalty related taxation (net of income tax benefit)  (51,703) – – –

Deferred PRRT and royalty related tax expense  (25,941) (1,291) – –

Tax exempt income   – – 9,323 –

Net impairment reversal – controlled entities  – – 7,402 6,503

Other    (790) (1,167) 288 (144)

Adjustments for prior years  501 (790) (1,480) (790)

     (239,616) (151) 8,361 5,004
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  Consolidated

       2008 2007
       $’000 $’000

8. Earnings per share
Profit reconciliation

Basic and diluted earnings    264,355 35,382

  Consolidated

       2008 2007
       Number Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Issued ordinary shares – opening balance    448,232,675 445,807,675

Effect of shares issued    1,527,432 860,411

Weighted average number of ordinary shares    449,760,107 446,668,086

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 30 June    449,760,107 446,668,086

Effect of employee share options on issue    15,529,895 14,258,424

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)    465,290,002 460,926,510

 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
     $ $ $ $

9. Auditors’ remuneration
Audit services

Auditors of the Company

 KPMG Australia

 – Audit and review of financial reports  168,895 174,952 156,030 157,281

 Overseas KPMG firms

 – Audit and review of financial reports  6,477 4,641 – –

     175,372 179,593 156,030 157,281

 Other auditors

 – Audit and review of financial reports  2,547 3,583 – –

     177,919 183,176 156,030 157,281

Other services

Auditors of the Company

 KPMG Australia

 – Taxation compliance services  248,011 249,692 248,011 249,692

 –  Taxation services 
(Scheme of Arrangement with ARC Energy Limited) 313,575 – 313,575 –

 Overseas KPMG firms

 – Taxation services  115,881 82,933 – –

 –  Other assurance services  10,526 15,287 – –

     687,993 347,912 561,586 249,692
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10. Segment reporting
Business segments

The consolidated entity operates in one business segment, namely exploration, development and production of oil and gas.

Geographical segments

 Australia New Zealand Other* Consolidated

   2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

External revenue 169,684 143,688 651,379 155 410 361 821,473 144,204

Segment result/(loss) 35,809 50,392 494,697 (13,094) (19,877) (1,721) 510,629 35,577

Unallocated       (6,658) (44)

Income tax expense       (239,616) (151)

Net profit after tax       264,355 35,382

Depreciation and 
Amortisation (52,091) (45,433) (81,677) – – – (133,768) (45,433)

Segment assets 357,480 426,317 259,301 222,782 12,244 – 629,025 649,099

Unallocated       339,190 65,650

         968,215 714,749

Segment liabilities 60,353 154,389 109,351 25,338 8,806 273 178,510 180,000

* The other segment includes Indonesian and Argentinean operations. 

 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

11. Cash and cash equivalents
Bank balances  6,332 26,533 189 934

Call deposits   319,015 20,715 17,908 4,460

Cash held by joint ventures  13,843 18,402 – –

     339,190 65,650 18,097 5,394

12. Trade and other receivables
Current

Trade receivables  93,776 16,008 – –

Interest receivable  435 77 39 23

Amounts receivable from controlled entities  – – 68,479 15,163

Joint venture receivables  13,534 3,947 – –

Prepayments   389 1,971 – 955

Other    4,143 424 2,517 –

     112,277 22,427 71,035 16,141

13. Inventories
Current

Finished goods  3,302 – – –
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 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

14. Investments
Non-current 

Investment in controlled entities (net)  – – 487,028 474,834

15. Exploration and evaluation assets
Costs carried forward in respect of areas in the:

Exploration and/or evaluation phase (at cost)  22,363 22,315 3,146 –

Reconciliation of movements:

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year  22,315 9,897 – –

Transfer to oil and gas assets  (5,435) – – –

Additions   85,957 35,341 3,146 –

Written off   (80,474) (22,923) – –

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year  22,363 22,315 3,146 –

The recoverability of the carrying amounts of exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on the successful development 
and commercial exploitation or sale of the respective area of interest.

16. Oil and gas assets
Assets in development (at cost)  – 217,161 – –

Oil and gas assets (at cost)  671,223 419,436 – –

Less: Accumulated amortisation  (181,564) (50,128) – –

     489,659 369,308 – –

     489,659 586,469 – –

Reconciliation of movements:

Assets in development:

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year  217,161 124,711 – –

Transfer to oil and gas assets in production  (217,161) – – –

Additions   – 89,294 – –

Foreign exchange translation difference  – (3,350) – –

Increase in restoration and abandonment provision  – 6,506 – –

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year  – 217,161 – –

Oil and gas assets in production:

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year  369,308 408,255 – –

Transfer from exploration assets  5,435 – – –

Transfer from assets in development  217,161 – – –

Disposal    – (489) – –

Additions   25,161 12,487 – –

Increase in restoration and abandonment provision  13,351 299 – –

Foreign exchange translation difference  (6,536) – – –

Written off   (665) (5,954) – –

Amortisation   (133,556) (45,290) – –

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year  489,659 369,308 – –
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 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

17. Other plant and equipment
Other plant and equipment (at cost)  1,042 897 – –

Less: Accumulated depreciation  (581) (463) – –

     461 434 – –

Reconciliation of the carrying amount of other plant 
and equipment is set out below:

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year   434 195 – –

Additions   145 329 – –

Depreciation   (118) (90) – –

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year  461 434 – –

18. Intangible assets
Intangible assets (at cost)  2,136 486 – –

Less: Amortisation  (1,173) (388) – –

     963 98 – –

Reconciliation of movements:

Computer software:

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year  98 62 – –

Additions   287 89 – –

Amortisation   (94) (53) – –

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year  291 98 – –

Reconciliation of movements:

Loan establishment fees:

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year  – – – –

Transfer from interest-bearing liabilities (net of amortisation) 1,124 – – –

Amortisation   (452) – – –

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year  672 – – –

19. Trade and other payables
Current

Trade payables  – 235 – 232

Joint venture creditors  35,881 30,395 – –

Other payables and accrued expenses  6,537 3,949 2,651 362

     42,418 34,579 2,651 594
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 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

20. Interest-bearing liabilities
Non-current 

Bank loans – unsecured  – 111,209 – –

     – 111,209 – –

Less: Loan establishment fees  – (1,124) – –

     – 110,085 – –

The consolidated entity has access to the following lines of credit:    

Total facilities available:

Bank loans   135,000 135,000 – –

     135,000 135,000 – –

Facilities utilised at balance date:

Bank loans   – 111,209 – –

     – 111,209 – –

Facilities not utilised at balance date:

Bank loans   135,000 23,791 – –

     135,000 23,791 – –

Bank Loan – unsecured

A controlled entity of the Company has available to it an A$120 million equivalent unsecured corporate loan facility. 
In addition, a US$42.5 million letter of credit (relating to the Tui Area oil project) and a working capital facility of up to 
A$15 million have been provided. The Company and certain of its wholly owned controlled entities have provided a guarantee 
under the facilities. The facility repayment date is 20 December 2009.

When drawn, the Australian Dollar portion of the facility bears interest at the bank bill swap rate plus a margin while the United 
States Dollar portion of the facility bears interest at LIBOR plus a margin. 

 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

21. Employee benefi ts
Current

Liability for annual leave  666 591 – –

Non-current

Liability for long service leave  349 276 – –

(a) Superannuation plans

The consolidated entity makes contributions to complying accumulation type superannuation plans nominated by individual 
employees. The consolidated entity contributes at least the amount required by law. The amount recognised as an expense 
was $1,083,000 for the financial year ended 30 June 2008 (2007: $894,000).
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(b) Employee benefits expensed

 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Salaries and wages  8,837 4,429 446 393

Share-based payments  2,029 1,529 2,029 1,529

Other associated personnel costs  1,911 1,414 – –

     12,777 7,372 2,475 1,922

Salaries and wages and other associated personnel costs are allocated to various income statement categories based on the 
nature of the expenditure.

(c) Share-based payments

Under the Company’s Employee Share Option Plan, options to subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company are issued 
to employees at the discretion of the directors and the exercise price and exercise period are determined on the basis of 
rewarding employees if the Company’s share price achieves significant long-term growth. Options are unlisted and are 
granted with exercise prices not less than the average market price of the Company’s shares for the five days prior to grant. 

The Plan was approved by shareholders at the time of the float of the Company. The sum of the number of shares issued on 
the exercise of options in the previous five years and the number of unexercised options cannot exceed 5% of the total number 
of shares on issue at any time.

The terms and conditions of share options granted after 1 January 2005 are set out below. Options issued prior to 
1 January 2005 vested prior to that date. 

All options are settled on exercise by physical delivery of shares. The contractual life of all options is five years from grant date.

Grant date Number of options Vesting conditions

26 September 2005 700,000 (a)

24 November 2005 300,000 (a)

24 November 2005 300,000 (b)

24 November 2005 300,000 (c)

20 March 2006 300,000 (a)

20 March 2006 2,100,000 (d)

20 March 2006 2,960,000 (e)

11 April 2006 100,000 (a)

16 June 2006 275,000 (a)

21 July 2006 80,000 (f)

21 July 2006 1,145,000 (g)

30 August 2006 50,000 (f)

10 November 2006 65,000 (f)

15 January 2007 50,000 (g)

15 January 2007 100,000 (h)

12 March 2007 555,000 (f)

13 July 2007 330,000 (g)

13 July 2007 260,000 (h)

13 July 2007 1,725,000 (i)

9 October 2007 15,000 (g)
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Grant date Number of options Vesting conditions

9 October 2007 15,000 (h)

9 October 2007 15,000 (i)

26 November 2007 550,000 (g)

26 November 2007 550,000 (h)

26 November 2007 400,000 (i)

7 April 2008 22,500 (g)

7 April 2008 47,500 (h)

7 April 2008 55,000 (i)

16 May 2008 137,500 (h)

16 May 2008 137,500 (i)

12 June 2008 100,000 (j)

12 June 2008 100,000 (h)

12 June 2008 100,000 (i)

(a)  Vested immediately at an exercise price not less than the weighted average sale price of ordinary shares during the five 
trading days prior to grant date.

(b)  Vested after one year at an exercise price not less than 5% in excess of the weighted average sale price of ordinary shares 
during the five trading days prior to grant date.

(c)  Vested after two years at an exercise price not less than 10% in excess of the weighted average sale price of ordinary 
shares during the five trading days prior to grant date.

(d)  Vested after one year at an exercise price not less than 5% in excess of the weighted average sale price of ordinary shares 
during the five trading days prior to grant date and conditional upon satisfaction of individual key performance indicators 
as determined by the Remuneration Committee.

(e)  Vested after two years at an exercise price not less than 10% in excess of the weighted average sale price of ordinary 
shares during the five trading days prior to grant date and conditional upon satisfaction of individual key performance 
indicators as determined by the Remuneration Committee.

(f)  Vested on 31 July 2007 at an exercise price not less than the weighted average sale price of ordinary shares during 
the five trading days prior to grant date and conditional upon satisfaction of individual key performance indicators as 
determined by the Remuneration Committee.

(g)  Vesting 31 July 2008 at an exercise price not less than the weighted average sale price of ordinary shares during the five 
trading days prior to grant date and conditional upon satisfaction of individual key performance indicators as determined 
by the Remuneration Committee.

(h)  Vesting 31 July 2009 at an exercise price not less than the weighted average sale price of ordinary shares during the five 
trading days prior to grant date and conditional upon satisfaction of individual key performance indicators as determined 
by the Remuneration Committee.

(i)  Vesting 31 July 2010 at an exercise price not less than the weighted average sale price of ordinary shares during the five 
trading days prior to grant date and conditional upon satisfaction of individual key performance indicators as determined 
by the Remuneration Committee.

(j)  Vesting 31 December 2008 at an exercise price not less than the weighted average sale price of ordinary shares during 
the five trading days prior to grant date and conditional upon satisfaction of individual key performance indicators as 
determined by the Remuneration Committee.

21. Employee benefi ts continued
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A summary of options to acquire ordinary shares in the Company is as follows:

Consolidated and the Company

       Market 
       value of 
       shares at 
  Exercise Opening   Closing exercise 
Grant date Expiry date price balance Granted Exercised balance date

2008

23 December 2002 22 December 2007 $0.92 500,000 – (500,000) – $2.98

6 May 2003 2 May 2008 $0.81 125,000 – (125,000) – $3.31

22 July 2004 21 July 2009 $1.60 300,000 – (200,000) 100,000 $3.42

18 November 2004 22 November 2009 $1.91 1,000,000 – (1,000,000) – $2.98

24 December 2004 21 December 2009 $1.85 1,650,000 – (700,000) 950,000 $3.71

26 September 2005 25 September 2010 $2.10 860,000 – (160,000) 700,000 $4.03

24 November 2005 24 November 2010 $2.10 300,000 – – 300,000 –

24 November 2005 24 November 2010 $2.21 300,000 – – 300,000 –

24 November 2005 24 November 2010 $2.31 300,000 – – 300,000 –

20 March 2006 19 March 2011 $2.46 400,000 – (100,000) 300,000 $4.07

20 March 2006 19 March 2011 $2.59 2,110,000 – (10,000) 2,100,000 $4.17

20 March 2006 19 March 2011 $2.71 2,960,000 – – 2,960,000 –

11 April 2006 11 April 2011 $2.66 100,000 – – 100,000 –

16 June 2006 15 June 2011 $3.00 275,000 – – 275,000 –

21 July 2006 19 July 2011 $3.27 1,225,000 – – 1,225,000 –

30 August 2006 19 July 2011 $3.27 50,000 – – 50,000 –

10 November 2006 9 November 2011 $3.10 80,000 – (15,000) 65,000 $4.08

15 January 2007 14 January 2012 $2.86 150,000 – – 150,000 –

12 March 2007 11 March 2012 $2.68 610,000 – (55,000) 555,000 $3.94

13 July 2007 14 July 2012 $3.56 – 2,315,000 – 2,315,000 –

9 October 2007 8 October 2012 $3.56 – 45,000 – 45,000 –

26 November 2007 10 April 2012 $2.77 – 500,000 – 500,000 –

26 November 2007 30 August 2012 $3.18 – 1,000,000 – 1,000,000 –

7 April 2008 6 April 2013 $3.65 – 125,000 – 125,000 –

16 May 2008 12 May 2013 $4.10 – 275,000 – 275,000 –

12 June 2008 11 June 2013 $4.08 – 300,000 – 300,000 –

   13,295,000 4,560,000 (2,865,000) 14,990,000
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21. Employee benefi ts continued
       Market 
       value of 
       shares at 
  Exercise Opening   Closing exercise 
Grant date Expiry date price balance Granted Exercised balance date

2007

21 June 2002 20 June 2007 $0.76 1,900,000 – (1,900,000) – $3.22

23 December 2002 22 December 2007 $0.92 500,000 – – 500,000 –

6 May 2003 2 May 2008 $0.81 250,000 – (125,000) 125,000 $3.40

22 July 2004 21 July 2009 $1.60 550,000 – (250,000) 300,000 $3.40

18 November 2004 22 November 2009 $1.91 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000 –

24 December 2004 21 December 2009 $1.85 1,650,000 – – 1,650,000 –

26 September 2005 25 September 2010 $2.10 1,010,000 – (150,000) 860,000 $3.28

24 November 2005 24 November 2010 $2.10 300,000 – – 300,000 –

24 November 2005 24 November 2010 $2.21 300,000 – – 300,000 –

24 November 2005 24 November 2010 $2.31 300,000 – – 300,000 –

20 March 2006 19 March 2011 $2.46 400,000 – – 400,000 –

20 March 2006 19 March 2011 $2.59 2,110,000 – – 2,110,000 –

20 March 2006 19 March 2011 $2.71 2,960,000 – – 2,960,000 –

11 April 2006 11 April 2011 $2.66 100,000 – – 100,000 –

16 June 2006 15 June 2011 $3.00 275,000 – – 275,000 –

21 July 2006 19 July 2011 $3.27 – 1,225,000 – 1,225,000 –

30 August 2006 19 July 2011 $3.27 – 50,000 – 50,000 –

10 November 2006 9 November 2011 $3.10 – 80,000 – 80,000 –

15 January 2007 14 January 2012 $2.86 – 150,000 – 150,000 –

12 March 2007 11 March 2012 $2.68 – 610,000 – 610,000 –

   13,605,000 2,115,000 (2,425,000) 13,295,000

The options outstanding at 30 June 2008 have an exercise price in the range of $1.60 to $4.10, and a weighted average 
remaining contractual life of 3.1 years (2007: 3.2 years). During the financial year, 2,865,000 share options were exercised 
(2007: 2,425,000). The weighted average share price at the dates of exercise was $3.33 (2007: $3.25).

The fair value of services rendered in return for share options granted are measured by reference to the fair value of 
share options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the services received is measured based on a modified binomial 
option-pricing model. The contractual life of the option is used as an input into this model. Expectations of early exercise are 
incorporated into the binomial option-pricing model.
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The inputs into the model are shown in the following table: 

 Fair value at Weighted 
 measurement average Exercise Expected Option Expected Risk-free 
Grant date date share price price volatility (i) life dividends rate

2008

13 July 2007 $0.57 to $0.71 $3.56 $3.56 25.0% 5 years 0% to 3%  6.88%

9 October 2007 $0.54 to $0.67 $3.56 $3.56 25.0% 5 years 0% to 3%  6.45%

26 November 2007 $0.51 to $0.54 $2.77 $2.77 25.0% 5 years 0% to 3%  6.13%

26 November 2007 $0.62 to $0.68 $3.18 $3.18 25.0% 5 years 0% to 3%  7.29%

7 April 2008 $0.65 to $0.71 $3.65 $3.65 25.0% 5 years 0% to 3%  6.20%

16 May 2008 $0.75 to $0.82 $4.10 $4.10 25.0% 5 years 0% to 3%  6.21%

12 June 2008 $0.75 to $0.82 $4.08 $4.08 25.0% 5 years 0% to 3%  6.72%

2007

21 July 2006 $0.64 $3.27 $3.27 25.0% 5 years 0% to 3%  6.18%

21 July 2006 $0.53 to $0.60 $3.27 $3.27 25.0% 5 years 0% to 3%  6.18%

30 August 2006 $0.57 $3.27 $3.27 25.0% 5 years 0% to 3%  6.32%

10 November 2006 $0.47 to $0.51 $3.10 $3.10 25.0% 5 years 0% to 3%  6.18%

15 January 2007 $0.46 $2.86 $2.86 25.0% 5 years 0% to 3%  6.08%

12 March 2007 $0.45 to $0.51 $2.68 $2.68 25.0% 5 years 0% to 3%  6.34%

(i) Expressed as the weighted average used in the modelling. 

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility (calculated based on the weighted average remaining life of the share 
options), adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available information. Certain share options 
granted during the year are subject to service conditions and non-market performance conditions. Non-market performance 
conditions are not taken into account in the grant date fair value measurement of the services received.

 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

22. Provisions
Restoration and abandonment  31,740 16,051 – –

Reconciliation of movements:

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year  16,051 8,901 – –

Provisions made during the year  13,351 6,805 – –

Provisions reversed during the year  – (587) – –

Unwind of discount  2,338 932 – –

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year  31,740 16,051 – –

Provisions made for environmental rehabilitation are recognised where there is a present obligation as a result of exploration, 
development or production activities having been undertaken, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation. The estimated future obligations include the costs of removing facilities, abandoning 
wells and restoring the affected areas. Because of the long-term nature of the liability, the biggest uncertainty in estimating 
the provision is the costs that will be incurred. In particular, the consolidated entity has assumed that restoration will use 
technology and materials that are available currently. The basis for accounting is set out in note 1(r).
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 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

23. Taxation payable
Income tax – Australia  8,551 – 8,551 –

Income tax – New Zealand  4,378 4,663 – –

Accounting profits royalty – New Zealand  71,086 – – –

     84,015 4,663 8,551 –

In accordance with the tax consolidation legislation, the Company as the head entity of the Australian tax-consolidated group has 
assumed the current tax liability (asset) initially recognised by the members in the Australian tax-consolidated group.

As at 30 June 2008, the Company and consolidated entity had no franking credits.

 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

24. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 

Exploration and evaluation assets  (2,482) (6,726) – –

Oil and gas assets  (19,487) (33,000) – –

Inventories   (531) – – –

Employee benefits  169 249 – –

Provisions   9,475 4,878 – –

Interest-bearing liabilities  – (732) – –

Cash flow hedge liabilities  – 2,141 – –

Other    2,255 727 558 603

PRRT and royalty related taxation  (22,144) 3,797 – –

Tax value of loss carry-forwards recognised  13,423 39,404 13,423 18,220

Net tax (liabilities)/assets  (19,322) 10,738 13,981 18,823

Deferred tax assets  – 17,356 13,981 18,823

Deferred tax liabilities  (19,322) (6,618) – –

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year  (19,322) 10,738 13,981 18,823

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect 
of the following items: 

Tax losses   16,409 26,744 15,367 22,909
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 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

25. Cash fl ow hedge liabilities
Current

Oil price swaps (at fair value)  – 6,971 – –

Interest rate swaps (at fair value)  – 166 – –

     – 7,137 – –

Refer to note 32 details of oil price and interest rate swaps. 

26. Capital and reserves
(a) Share capital

451,097,675 (2007: 448,232,675) ordinary shares, fully paid  533,386 528,526 533,386 528,526

  Consolidated

       2008 2007
       Number  Number 
       of shares of shares 

Movements in ordinary shares:

Balance at the beginning of the financial year    448,232,675 445,807,675

Shares issued for cash from the exercise of options    2,865,000 2,425,000

Balance at the end of the financial year    451,097,675 448,232,675

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per 
share at shareholders’ meetings.

(b) Equity compensation reserve

The equity compensation reserve represents the fair value of options expensed by the Company to 30 June 2008.

(c) Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of 
foreign operations where the functional currency is different to the presentation currency of the reporting entity.

(d) Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging 
instruments related to hedging transactions that have not yet occurred. 
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27. Interests in joint ventures
(a)  At the end of the financial year the consolidated entity held the following interests in oil and gas production, exploration 

and appraisal joint ventures:

  Beneficial interest Beneficial interest

   2008 2007 2008 2007
   Consolidated  Consolidated The Company The Company
Joint venture Country % % % %

TP/15 Australia 25.00 25.00 – –

WA 31 L Australia 27.50 27.50 – –

WA 286 P Australia 27.50 27.50 – –

T/L1  Australia 30.00 30.00 – –

T/RL1 Australia 30.00 30.00 – –

T/18P Australia 30.00 30.00 – –

VIC/L 24 Australia 25.00 25.00 – –

VIC/P 44 Australia 25.00 25.00 – –

PMP 38158 New Zealand 42.50 42.50 – –

PEP 38259 New Zealand 25.00 25.00 – –

PEP 38401 New Zealand 50.00 50.00 – –

PEP 38481 New Zealand 40.00 40.00 – –

PEP 38482 New Zealand 50.00 40.00 – –

PEP 38483 New Zealand 44.32 44.32 – –

PEP 38499 New Zealand 42.50 42.50 – –

PEP 381202 New Zealand 100.00 100.00 – –

Hector South Sub-block New Zealand 42.50 42.50 – –

Bulu Production Sharing Contract (PSC) Indonesia 42.50 42.50 – –

Las Bases Exploitation Concession Argentina 15.00 15.00 – –

(b)  Included in the assets and liabilities of the Company and the consolidated entity are the following items which represent the 
Company’s and the consolidated entity’s interest in the assets and liabilities employed in the joint ventures.

 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents  13,843 18,402 – –

Trade and other receivables  13,534 3,947 – –

Inventory   3,302 – – –

     30,679 22,349 – –

Non-current assets

Exploration and evaluation assets  22,363 22,315 – –

Oil and gas assets  489,659 586,469 – –

     512,022 608,784 – –

Total assets   542,701 631,133 – –

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables  35,881 30,954 – –

Total liabilities  35,881 30,954 – –

Refer to notes 28 and 29 for details of commitments and contingent liabilities.
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 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

28. Capital and other commitments
(a) Capital expenditure commitments

Contracted but not provided for or payable:

Not later than one year  77,823 19,493 – –

(b) Exploration and evaluation expenditure commitments

Total exploration and evaluation expenditure contracted 
for but not provided for in the financial statements, payable:

Not later than one year  93,887 66,699 – –

Later than one year but not later than five years  107,090 41,800 – –

     200,977 108,499 – –

In order to meet contractual obligations and to maintain the various licences, in which the consolidated entity and its 
respective joint venture partners are involved, the consolidated entity has ongoing commitments as part of its normal 
operations. The above exploration, evaluation and capital expenditure commitments represent commitments made to the 
appropriate government authorities, to the respective joint venture partners and to third party contractors. However, these 
commitments are subject to continual review within the joint ventures in which the consolidated entity is a participant and the 
extent of future commitments is subject to continual renegotiation.

(c) Time charter commitments

Floating Production and Storage Offtake vessel (“FPSO”) 
time charter contracted for but not provided for in the 
financial statements, payable:

Not later than one year  27,048 36,184 – –

Later than one year but not later than five years  65,171 59,878 – –

Later than five years  29,192 – – –

     121,411 96,062 – –

Refer to note 29 for details of contingent liabilities in relation to the FPSO.

(d) Non-cancellable operating lease rental commitments

Future operating lease rentals, not provided for in the 
financial statements, payable:

Not later than one year  1,018 1,035 – –

Later than one year but not later than five years  1,879 2,851 – –

Later than five years  – – – –

     2,897 3,886 – –

Office premises – the office premises leases expire no later than 4 December 2010. During the financial year $672,000 was 
recognised as an expense in the income statement (2007: $540,000).

BassGas operations – the consolidated entity has entered into a lease contract relating to the provision of generators and 
compressors for one of its producing oil and gas assets.

(e) Remuneration commitments

Commitment for the payment of salaries and other compensation to key management personnel under long-term contracts in 
existence at the reporting date but not provided for in the financial statements, payable:

Not later than one year  750 – – –

Later than one year but not later than five years  875 – – –

     1,625 – – –
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29. Contingencies
(a)  During the year, the BassGas Project Joint Venture (T/L1, Bass Basin, offshore southern Australia) agreed to settle the 

arbitration with the BassGas construction contractor. As a result of the settlement the proceedings between the parties 
have been discontinued.

(b)  During the financial year, the consolidated entity reported as the Operator of the Tui Area oil project (PMP 38158, offshore 
Taranaki Basin, New Zealand) an accidental oil discharge which resulted in a small amount of weathered oil reaching the 
Taranaki coastline. The incident resulted in a wholly owned controlled entity of the Company being charged by Maritime 
New Zealand with “Unlawful Discharge Relating to an Oil Spill”. 

(c)  The Operator of the Tui Area oil project (PMP 38158, offshore Taranaki Basin, New Zealand) has entered into a charter 
contract for the provision of an FPSO for the Tui Field development. The Charter Contractor built and operates the FPSO 
as part of the charter arrangement. The contract is for a fixed initial term to 31 December 2015 with options exercisable by 
the joint venture for seven one-year extensions. The consolidated entity has provided a letter of credit for the benefit of the 
Charter Contractor amounting to US$42.5 million. Subsequent to the end of the year and in accordance with the terms of 
the contract the letter of credit will be reduced to $US33.0 million.

(d)  The consolidated entity has entered into agreements whereby it will be required to pay a Net Cash Interest to the previous 
owners of a wholly-owned controlled entity of the Company, AWE Taranaki Limited (previously New Zealand Overseas 
Petroleum Limited), if returns from the Tui Area oil project in PMP 38158 exceed certain benchmark levels. In addition, the 
consolidated entity will also pay an overriding royalty interest (“ORRI”) on any revenue resulting from the development of 
any future discoveries made within the Hector South Sub-Block.

(e)  The Company entered into a Merger Implementation Agreement (MIA) with ARC Energy Limited (ARC) during the financial 
year to effect a merger of the two companies by a scheme of arrangement. The MIA sets out the obligations of ARC and 
the Company in connection with the implementation of the transaction. In the event that the merger was terminated by 
the Company an amount of $4.5 million would be payable by the Company to ARC in certain circumstances. In the event 
that the merger was terminated by ARC an amount of $4.5 million would be payable by ARC to the Company in certain 
circumstances.

(f)  The Company has guaranteed to the Argentine Secretariat of Energy its technical and financial support with respect 
to obligations of its controlled entity, AWE Argentina Pty Limited to a maximum amount of 3 million Argentine Pesos 
(A$1,038,422) (2007: 3 million Argentine Pesos (A$1,138,088)).

(g)  Under the terms of various joint venture operating and product sales agreements the Company has provided 
performance guarantees to wholly-owned controlled entities.

(h)  The Company has entered into Indemnity Deeds to indemnify executives of the Company against all liabilities incurred 
in the course of or arising out of their employment with the Company and its controlled entities, except where the liability 
results wholly or in part from serious and wilful misconduct by the executive.

(i)  The consolidated entity provides for all known environmental liabilities. There can be no assurance that material new 
provisions will not be required as a result of new information or regulatory requirements with respect to the consolidated 
entity’s assets.

(j)  The Native Title Act (“NTA”) may impact on the consolidated entity’s ability to gain access to new prospective exploration 
areas or obtain production titles. Some of the consolidated entity’s onshore petroleum tenements now include land that is 
the subject of a Native Title claim under the NTA. Under the NTA all claims for Native Title are subject to the rights derived 
from the grant to the consolidated entity of its existing petroleum tenements for the term of that grant and any routine 
renewals. The consolidated entity is not liable to pay any compensation to Native Title parties by exercising its rights 
existing to petroleum tenements.

(k)  The Company has service agreements with four managers that provide for contingency payments under certain 
circumstances amounting to one year’s remuneration for less than 10 years of service and two years’ remuneration for 
greater than 10 years of service in addition to accrued statutory entitlements including long service leave, annual leave 
and superannuation benefits. These payments represented market practice at the time the terms were agreed. Each of 
the four managers has no entitlement to termination payment in the event of removal for misconduct.
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30. Controlled entities
Name    Country of 2008 2007
    Note incorporation % %

Parent entity

Australian Worldwide Exploration Limited

Controlled entities

AWE Administration Pty Limited (a) Australia 100 100

AWE Finance Pty Limited (a) Australia 100 100

AWE Overseas Pty Limited  Australia 100 100

AWE Offshore Pty Limited  Australia 100 100

AWE Argentina Pty Limited (a),(b) Australia 100 100

AWE New Zealand Pty Limited  (b) Australia 100 100

AWE Australia Pty Limited  Australia 100 100

AWE Satria (NZ) Ltd (b) New Zealand 100 100

AWE Singapore Pte. Ltd (b) Singapore 100 100

AWE Holdings NZ Limited (b) New Zealand 100 100

AWE Taranaki Limited (b),(c) New Zealand 100 100

Omega Oil Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100

Greenslopes Limited (b) Papua New Guinea 100 100

Wells Fargo Resources Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100

AWE Petroleum Pty Ltd  Australia 100 100

Peedamullah Petroleum Pty Ltd  Australia 100 100

AWE Timor Sea Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100

AWE Resources (Western Australia) Pty Ltd  Australia 100 100

AWE Oil (Western Australia) Pty Ltd  Australia 100 100

Perthshire Petroleum Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100

Tepstew Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100

Western Petroleum Management Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100

AWE (NSW) Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100

AWE (Australia) Energy Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100

AWE Energy (Australasia) Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100

(a)  These controlled entities are small proprietary companies as defined by the Corporations Act 2001 and are not required to prepare and lodge financial 
reports and directors’ reports.

(b)  These controlled entities are required to lodge audited individual entity financial statements with the appropriate overseas authority.
(c) AWE Taranaki Limited changed its name from New Zealand Overseas Petroleum Limited on 1 July 2008.
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31. Reconciliation of cash fl ows from operating activities
 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the period  264,355 35,382 60,708 23,761

Adjustments for:

Amortisation of oil and gas assets  133,556 45,290 – –

Amortisation of intangible assets  118 53 – –

Depreciation   94 90 – –

Non-cash hedge liability movement  (7,137) (14,208) – –

Net gain on sale of joint venture interests  – (4,937) – –

Net borrowing costs capitalised  – (1,305) – –

Loan establishment fees written off/amortised  452 2,306 – –

Exploration, evaluation, development and other 
capitalised costs written off  81,139 28,877 – –

Unwinding of discount – restoration provisions  2,338 932 – –

Share-based payments  2,029 1,483 2,029 1,483

Net foreign currency losses/(gains)  12,796 (151) 107 139

Net impairment reversal of receivables due from 
controlled entities  – – (12,481) (485)

Net impairment reversal of investments 
in controlled entities  – – (12,194) (21,190)

Non-cash taxation expense  111,314 125 13,392 4,477

Operating profit before changes in working capital 
and provisions  601,054 93,937 51,561 8,185

Change in assets and liabilities during the financial year:

Increase in trade and other receivables  (86,064) (4,462) (10) (817)

Increase in inventories  (3,302) – – –

Increase in provisions and employee benefits  156 232 – –

(Decrease)/increase in accounts payable  (2,365) (1,746) 380 (22)

Net cash from operating activities  509,479 87,961 51,931 7,346
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32. Financial risk management
The consolidated entity has exposure to market, credit and liquidity risks from its use of financial instruments in the normal 
course of its business. This note presents information about the consolidated entity’s exposure to each of the above risks. 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework 
of the consolidated entity. The Board has established an Audit Committee and an Operations Risk Committee, which are 
responsible for developing and monitoring risk management policies. 

The Operations Risk Committee’s primary role is to advise and assist the Board of Directors in assessing risk factors 
associated with the execution of projects in which the consolidated entity has equity or participatory interests. The Audit 
Committee assesses the internal processes for determining and managing key financial risk areas. In addition, the Audit 
Committee ensures that the consolidated entity has an effective financial risk management system and that macro risks to the 
Company are reported to the Board. The consolidated entity’s financial risk management policies and systems are reviewed 
annually by the Audit Committee to reflect changes in market conditions and the consolidated entity’s activities. 

The consolidated entity, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and 
constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

The consolidated entity’s management of financial risk aims to ensure that net cash flows are available to fund its business 
plans. Identification and analysis of relevant financial risks to the achievement of the organisation’s objectives forms the 
basis for determining how risks should be managed. The forecast financial position of the consolidated entity is continually 
monitored and derivative financial instruments can be used to hedge exposure to fluctuations in interest rates, exchange rates 
and commodity prices. 

Hedging activities are conducted in accordance with the hedging policy endorsed by the Board. The following guidelines have 
been set by the Board in reviewing proposals to hedge:

• No speculative hedging is to be entered into;

• Only specific commitments and exposures are to be hedged;

• No hedging programme is to be entered into without the prior approval of the Board;

• Hedging transactions must take into account any bank loan covenants that the company has in place; and

•  Any hedging programme is to give due consideration to the ability of the company to absorb reasonable downside risk.

(a) Market risk

(i) Commodity price risk

The consolidated entity has revenue from the sale of hydrocarbons – gas, crude oil, condensate and LPG. Australian gas 
sales are not subject to commodity price risk as the product is sold in Australian Dollars under long-term contracts with CPI 
escalators in place. However, crude oil, condensate and LPG are priced against world benchmark commodity prices and the 
consolidated entity is therefore subject to significant commodity price risk for these products.

The consolidated entity may enter into certain derivative instruments to manage its commodity price risk. As at the end of the 
financial year the consolidated entity has no commodity price hedging or derivatives in place.

The following table summarises the sensitivity of the fair value of financial instruments held at balance date, following a 10% 
movement in the US dollar oil price, with all other variables held constant.

 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Impact on post-tax profit and equity:    

 US dollar oil price +10%  – (1,043) – –

 US dollar oil price -10%  – 1,043 – –
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32. Financial risk management continued
(ii) Interest rate risk

A controlled entity of the Company has available an unsecured corporate loan facility of up to A$135 million equivalent. 
This facility was undrawn as at the end of the financial year (refer note 20). When drawn, the Australian Dollar portion of the 
facility bears interest at the bank bill swap rate plus a margin while the United States Dollar portion of the facility bears interest 
at LIBOR plus a margin. Borrowings under the facility are floating rate borrowings and if the facility is drawn the consolidated 
entity would be subject to interest rate risk from movements in the Australian dollar bank bill swap rate and United States 
dollar LIBOR. 

Similarly, the consolidated entity is subject to interest rate risk from movements in the Australian and United States cash rates 
on cash held.

The consolidated entity may enter into certain derivative instruments to manage its interest rate risk. As at the end of the 
financial year the consolidated entity has no interest rate hedging or derivatives in place.

The following table summarises the sensitivity of the fair value of financial instruments held at balance date, following a 1% 
movement in interest rates, with all other variables held constant.

 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Impact on post-tax profit and equity:

 Interest rate +1%  195 197 10 3

 Interest rate – 1%  (195) (197) 10 (3)

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the 
Company’s and the consolidated entity’s interest 
bearing financial instruments was:

 Fixed   – – – –

 Variable   – 111,209 – –

(iii) Foreign exchange risk

The consolidated entity operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency 
exposures, primarily with respect to United States and New Zealand dollars. 

The consolidated entity is subject to the following significant foreign exchange risks:

•  the sale of crude oil, condensate and LPG which are priced against world benchmark United States Dollar 
commodity prices;

•  domestic and international operating, development and exploration expenditures which can be incurred in a number of 
different currencies, especially United States and New Zealand Dollars; and

• assets and liabilities that are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.

The following measures are taken to reduce the consolidated entity’s foreign currency exposure:

•  surplus funds are held in a mixture of both United States, New Zealand and Australian Dollars; 

•  where possible specific commitments and exposures are hedged naturally by using United States Dollar revenues to fund 
United States Dollar denominated expenditures;

•  to meet other foreign currency obligations the consolidated entity purchases foreign currency as the obligations accrue; 
and

•  debt facilities have been arranged such that, if required, borrowings can be denominated in both United States and 
Australian Dollars.

The consolidated entity may enter into certain derivative instruments to manage its foreign exchange risk. As at the end of the 
financial year the consolidated entity has no foreign exchange hedging or derivatives in place.
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The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:

 Average Rate Reporting Date 
  Spot Rate

     2008 2007 2008 2007

 AUD/USD  0.8960 0.7852 0.9621 0.8468

 AUD/NZD  1.1669 1.1470 1.2618 1.1016

 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The following table summarises the sensitivity of the fair value of financial instruments held at balance date, following a 
10% movement in exchange rates, with all other variables held constant.

Impact on post-tax profit and equity:

 AUD/USD +10%  (8,216) 467 – (57)

 AUD/USD – 10%  10,070 (575) – 68

Impact on post-tax profit and equity:

 AUD/NZD +10%  (144) – – –

 AUD/NZD – 10%  175 – – –

The financial instruments denominated in United States dollars and New Zealand dollars are as follows: 

United States dollars:

Financial assets

 Cash   52,548 20,723 – 881

 Trade and other receivables   91,636 9,578 – –

Financial liabilities

 Trade and other payables  (14,692) – – –

 Interest-bearing liabilities  – (30,599) – –

 Cash flow hedge liabilities  – (7,072) – –

New Zealand dollars:

Financial assets

 Cash   77,725 – – –

Financial liabilities    

 Taxation payable  (75,464) (4,663) – –
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32. Financial risk management continued
(b) Credit risk

Credit risk represents the loss that would be recognised if counterparties failed to perform as contracted. 

The credit risk on financial assets of the consolidated entity which have been recognised on the balance sheet is the carrying 
amount, net of any provision for doubtful debts.

Exposure to credit risk

Credit risk arises from the financial performance of:

•  Customers receiving supplies of hydrocarbons from the consolidated entity. Trade receivable balances are monitored on 
an ongoing basis and further, the nature of upstream oil and gas operations is that hydrocarbons are generally sold to large 
creditworthy companies, with the result being that the consolidated entity’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

•  The financial institutions holding the cash and short-term deposits of the consolidated entity. In accordance with 
Board policy, funds are invested with up to a maximum of eight financial institutions with short-term security ratings of A1 
or better and subject to working capital considerations, not more than $50 million is to be invested with any one financial 
institution.

•  The joint venture participants with which the consolidated entity is involved. If a participant to a joint venture defaults 
and fails to contribute its share of joint venture obligations, the remaining joint venture participants are liable to meet the 
obligations of the defaulting participant. In this event the interest in the tenement of the defaulting participant may be 
redistributed to the remaining participants.

Receivables and cash and cash equivalents represent the Company’s and the consolidated entity’s maximum exposure to 
credit risk:

 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash    339,190 65,650 18,097 5,394

Trade and other receivables   112,277 22,427 71,035 16,141

The consolidated entity does not hold any credit derivatives to offset its credit exposure. 

The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date was as follows: 

 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Less than 1 month  93,776 16,008 – –

There are no trade receivables past due at the reporting date (2007: Nil). 

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the consolidated entity will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 

Responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors who have built an appropriate framework for the 
management of the consolidated entity’s short, medium and long term funding and liquidity management requirements. 

The consolidated entity manages liquidity risk by continually monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching maturity 
profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Short and long term cash flow projections are prepared periodically and submitted to 
the Board at each board meeting of the Company.
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Contractual cash flows

      Less than   More than 
     Total  1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years
    Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2008

Consolidated

Trade and other payables 19 42,418 42,418 – – –

     42,418 42,418 – – –

Company      

Trade and other payables 19 2,651 2,651 – – –

2007

Consolidated

Trade and other payables 19 34,579 34,579 – – –

Interest-bearing liabilities 20 111,209 – – 111,209 –

Cash flow hedge liabilities 25 7,137 7,137 – – –

     152,928 41,716 – 111,209 –

Company

Trade and other payables 19 594 594 – – –

(d) Net fair values of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying values of financial assets and liabilities of the consolidated entity and the Company are recognised on the 
balance sheet at fair value. 

The fair values are determined as follows:

•  the fair value of financial assets and liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on an active liquid market is 
determined with reference to the quoted price; and 

•  the fair value of other financial assets and liabilities is determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models 
based on discounted cash flow analyses.

(e) Capital management

The consolidated entity maintains an ongoing review of its capital management program to ensure appropriate allocation of its 
capital resources. 

The first order of priority for capital management initiatives is to ensure repayment of its financial obligations. In this area 
during the year the company’s corporate debt was repaid in full, and it is the consolidated entity’s intention to also repay all the 
outstanding debt of ARC Energy after completion of the proposed merger (refer note 34 for subsequent event note in relation 
to the proposed merger). 

The second order of priority for capital management is to fund new growth initiatives to ensure that AWE shareholders 
are provided with exposure to high rate of return projects on an ongoing basis. In the current market conditions access to 
immediate funding can be a distinct corporate advantage.

The overriding objective is to provide strong total shareholder returns. Over the past three years AWE shareholders have 
enjoyed a total shareholder return of 27% per year, all delivered through share price growth. In the longer term this could be 
augmented with cash management initiatives including dividends. The payment of dividends is regularly reviewed by the 
Board which has determined that dividends would only be paid to shareholders if continual payment of a dividend could be 
reasonably sustained over a longer period and paid in a tax effective manner.
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33. Related party disclosures
Key management personnel disclosures

(a) Key management personnel compensation

The key management personnel compensation included in note 21 are as follows:

 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Salaries and wages  3,585 2,144 446 394

Share-based payments  1,001 569 1,001 569

Other associated personnel costs  168 106 – –

     4,754 2,819 1,447 963

(b) Individual directors and executives compensation disclosures

Information regarding individual directors and executives compensation and some equity instruments disclosures as 
permitted by Corporations Regulation 2M.3.03 is provided in the remuneration reports section of the directors’ report.

Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no director has entered into a material contract with the consolidated entity since 
the end of the previous financial year and there were no material contracts involving directors’ interests existing at year-end.

(c) Options over equity instruments

The movement during the financial year in the number of options in the Company held, directly, indirectly or beneficially, by 
each key management person, including their related parties is as follows:

    Opening Granted as  Net change Closing 
    balance remuneration Exercised other balance

2008

Directors

B. J. W. Wood – 1,500,000 – – 1,500,000

B. J. Phillips (i) 1,900,000 – – (1,900,000) –

Executives

L. J. Brooks  1,500,000 150,000 – – 1,650,000

R. D. Frith  2,000,000 150,000 (1,000,000) – 1,150,000

N. F. Kelly  1,280,000 150,000 (100,000) – 1,330,000

I. D. Palmer (ii)  800,000 100,000 (100,000) – 800,000

D. Washer (ii)  325,000 150,000 – – 475,000

2007

Directors

B. J. Phillips  2,900,000 – (1,000,000) – 1,900,000

Executives

L. J. Brooks  1,850,000 150,000 (500,000) – 1,500,000

R. D. Frith  1,850,000 150,000 – – 2,000,000

N. F. Kelly  1,450,000 130,000 (300,000) – 1,280,000

(i)  Mr B. Phillips retired as a director on 31 August 2007 and remained as an employee until 31 December 2007. Options held by Mr Phillips at his 
termination as an employee can be exercised until 24 November 2010.

(ii) Mr I. D. Palmer and Mr D. Washer have been included as Key Management Personnel effective 1 July 2007.
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(d) Movements in shares

The movement during the financial year in the number of ordinary shares in the Company held, directly, indirectly or 
beneficially, by each key management person, including their related parties is as follows:

     Received 
   Opening Granted as on exercise Net change  Closing 
   balance remuneration of options other balance

2008

Directors

B. G. McKay 321,213 – – (55,603) 265,610

B. J. W. Wood 50,050 – – 88,000 138,050

B. J. Phillips (i) 3,743,913 – – (3,743,913) –

C. C. Green 43,293 – – – 43,293

E. S. Smith 12,019,239 – – (161,401) 11,857,838

D. I. McEvoy 30,000 – – – 30,000

A. J. Hogendijk (ii) – – – – –

Executives

L. J. Brooks 976,910 – – (115,000) 861,910

R. D. Frith – – 1,000,000 (500,000) 500,000

N. F. Kelly 25,476 – 100,000 (100,000) 25,476

I. D. Palmer (iii) – – 100,000 – 100,000

D. Washer (iii) – – – 20,000 20,000

2007

Directors

B. G. McKay  321,213 – – – 321,213

B. J. Phillips 3,743,913 – 1,000,000 (1,000,000) 3,743,913

B. J. W. Wood – – – 50,050 50,050

C. C. Green 43,293 – – – 43,293

E. S. Smith 12,019,239 – – – 12,019,239

R. Dumbrell 43,293 – – (43,293) –

R. M. Griffin 33,805 – – (33,805) –

D. I. McEvoy – – – 30,000 30,000

J. C. M. A. M Deuss 48,660,000 – – (48,660,000) –

T. W. Ulrich – – – – –

Executives

L. J. Brooks 621,147 – 500,000 (144,237) 976,910

R. D. Frith – – – – –

N. F. Kelly 25,476 – 300,000 (300,000) 25,476

No shares were granted to key management personnel during the financial year as remuneration.
(i)  Mr B. Phillips retired as a director on 31 August 2007 and remained as an employee until 31 December 2007. Options held by Mr Phillips at his 

termination as an employee can be exercised until 24 November 2010.
(ii) Mr A. J. Hogendijk was appointed as a director 4 October 2007.
(iii) Mr I. D. Palmer and Mr D. Washer have been included as Key Management Personnel effective 1 July 2007.

The disclosures above may not be consistent with the disclosure in the Directors’ Report as the basis of calculation differs due 
to the differing requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the Accounting Standards.
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33. Related party disclosures continued
(e) Key management personnel transactions with the Company or its controlled entities

No loans have been made to key management personnel. The Company has entered into Indemnity Deeds to indemnify 
executives of the Company against certain liabilities incurred in the course of performing their duties.

Non-key management personnel disclosures

The consolidated entity has a related party relationship with its controlled entities (note 30), joint ventures (note 27) and with its 
key management personnel. The Company and its controlled entities engage in a variety of related party transactions in the 
ordinary course of business. These transactions are generally conducted on normal terms and conditions. 

Details of related party transactions and amounts with controlled entities are set out in:

Note 6 – Interest income from controlled entities.

Note 12 – Amounts receivable from controlled entities. 

Note 19 – Amounts owing to controlled entities.

34. Events Subsequent to Balance Date
Merger with ARC Energy Limited

ARC Energy Limited (ARC) and Australian Worldwide Exploration Limited announced in April 2008 that their respective Boards 
had unanimously agreed to merge the two companies. The proposed transaction between ARC and AWE comprises:

the Demerger – the transfer of ARC’s interests in the Canning Basin tenements and the exploration for oil and gas 
in respect of those tenements (together with related assets and liabilities) to a new company, Buru Energy, and the 
subsequent demerger of 85% of Buru Energy to ARC Shareholders; and

the Merger – the acquisition of ARC (following the Demerger) by AWE.

The transaction is proposed to be effected by way of a scheme of arrangement, which requires the approval of the Court 
and of ARC Shareholders. ARC shareholders approved on 5 August 2008 the proposed merger of ARC and AWE and the 
demerger of Buru Energy. On 8 August 2008 an order was made by the Federal Court approving the scheme of arrangement 
to implement the merger of ARC and AWE and the demerger of Buru Energy. The implementation of the merger and demerger 
and the transfer of consideration to ARC shareholders are expected to occur 25 August 2008.

Vic/P 44, Otway Basin, Australia (AWE share 25.0%)

A two well exploration program started in the permit in June 2008. The Pecten East-1 well was drilled to a total measured 
depth of 1,993 metres subsequent to year end. Gas shows were reported in the two main reservoir targets, but were proven to 
be residual after the assessment of wireline logs and pressure tests. 

The Netherby-1 well has been successfully drilled since the end of the year. Good quality gas bearing Waarre A Sandstones 
were intersected and the extent of the new field is interpreted to be in line with pre drill expectations. The production well 
Netherby-1 ST1, will now be completed as a future producer.

Other than as disclosed above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this 
report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, 
to affect significantly the operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
consolidated entity, in subsequent financial years.

•

•
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Directors’
Declaration

1. In the opinion of the directors of Australian Worldwide Exploration Limited:

 (a)  the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 56  to 92, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including:

  (i)  giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and the consolidated entity as at 
30 June 2008 and of their performance, as represented by the results of their operations and their cash flows, 
for the year ended on that date; and

  (ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the 
Corporations Regulations 2001; and

 (b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 1(a); and

 (c)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable.

2.  The directors have been given the declarations required by the Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2008 pursuant to Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

B. G. McKAY
Chairman 

B. J. W. WOOD
Managing Director

Dated: twenty second day of August 2008, Sydney
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Independent 
Audit Report
To The Members of Australian Worldwide 
Exploration Limited

Report on the fi nancial report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Australian Worldwide Exploration Limited (the Company), which 
comprises the balance sheets as at 30 June 2008, and the income statements, statements of changes in equity and cash flow 
statements for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes 1 to 34 
and the directors’ declaration set out on pages 56 to 93 of the Group comprising the Company and the entities it controlled at 
the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.

Directors’ responsibility for the fi nancial report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. 
This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. In note 1(a), the directors 
also state, in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the 
financial report of the Group, comprising the financial statements and notes, complies with International Financial Reporting 
Standards.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements 
relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is 
free from material misstatement. Our responsibility is also to express an opinion on the remuneration report contained in the 
directors’ report based on our audit. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
report and the remuneration report contained in the directors’ report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report and the remuneration report 
contained in the directors’ report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report and the remuneration report 
contained in the directors’ report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report and the remuneration report contained in the directors’ report. 

We performed the procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in accordance with 
the Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations), a view 
which is consistent with our understanding of the Company’s and the Group’s financial position and of their performance and 
whether the remuneration report is in accordance with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion:

(a)  the financial report of Australian Worldwide Exploration Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including:

 (i)  giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2008 and of their 
performance for the year ended on that date; and

 (ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the 
Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 1(a).
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Report on the remuneration report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 37 to 47 of the directors’ report for the year ended 
30 June 2008. The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the remuneration report 
in accordance with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration 
report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards.

Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion, the remuneration report of Australian Worldwide Exploration Limited for the year ended 30 June 2008 complies 
with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

KPMG

 

David Rogers
Partner

Dated at Sydney this twenty second day of August, 2008
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Securities Exchange 
and Shareholder 
Information
  as at 15 September 2008

1. Issued Capital

The Company had 520,821,941 fully paid ordinary shares on issue. In addition, the Company had on issue 16,556,000 
Employee Share Options.

2. Voting Rights

Article 14 of the Company’s Constitution details the voting rights of members. This Article provides that, on a show of hands, 
every member present in person or by proxy shall have one vote and, upon a poll, shall have one vote for each share held.

3. Distribution of Equity Security Holders
 Number of Ordinary
 Shareholders

 Number of Employee
 Share Optionholders

1 – 1,000  6,003  –
1,001 – 5,000  11,199  –
5,001 – 10,000  3,707  –
10,001 – 100,000  2,984  17
100,000 – Over  168  26

 24,061  43

There were 847 shareholders with less than a marketable parcel of 180 shares.

4. On-market Buy-back

There is no current on-market buy-back.

5. Other Information

Australian Worldwide Exploration Limited, incorporated and domiciled in Australia, is a publicly listed company limited by shares.

6. Substantial Shareholders

AMP Limited had a relevant interest in 23,531,636 shares in AWE as at 6 August 2008.

Barclays Group had a relevant interest in 48,600,690 shares in AWE as at 27 August 2008.

7. Twenty Largest Quoted Equity Security Holders

The twenty largest shareholders were:

Shareholder  Number Held
 Percentage of 
 Issued Capital

National Nominees Limited 77,679,678 14.91
JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 67,887,594 13.03
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 51,978,199 9.98
ANZ Nominees Limited (Cash Income A/C) 30,567,956 5.87
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 14,505,073 2.79
Forbar Custodians Limited (Forsyth Barr Ltd – Nominee A/C) 13,669,369 2.62
UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 11,035,616 2.12
AMP Life Limited 10,191,917 1.96
Cogent Nominees Pty Limited (SMP Accounts) 8,739,704 1.68
Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 7,629,649 1.46
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited A/C 2 6,648,311 1.28
Burnal Pty Ltd 6,128,380 1.18
Queensland Investment Corporation 5,652,613 1.09
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited (CFSIL CFS WS Small Comp A/C) 4,279,060 0.82
Cogent Nominees Pty Limited (SL Non Cash Collateral A/C) 4,200,338 0.81
Australian Reward Investment Alliance 3,804,393 0.73
Mr Edward Smith & Mrs Jean Smith (ES & J Smith Family Fund) 3,307,547 0.64
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited (CFS Future Leaders Fund A/C) 3,305,235 0.63
Key Resource Analysts Ltd 2,812,042 0.54
ANZ Nominees Limited (SL Cash Income A/C) 2,719,400 0.52

336,742,074 64.66
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Glossary

Abbreviations
$ Australian dollars
2D two-dimensional
2P proved and probable
3D three-dimensional
APPEA  Australian Petroleum Production and 

Exploration-Association
APR  means the New Zealand Accounting Profits 

Royalty
ASIC Australian Securities & Investments Commission
ASX Australian Securities Exchange
bbl barrel
bcf billion cubic feet
bcfg billion cubic feet of gas
boe barrels of oil equivalent
boepd barrels of oil equivalent per day
bopd barrels of oil per day
cps cents per share
EBIT earnings before interest and tax
EBITDA earnings before interest, tax and 
 depreciation/amortisation
E & P Exploration and Production
EUR Estimated Ultimate Recovery
FEED Front End Engineering and Design
FID Final Investment Decision
FPSO  Floating Production Storage and Offloading 

vessel
GST Goods and Services Tax
HS & E Health, Safety and Environment
IPO Initial Public Offering
km kilometre
KPI Key Performance Indicator
ktonnes thousand tonnes
LBEC Las Bases Exploitation Concession
LPG liquefied petroleum gas
mmb million barrels
mmboe million barrels of oil equivalent
mmcfgd million cubic feet of gas per day
NZOP New Zealand Overseas Petroleum Limited
OIP oil in place
PESA Petroleum Exploration Society of Australia
PJ petajoule
PSC Production Sharing Contract
probable  means reserves additional to proved reserves 
reserves  which can be estimated with a degree of certainty 

(greater than 50% probability) sufficient to indicate 
they are more likely to be recovered than not

proved means reserves which can be estimated with
reserves  reasonable certainty (greater than 90% probability) to 

be recoverable under current economic conditions

PRRT  means the petroleum resource rent tax imposed 
with respect to petroleum products pursuant 
to the Petroleum Resource Rent Tax Act 1987 
(Cth) and the Petroleum Resource Rent Tax 
Assessment Act 1987 (Cth)

reserves  means the volume of economically recoverable 
oil or gas contained in a geological formation 
from a given date forward

reservoir  means a rock that is both porous and permeable
scf standard cubic feet
SPE Society of Petroleum Engineers
sq km square kilometres
tcf trillion cubic feet
TJ terajoule
TSR total shareholder returns
WTI West Texas Intermediate

Conversion Table

Volume
1 cubic metre = 1 kilolitre = 35.3 cubic feet = 6.29 barrels
1 megalitre = 1,000 cubic metres

Energy Value
1,000 standard cubic feet of sales gas yields about 
1.1 gigajoules of heat
1 petajoule (PJ) = 1,000,000 gigajoules (GJ)
1 gigajoule = 947,817 British Thermal Units (BTU)

Barrel of Oil Equivalents (BOE)
Sales Gas – 6,000 standard cubic feet is approx. = 1 BOE
LPG – 1 tonne of LPG is approx. = 11.6 BOE
Condensate – 1 barrel of condensate = 1 BOE
Oil – 1 barrel of oil = 1 BOE

Decimal Number Prefixes
kilo = thousand = 103

mega = million = 106

giga = 1,000 million = 109

tera = million million = 1012

peta = 1,000 million million = 1015

Reserves
The estimates of reserves in AWE’s tenements is based on 
information compiled by AWE’s Manager, Australian and International 
Development and Production, Mr Rick Frith, and AWE’s Manager, 
Australian and International Exploration, Mr Leigh Brooks, and 
accurately reflects the information compiled by Mr Frith and Mr 
Brooks. As required by ASX Listing Rule 5.11, Mr Frith is engaged in 
the practice of petroleum engineering, holds a Bachelor Degree in 
Engineering, and has had more than five years (32 years) experience 
in the practice of petroleum engineering. Mr Brooks is a petroleum 
geologist, holds a Bachelor Degree in Science, and has had more 
than five years (33 years) experience as a petroleum geologist. Both 
Mr Frith and Mr Brooks consent to the inclusion in this report of 
reserves information in the form and content which it appears. 
The reserves in this report are estimated according to the SPE/
WPC/AAPG/SPEE Petroleum Resources Management System of 
March 2007.
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